
 

Council Assembly 
(Ordinary) 

 
Wednesday 16 October 2013 

7.00 pm 
Walworth Academy, 34 - 40 Shorncliffe Road, SE1 5UJ. 

 
 

Councillors are summoned to attend a meeting of the Council to consider the 
business contained herein 
 
 
 

 
Eleanor Kelly 
Chief Executive 
 
 
 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 
Access to information 

You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as well as 
the background documents used in the preparation of these reports. 

Babysitting/Carers allowances 

If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an elderly 
dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, you may claim an 
allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting. 

Access 

The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building access, 
translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below. 

Contact 
Lesley John on 020 7525 7228 or 020 7525 7222  or email: lesley.john@southwark.gov.uk; 
andrew.weir@southwark.gov.uk; constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk   
 
 
 
 
 
Date: 4 October 2013 
 

 
 

Open Agenda



 

Council Assembly 
(Ordinary) 

 
Wednesday 16 October 2013 

7.00 pm 
Walworth Academy, 34 - 40 Shorncliffe Road, SE1 5UJ. 

 
 

Order of Business 
 

 
Item No. Title Page No. 
 

 PART A - OPEN BUSINESS 
 

 

1. PRELIMINARY BUSINESS 
 

 

1.1. ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE MAYOR, MEMBERS OF THE 
CABINET OR CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

 

 

 To receive any announcements from the Mayor, members of the 
cabinet or the chief executive. 
 

 

1.2. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE 
MAYOR DEEMS URGENT 

 

 

 In special circumstances an item of business may be added to an 
agenda within seven working days of the meeting. 
 

 

1.3. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 
 

 

 Members to declare any interests and dispensations in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting. 
 

 

1.4. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

 

1.5. MINUTES 
 

 

 To approve as a correct record the open minutes of the council 
assembly meeting held on 10 July 2013 (to be circulated 
separately). 
 

 

2. ISSUES RAISED BY THE PUBLIC 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

2.1. PETITIONS 
 

 

 To formally receive any petitions lodged by members of the council 
or the public which have been received in advance of the meeting 
in accordance with council assembly procedure rules. 
 

 

2.2. PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

 

 The deadline for public questions is Midnight, Thursday 10 October 
2013.  Questions can be emailed to 
constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk. 
 
Questions from the public will be distributed in a supplemental 
agenda. 
 

 

2.3. DEPUTATION REQUESTS ON THE THEME 
 

 

 The deadline for deputation requests is Midnight, Thursday 10 
October 2013.  Deputations can be emailed to 
constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk. 
 
Deputation requests will be distributed in a supplemental agenda. 
 

 

3. THEMED DEBATE - GREEN SOUTHWARK 
 

 

3.1. REPORT ON THE THEME 
 

1 - 2 

3.2. CABINET MEMBER STATEMENT 
 

 

 The cabinet member for transport, environment and recycling to 
present the theme for the meeting. 
 

 

3.3. QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC ON THE THEME 
 

 

 The deadline for public questions on the theme is Midnight, 
Thursday 10 October 2013.  Questions can be emailed to 
constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk. 
 
Questions from the public will be distributed in a supplemental 
agenda. 
 

 

3.4. MEMBERS' MOTIONS ON THE THEME 
 

3 - 5 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

 To consider the following motions on the theme submitted by 
members of the council: 
 
• Making Southwark a Carbon Neutral Council 
 
• Green Southwark 
 

 

4. OTHER DEPUTATIONS 
 

 

 The deadline for deputation requests is Midnight, Thursday 10 October 
2013.  Deputations can be emailed to 
constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk. 
 
Deputation requests will be distributed in a supplemental agenda. 
 

 

5. ISSUES RAISED BY MEMBERS 
 

 

5.1. MEMBERS' QUESTION TIME 
 

6 - 13 

 To receive any questions from members of the council. 
 

 

5.2. MEMBERS' MOTIONS 
 

14 - 18 

 To consider the following motions submitted by members of the 
council: 
 
• Save our Local Pubs 
 
• Support for Free Healthy School Meals 
 
• Green Flags 
 
• Damp in Peter Butler House 
 
• Clean up Tower Bridge Road 
 

 

6. REPORTS FOR INFORMATION 
 

 

6.1. REPORT BACK ON MOTIONS REFERRED FROM COUNCIL 
TO THE CABINET 

 

19 - 24 

 Council assembly referred several motions to the cabinet for 
consideration, this report sets out the cabinet’s decision in relation 
to each motion. 
 

 

7. REPORT(S) FOR DECISION FROM THE CABINET 
 

 



 
 
 
 

Item No. Title Page No. 
 
 

7.1. CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PLAN 2013-2016 
 

25 - 84 

 Council assembly to adopt the proposed 2013-16 Children and 
Young People’s Plan as a key Southwark Council policy framework 
document for children and young people. 
 

 

8. OTHER REPORTS 
 

 

8.1. REPRESENTATION TO PROPOSED NORTHERN LINE 
EXTENSION 

 

85 - 97 

 Council assembly to consider confirming representations to the 
Secretary of State for Transport in relation to the Transport and 
Works Act Order for the Northern Line Extension. 
 

 

8.2. CONSTITUTIONAL REVIEW 2013/14 
 

98 - 152 

 Council assembly to consider several constitutional issues referred 
from the constitutional steering panel. 
 

 

9. AMENDMENTS 
 

 

 Any member of the council may submit an amendment to a report or 
motion on the agenda.  The amendments will be circulated to all members 
in a supplemental agenda. 
 

 

 ANY OPEN ITEMS IDENTIFIED AS URGENT AT THE START OF THE 
MEETING 
 

 

 EXCLUSION MOTION (IF NECESSARY) 
 

 

 The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
council wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information: 
 
 “That under the access to information procedure rules of the 

Southwark constitution, the public be excluded from the meeting for 
the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in section(s) 1 – 7 of 
paragraph 10.4 of the procedure rules.” 

 
PART B – CLOSED BUSINESS 
 
ANY CLOSED ITEMS IDENTIFIED AS URGENT AT THE START OF 
THE MEETING 

 

   
 
Date:  4 October 2013 
 



Walworth Academy: Transport and map 
 
Buses: 
21 from Lewisham Centre to Newington Green/Mildmay Road  
53 from Orchard Road/Griffin Road to Horse Guards parade  
63 from Forest Hill Tavern to King’s Cross Station/York Way  
172 from Brockley Rise/The Chandos to King Edward Street  
363 from Crystal Palace Parade to Lambeth Road  
453 from Deptford Bridge to Great Central Street  
168 from Royal Free Hospital to Dunton Way 
 
All stop at Dunton Way, on the Old Kent Road  
 
78 from Shoreditch High Street to St Marys Road – stops at Humphrey Street 
 
The following link is a map of all bus routes close to the venue: 
http://www.tfl.gov.uk/tfl/gettingaround/maps/buses/pdf/oldkentroad-11306.pdf  
See stops EB, EC and WN on the linked map.  
 
Map of the venue and surrounding area:  



 1 
 

Item No. 
3.1 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly  
 

Report title: 
 

Themed Debate: Green Southwark 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Proper Constitutional Officer 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Introduction 
 
1. On 4 December 2012 the council assembly business panel met to agree the 

themes for the themed section of council assembly meetings for the 2013/14 
municipal year.  The council assembly business panel agreed that the theme for the 
themed section of council assembly in October 2013 should be ‘Green Southwark’. 

 
What happens at the meeting? 
 
2. At the meeting the agenda will be: 
 

• Cabinet member has 10 minutes in which to present the theme, plan or 
strategy 

• Shadow cabinet member has 5 minutes in which to reply 
• Public pre-submitted questions on the theme of the meeting (maximum of 

15 minutes) 
• Member’s motions on the cabinet theme using present principles to allow 

sufficient political balance and for political groups to hold cabinet to 
account. 
 

One hour shall be allocated for the themed debate.  The Mayor shall have the 
discretion to vary timings as appropriate. 

 
Public questions on themed debate 
 
3. The deadline for public questions is Midnight, Thursday 10 October 2013.  To find 

out more visit www.southwark.gov.uk/democracy or to submit a public question 
email constitutional.team@southwark.gov.uk. 

 
4. The Mayor may reject a question if it is not relevant to the theme, plan, strategy 

or policy under discussion. 
 

5. The time during which public questions shall be taken at a themed meeting shall 
not exceed 15 minutes and shall be conducted under the existing rules for public 
questions.   

Agenda Item 3.1
1



 2 
 

 
Members’ motions 
 
6. All motions shall be relevant to the topic under discussion and shall be 

conducted under the existing rules for members’ motions.  Normal deadlines 
shall apply for the submission of members’ motions. 

 
7. The order of motions and timings shall be determined by the Mayor. 
 
Themes 

 
8. The themes for each meeting are set by the council assembly business panel. 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
Constitution 160 Tooley Street 

London  
SE1 2QH 
 

Constitutional Team 
constitutional.team@southwark.
gov.uk 
020 7525 7228 
 

 
 

APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
None  
 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer 
Report Author Lesley John, Constitutional Officer 
Version Final 
Dated 1 October 2013 
Key decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer title Comments sought Comments included 
Strategic Director Finance & Corporate 
Services 

No No 

Director of Legal Services No No 
Cabinet Member No  No 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 1 October 2013 
 

2



 
1  

Item No. 
3.4 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly  
 

Report title: 
 

Motions on the Theme – Green Southwark 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Proper Constitutional Officer 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
During the themed debate, council assembly may debate motions. Members’ motions on 
the theme will use present principles to allow sufficient political balance and for political 
groups to hold cabinet to account.1  
 
Members are limited to moving one motion and seconding one motion in the themed 
section of the meeting. 
 
All motions shall be relevant to the topic under discussion and shall be conducted under 
the existing rules for members’ motions. Normal deadlines shall apply for the submission 
of members’ motions. 
 
The order in which motions are debated and timings shall be determined by the 
Mayor.2 
 
1. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR JAMES BARBER (Seconded by Councillor 

Geoffrey Thornton) 
 
Making Southwark a Carbon Neutral Council 
 
Council assembly: 

 
• Recognises the urgent need to plan for a greener, healthier future for 

Southwark and notes the council’s existing commitment to reduce 
emissions in the borough by 80% on current levels by 2050 

 
• Notes that the council itself is responsible for 14.5% of the borough’s total 

carbon emissions (including council homes), and believes the council 
should be leading the way in emissions reduction to encourage residents 
and local businesses to follow suit 

 
• Recognises that as well as minimising impact on the environment, reducing 

emissions will also cut the council’s energy bill, save money that can be put 
to good use elsewhere and reduce pollution. 

 
• Therefore calls on cabinet to commit to making Southwark a carbon neutral 

council by 2018, reducing net carbon emissions from the council’s 
operational estate, schools and leisure centres to zero by the end of the 
next administration. 

 

                                                 
1
 Council assembly procedure rule 2.7 (3) 
2 Council assembly procedure rule 2.7 (9) and (10) 

Agenda Item 3.4
3



 
2  

Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 
consideration. 

 
2. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR HELEN HAYES (Seconded by Councillor Gavin 

Edwards) 
 
Green Southwark 

 
• Council assembly welcomes this administration’s commitment to improving 

Southwark’s environment and notes the progress that has been made since 
2010, despite aggressive cuts to local budgets from the government. 

 
• Council assembly believes that a green Southwark not only improves our 

natural environment, but contributes to the health and wellbeing of our 
residents, the vibrancy of our communities and the richness of our heritage. 

 
• Council assembly notes that 17 Southwark parks and green spaces are 

now in receipt of the prestigious Green Flag award – more than in the 
borough’s history. It congratulates the fantastic work of the council’s parks 
team, Friends Groups and volunteers who have all made this possible.  

 
• Council assembly notes that Southwark is the 5th best in the whole of 

England for having sites of importance for nature conservation in positive 
management demonstrating the council’s commitment to the preservation 
and enhancement of biodiversity across the borough. 

 
• Council assembly welcomes this administration’s £8 million investment in 

Burgess Park which has seen 331 newly planted trees, 92,000 plants and 
shrubs, new play areas and outdoor gym equipment, the planting of St 
Georges Gardens and of course a world class new BMX track. 

 
• Council assembly notes the introduction of a tree warden network to 

Southwark and, for the first time ever, a tree management strategy which 
records the borough’s current tree stock, aims to increase community 
involvement in tree management and sets out the council’s vision for trees 
for the coming years. 

 
• Council assembly welcomes the opening of two new air quality stations in 

the borough, at the Old Kent Road and Elephant and Castle and welcomes 
this reversal of policy from the previous administration. 

 
• Council assembly believes part of a green Southwark is to encourage 

sustainable forms of transport and notes that the number of people cycling 
and walking in the borough has increased with the help of key initiatives 
including free adult cyclist training. 

 
• Council assembly believes that in order tackle climate change, the council 

itself must set an example and therefore welcomes the news that 
Southwark has achieved a 20.6% reduction of energy use on its operational 
estate and school buildings since 2009. 

 
• Council assembly regrets the failure of the Tory Liberal Democrat 

government’s to live up to its promise to be “the greenest government ever” 
after it slashed the budget for helping fuel poor households with their 

4



 
3  

energy bills, failed to ensure that the energy companies meet their 
obligations on energy efficiency and failed to back a decarbonisation target. 

 
• Council assembly welcomes the cabinet’s commitment to creating a 

greener Southwark and urges them to continue to ensure that Southwark 
remains a green borough.   

 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 
consideration. 
 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Member Motions Constitutional Team 

160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH  

Andrew Weir 
020 7525 7222 

 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 

 
Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer 
Report Author Lesley John, Constitutional Officer 
Version Final 
Dated 27 September 2013 
 

5



 1 

Item No.  
5.1 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly  
 

Report title: 
 

Members’ Question Time 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Proper Constitutional Officer 
 

 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
Members’ question time shall not exceed 30 minutes. During this time, members may not 
question any one cabinet member or committee chair for longer than fifteen minutes.  
 
Members are limited to one question at each meeting. One councillor from each 
community council will be able to submit a question on behalf of their community council.  
 
Questions to the leader will be taken first, followed by question from community council 
councillors followed by questions to other cabinet members.  The order in which the 
different political groups ask questions of the leader will be rotated.  Questions to cabinet 
members will be taken in the order of receipt and portfolio.  The order of portfolios will be 
rotated at each meeting such that the cabinet member answering questions immediately 
after the leader will be the last cabinet member to answer any questions at the next 
meeting of council assembly. 
 
Cabinet members and committee chairs have discretion to refer a question to another 
cabinet member. 
 
Responses to members’ questions will be circulated on yellow paper around the council 
chamber on the evening of the meeting. 
 
The Mayor will ask the member asking the question if they wish to ask one supplemental 
question to the member to whom the question was asked. The supplemental question 
must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. Therefore, supplemental 
questions to the leader or other cabinet members are not free ranging.  
 
No question shall be asked on a matter concerning a planning or licensing application. 
 
Notes:  
 
1. The procedures on members’ questions are set out in council assembly procedure 

rule 2.9 in the Southwark Constitution. 
 
2. In accordance with council assembly procedure rule 2.9 (12) & (13) (prioritisation 

and rotation by the political groups) the order in which questions to the leader 
appear in this report may not necessarily be the order in which they are considered 
at the meeting. 

 
3. A question from a community council must have been previously considered and 

noted by the relevant community council (CAPR 2.9.2). 
 

 

Agenda Item 5.1
6



 

 2 

1. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR NICK STANTON  
 

Can the leader of the council provide an update on plans for a new university 
technical college in Bermondsey? 

 
2. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR RENATA HAMVAS  

 
Does the leader of the council agree with Liberal Democrat Peer, Baroness Shirley 
Williams, that Simon Hughes and the Liberal Democrats in Southwark were wrong 
to oppose free healthy school meals? 
 

3. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR STEPHEN GOVIER 
 

Will the leader undertake to follow the example of the city of Copenhagen where 
all policy documents are void of any moaning about poorly parked bikes or 
anarchistic road behaviour by cyclists and list all the steps taken to turn his 
ambitious words about making Southwark cycle friendly into reality before yet 
another cyclist is killed or seriously injured in Southwark? 
 

4. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR ANOOD AL-SAMERAI  
 
What is the timetable for the demolition and rebuild of the Elephant & Castle 
shopping centre? 
 

5. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR MARK WILLIAMS  
 
What impact will Liberal Democrat plans to limit free healthy school meals to just 
children in reception, and years 1 and 2 have on children in Southwark? 
 

6. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR LISA RAJAN  
 

How many two-year-old free early education places have been pre-purchased from 
providers? What were the criteria for selecting the providers to receive pre-
purchased funds? By ward, which providers have been identified by the council to 
offer weekend, night or holiday free early education hours? 

 
7. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR CLAIRE HICKSON 
 

What action did the council take to stop the English Defence League (EDL) from 
marching in Southwark? 
 

8. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR MICHAEL BUKOLA 
 

How many hours has the council’s IT service been down in each of the last 12 
months? What does the council estimate to be the loss of staff productivity as a 
result of IT problems in the last year? What agreements exist within the council’s 
IT contract regarding compensation for this loss of productivity? 

 
9. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR LORRAINE LAUDER 
 

Would the leader update me on the Council’s progress building new council 
homes? 

 
10. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR JAMES BARBER 

7



 

 3 

 
Southwark education improvement managers told the last Liberal Democrat led 
administration that the ideal size for a primary school is 2 or 3 form entry to ensure 
the best possible child focused experience in a sustainable school. This has been 
reiterated by Sir Robin Bosher who led the very successful London Challenge. 
Considering this advice why is his administration pushing for Ivydale School to 
permanently expand from 2 to 4 forms of entry per year? 

 
11. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR DARREN MERRILL  
 

What plans does the Leader have for the future of Walworth Town Hall?  
 

12. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR GEOFFREY THORNTON  
 

Why has the Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) for the council’s Tooley Street 
headquarters not been on prominent public display, as required by law? When was 
the last time it was on public display? Is the leader of the council aware of the law 
regarding the display of EPCs and the possible fines that can be issued for non-
compliance? 

 
13. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR NEIL COYLE  

 
Can the leader update me on the impact that the Bedroom Tax is having on people 
in the borough?  

 
14. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR TIM McNALLY 

 
Please list the 10 highest cost taxi journeys paid for by the council since 1 January 
2012, including details of each journey (pick up point, destination, cost and reason 
for journey). 

 
15. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR ANDY SIMMONS  
 

In light of recent serious accidents involving cyclists, what action is the leader of 
the council taking to improve cycle safety in the borough? 

 
16. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR SEATON (BOROUGH, 

BANKSIDE AND WALWORTH COMMUNITY COUNCIL) 
 

What can the council do to mitigate the expansion of betting shops, pawn shops 
and fast food outlets along the local high streets, such as the Walworth Road and 
the Old Kent Road? 

 
17. QUESTION TO THE LEADER FROM COUNCILLOR GRAHAM NEALE 

(BERMONDSEY AND ROTHERHITHE COMMUNITY COUNCIL) 
 

Can the administration of the council please confirm that they will prioritise 
maximum community benefit and infrastructure from the sale of the 
Harmsworth Quays site, including a new school, medical facilities and on-site 
affordable housing, over maximising profit from residential flats? 

 

8



 

 4 

18. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 
COMMUNITY SAFETY FROM COUNCILLOR HELEN HAYES (DULWICH 
COMMUNITY COUNCIL) 

 
Dulwich community council would like an update on the review and effectiveness 
of the new local policing model including on-going work which the council is doing 
to secure a fully functioning police base in Dulwich? 

 
19. QUESTION TO THE DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT FROM COUNCILLOR CLEO SOANES (PECKHAM 
AND NUNHEAD COMMUNITY COUNCIL) 

 
Residents and leaseholders on the Cossall and Gloucester Estates, who are 
specifically dependent on the district heating model for their heating are currently 
suffering erratic fluctuations in heat gain and loss and an unnecessary waste of 
energy.  Therefore, what is the council doing about addressing this problem with 
the view of saving energy costs borough wide? 

 
20. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR DAVID NOAKES 
 

Can the cabinet member for health, adult social care and equalities give an update 
on the current status of each of the Voluntary Day Centres listed below and 
indicate what, if any, support they have received from the council to continue since 
100% of their funding was withdrawn in 2011? 
 
• Southwark Irish Pensioners 
• Black Elderly Group 
• South Asian Elderly Association 
• Golden Oldies Community Care Project 
• Vietnamese Day Centre 
• Goose Green Day Centre 
• Age UK Stone's End 
• Southwark Cypriot Day Centre 
• Black Elders Project 

 
21. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR JONATHAN MITCHELL 
 

Can the cabinet member for health, adult social care and equalities give a clear 
and present position on the council’s public health priorities? 

 
22. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR DAVID HUBBER 
 

What is the timeline for the new centre of excellence opening at Cator Street?  
 
23. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR MARK GETTLESON 
 

What is the council doing to tackle sexual health issues across the borough? 
 
24. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR PAUL KYRIACOU 

9



 

 5 

 
Given the high number of smoking-related deaths in the borough, what pressure 
has the cabinet member for health and adult social care put on the cabinet 
member for resources and finance and the leader of the council to end the 
council’s £5 million investment in tobacco firms through its pension fund? 

 
25. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR PODDY CLARK 
 
What is the role of the older people’s access and information team? How many 
staff positions exist within this team? How does the council promote this resource 
to older people and other potential users in the borough?  

 
26. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR CLEO SOANES 
 
What progress has the council made on meeting its commitment to halving the 
cost of meals on wheels? 

 
27. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR DAN GARFIELD 
 

What steps is the council taking to prevent the worst excesses of the coalition 
government’s welfare reforms of people with disabilities?  
 

28. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR SUNIL CHOPRA 

 
Would the cabinet member tell me what progress has been made on Southwark’s 
Older People’s Centre of Excellence? 

 
29. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR CHRIS BROWN 
 

Does the cabinet member agree with the leader of the opposition that “there is no 
evidence to show that extending free school meals to every child will significantly 
reduce obesity? 

 
30. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE 

AND EQUALITIES FROM COUNCILLOR THE RIGHT REVD EMMANUEL 
OYEWOLE 

 
Would the cabinet member update me on Southwark’s plans for Black History 
Month? 

 
31. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 

COUNCILLOR ROSIE SHIMELL 
 

How many three and four year olds did not take up the 15 hours free early 
education offer in 2012/13? What is the council doing to support parents to take up 
their entitlement? 
 

32. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR CATHERINE BOWMAN 

 

10



 

 6 

How many £1,000 cash incentives have been paid to community groups for 
suggesting suitable individuals or families to adopt children? What organisations 
have received cash incentives and how much in each case? 

 
33. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 

COUNCILLOR PATRICK DIAMOND 
 
Would the cabinet member tell me, in the light of the case of Daniel Pelka, what 
steps the council is taking to make sure similar situations do not occur in 
Southwark? 
 

34. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR GAVIN EDWARDS 
 
What steps is the cabinet member taking to deliver a state of the art one o’clock 
club for Peckham Rye? 
 

35. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR MARK GLOVER 
 
Does the cabinet member agree with the leader of the opposition that free school 
meals are “bribe” that is offered by those “desperate to be elected”? 
 

36. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR ROWENNA DAVIS 
 
Would the cabinet member tell me what proportion of Southwark primary school 
children have secured a place at a local school and what steps is she taking to 
ensure that Southwark has the places necessary to meet future demand? 
 

37. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR NICK DOLEZAL 
 
What steps is the council taking to improve the rates of fostering and adoption in 
the borough? 
 

38. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES FROM 
COUNCILLOR  HELEN HAYES 
 
What action is the cabinet member taking to bring the Old Bellenden School site 
back into use, and what further plans will she take to ensure that Southwark 
continues to have the school places necessary in the future? 
 

39. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 
AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR ADELE MORRIS 

 
According to the Southwark website, if an area is deemed suitable for a table and 
chairs licence "a consultation will be carried out by Southwark Council's highway 
licensing team to ensure that appropriate consideration is given to local residents 
and business owners". Could the cabinet member list a) all the premises in 
Cathedrals Ward that have been issued tables and chairs licenses, and b) details 
of the consultation process undertaken for each site? 

 
40. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 

AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR LINDA MANCHESTER 

11



 

 7 

 
How many fines have been issued to drivers this year for driving the wrong way 
down Kipling Street? How many of these fines have been appealed?  What is the 
council doing to finally resolve the issue of poor signage? 

 
41. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 

AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR DENISE CAPSTICK 
 

Please list the top 20 streets in the borough that have suffered the most reported 
fly-tipping in the past 12 months, including the number of incidents reported in 
each case. 

 
42. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 

AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR ROBIN CROOKSHANK HILTON 
 

Can the cabinet member please give provide a full comparison price breakdown for 
all four proposed Barbara Hepworth replacement artworks in Dulwich Park? 

 
43. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 

AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR REBECCA LURY 
 

Liberal Democrats in Southwark have claimed that fly-tipping has tripled in the last 
three years.  Would the cabinet member confirm whether this is accurate? 

 
44. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT, ENVIRONMENT 

AND RECYCLING FROM COUNCILLOR MICHAEL SITU 
 

In addition to the investment that the council is making to parks, would the cabinet 
member tell me what additional external funding has the council secured and 
which parks will benefit? 

 
45. QUESTION TO THE DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT FROM COUNCILLOR WILMA NELSON 
 

Will the cabinet member give an update on the current situation at Maydew House, 
Rotherhithe?  

 
46. QUESTION TO THE DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT FROM COUNCILLOR ELIZA MANN 
 

Will the council put mobile CCTV cameras on the Keeton’s Estate to help tackle 
ongoing problems with drug dealing and phone thefts? 

 
47. QUESTION TO THE DEPUTY LEADER AND CABINET MEMBER FOR 

HOUSING MANAGEMENT FROM COUNCILLOR PAUL NOBLET 
 

When does the council intend to fulfil its pledge to provide increased security 
measures including CCTV and door entry systems for the Osprey Estate? 

 
48. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 

COMMUNITY SAFETY FROM COUNCILLOR JEFF HOOK 
 

How many council employees or employees of contracted out service companies 
are on zero hour contracts? What if any plans does the council have to end this 
practice?  

12



 

 8 

 
49. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 

COMMUNITY SAFETY FROM COUNCILLOR GRAHAM NEALE 
 

How much has the council spent on hotels for council staff in each of the past three 
financial years (2011/12, 2012/13 and 2013/14 to date)? What is the most 
expensive individual room bill paid in 2013, and for which hotel was it paid?  

 
50. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 

COMMUNITY SAFETY FROM COUNCILLOR COLUMBA BLANGO 
 

Please list each of the hotels used by the council to house temporary homeless or 
statutory homeless residents in the current financial year, including the number of 
nights of accommodation supplied and the total cost to the council in each case.  

 
51. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE, RESOURCES AND 

COMMUNITY SAFETY FROM COUNCILLOR NORMA GIBBES 
 

Would the leader update me on what steps Southwark has taken to protect fire 
services in the borough? 

 
52. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE, SPORT 

AND VOLUNTEERING FROM COUNCILLOR ALTHEA SMITH 
 

How are we continuing to pick up the legacy and momentum post Olympics 2012 
throughout the council? 

 
53. QUESTION TO THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, LEISURE, SPORT 

AND VOLUNTEERING FROM COUNCILLOR MARTIN SEATON 
 

What is the council doing to ensure that the health and well-being of its residents 
links with the cultural sector? 

 

13



 1 
 

Item No. 
5.2 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly  
 

Report title: 
 

Motions  
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Proper Constitutional Officer 
 

 
 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 
The councillor introducing or “moving” the motion may make a speech directed to the 
matter under discussion.  This may not exceed five minutes1. 
 
A second councillor will then be asked by the Mayor to “second” the motion.  This may not 
exceed three minutes without the consent of the Mayor. 
 
The meeting will then debate the issue and any amendments on the motion will be dealt 
with. 
 
At the end of the debate the mover of the motion may make a concluding speech, known 
as a “right of reply”. If an amendment is carried, the mover of the amendment shall hold the 
right of reply to any subsequent amendments and, if no further amendments are carried, at 
the conclusion of the debate on the substantive motion. 
 
The Mayor will then ask councillors to vote on the motion (and any amendments). 
 
IMPLICATIONS OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 
The constitution allocates responsibility for particular functions to council assembly, 
including approving the budget and policy framework, and allocates to the cabinet 
responsibility for developing and implementing the budget and policy framework and 
overseeing the running of council services on a day-to-day basis.  Therefore any matters 
that are reserved to the cabinet (i.e. housing, social services, regeneration, environment, 
education etc) cannot be decided upon by council assembly without prior reference to 
the cabinet.  While it would be in order for council assembly to discuss an issue, 
consideration of any of the following should be referred to the cabinet: 
 

• to change or develop a new or existing policy 
• to instruct officers to implement new procedures 
• to allocate resources.  

 
Note: In accordance with council assembly procedure rule 2.10 (7) & (8) (prioritisation 
and rotation by the political groups) the order in which motions appear in the agenda 
may not necessarily be the order in which they are considered at the meeting. 
 

                                                 
1 Council assembly procedure rule 1.14 (9) 

Agenda Item 5.2
14



 2 
 

 
1. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR TIM McNALLY (Seconded by Councillor Paul 

Kyriacou) 
 
Save our Local Pubs 

Council assembly: 
 
1. Recognises the important role local pubs play in the life of our borough by 

providing a community hub for residents to meet, relax, debate and do 
business 

 
2. Notes with regret the decline of community pubs in recent years, as the use 

of properties for other means has become more financially lucrative 
 
3. Further notes that the council has granted permission for plans resulting in 

the loss of a pub or bar at least 8 times in the last year 
 
4. Supports campaigns by Simon Hughes MP, Southwark News and The 

Campaign for Real Ale (CAMRA) to reverse this decline and put local pubs 
back at the heart of our communities 

 
5. Calls on the cabinet to reflect the council’s commitment by: 

 
i. Supporting community groups who wish to register their local pubs as 

assets of community value; 
 

ii. Submitting a request to the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government under the Sustainable Communities Act for full 
planning powers to be returned to the council to allow it to prevent pubs 
from being converted to alternative uses; and 

 
iii. Amending Southwark’s local planning policies to stipulate that no pub 

will be allowed to change use unless it is demonstrated that continued 
trading is not economically viable, the premises has been marketed as 
a pub unsuccessfully for a stipulated minimum period, and the change 
will not create a shortage of pubs within easy walking distance of the 
premises. 

 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 
consideration. 
 

2. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR PETER JOHN (Seconded by Councillor Dora 
Dixon-Fyle ) 
 
Support for Free Healthy School Meals 

 
Council assembly: 
 
• welcomes the final stage of the roll out of free healthy school meals to all 

primary school children in the borough 
 
• notes the feedback from parents, carers and teachers who are reporting 

improved attainment, better concentration, fewer discipline issues, and 
healthy eating both inside and outside of school 

15



 3 
 

 
• is encouraged that such positive feedback will be contributing towards the 

challenge of childhood obesity in Southwark 
 
• welcomes the commitment from the coalition government that they will be 

following Southwark’s example and introducing a national scheme of school 
meals for the youngest children in primary schools. 

 
However, council assembly also:  
 
• believes that the government scheme will fall short of what is needed by 

only providing free school meals for the youngest children 
 
• notes with concern that the government scheme will mean that primary 

school children in years 3, 4, 5 and 6 would lose their free healthy school 
meal unless local councils like Southwark have their own scheme in place 
and prioritises the budget to do so 

 
• notes that the Liberal Democrat Group in Southwark has consistently voted 

to remove the budget for free healthy school meals which would result in 
children losing this important meal each day 

 
• notes that free healthy school meals in Southwark have been opposed by 

Liberal Democrat members who have voted against them and by 
Bermondsey and Old Southwark MP, Simon Hughes, who was writing to 
constituents as recently as September opposing Southwark’s plans. 

 
Council assembly therefore: 
 
• utterly condemns Southwark Liberal Democrat’s record opposition to free 

healthy school meals in Southwark for all primary school children. 
 
• asks cabinet to write to the Deputy Prime Minister welcoming his 

announcement on free school meals for all children in their first three years 
of school, urging an expansion of the scheme to all primary school children, 
and offering to work with government to show how Southwark has made 
this such a resounding success 

 
• calls on cabinet to continue to deliver free healthy school meals for all 

primary school children in Southwark. 
 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 

consideration. 
 
3. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR ROSIE SHIMELL (Seconded by Councillor 

Jonathan Mitchell) 
 
Green Flags 
 
Council assembly:  

 
1. Notes that Southwark residents benefit hugely from the many green spaces 

across the borough, and believes the council should do as much as 
possible to promote our parks to maximise use. 

16



 4 
 

 
2. Further notes the great progress which has been made in this respect over 

recent years with Southwark having now been awarded a total of fourteen 
green flags across the borough. 

 
3. Calls on the cabinet member for transport, environment and recycling and 

his team to commit to nominating other parks in Southwark for the Green 
Flag award this year, including Goose Green, St Francis and Dawsons 
Heights in Dulwich, which are all wonderful assets to their neighbouring 
communities. 

 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 

consideration. 
 

4. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR ELIZA MANN (Seconded by Councillor Anood Al-
Samerai) 
 
Damp in Peter Butler House 
 
Council assembly notes the severe damp in Peter Butler House and calls on 
cabinet to order a full investigation into the problem to ensure this block is ‘dry’. 

 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 

consideration. 
 

5. MOTION FROM COUNCILLOR MARK GETTLESON (Seconded by Councillor) 
Denise Capstick) 
 
Clean up Tower Bridge Road 

 
1. Council assembly welcomes the efforts of the Tower Bridge Road Business 

Alliance to improve Tower Bridge Road. 
 
2. Council assembly calls on the cabinet to commit to getting the basics right 

by increasing the regularity of street cleaning and rubbish collection in the 
area. 

 
Note: If the motion is agreed, any proposals will be submitted to the cabinet for 

consideration. 
 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Member Motions Constitutional Team 

160 Tooley Street 
London SE1 2QH  

Andrew Weir 
020 7525 7222 

 

17



 5 
 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 

 
Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer 
Report Author Lesley John, Constitutional Officer 
Version Final 
Dated 27 September 2013 
 

18



 1 

 
Item No.  
6.1 
 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly 

Report title: 
 

Report back on motions referred to cabinet from 
council assembly 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Cabinet 

 
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – WELFARE REFORM 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Neil Coyle and 
seconded by Councillor Cleo Soanes. 
 
That council assembly: 
 
1. Is gravely concerned by the impact the Tory Liberal Democrat government’s 

welfare reforms is having on Southwark’s most vulnerable residents. 
 
2. Notes that more than 10% of Southwark’s population are affected by the range of 

welfare cuts. More than 4,000 by the bedroom tax, over 24,000 by the 
government’s £2.8m council tax benefit cut (including over 16,000 who are in 
work), thousands by changes to DLA beginning this year and hundreds more by 
the benefit cap from later this year. 

 
3. Notes that local advice and support organisations are seeing a steep rise in 

demand for help. Over 500 people were fed by foodbanks in Southwark in April 
alone (compared with 100 in April 2012) and the provider estimates 30 tons of 
food will need to be distributed to meet demand this year. 10% of the recipients 
are in work. Southwark’s Citizen Advice Bureaux saw a 40% jump in demand for 
help this year but legal aid cuts mean the loss of the equivalent of 4 full time 
advisors across Southwark Legal Advice Network. 

 
4. Notes the action taken by the council to deal with these changes including: 
 

• Labour’s £800,000 Hardship Fund; £400k of which is targeted towards local 
disabled people and carers 

• An extra £400,000 went into helping people downsize homes to avoid the 
bedroom tax 

• The Social Fund replacement scheme (the Southwark Emergency Support 
Scheme) 

• More than 700 people have been supported face to face at the partnership 
events – Southwark’s partnership work is being held up by (national) 
Citizens Advice as an example of good practice and a model for other 
councils to adopt.  

 
5. Regrets Simon Hughes’s unequivocal support for the government’s welfare 

reforms despite claiming the benefits cap would “drive families apart”. It also 

Agenda Item 6.1
19



 2 

regrets that Simon Hughes has dismissed reports of a fivefold increase in people 
claiming discretionary housing payments as “alarmist”. It regrets that he has 
refused to meet with local organisation such as Cooltan Arts to discuss the 
impact of the reforms and that he missed the “Frontline Welfare” event despite 
being specifically asked to attend. 

 
6. Calls on cabinet to: 
 

• Continue to work constructively with advocacy groups in the borough to 
ensure we are able to continue to support our most vulnerable residents 

 
• Lobby the Department of Work and Pensions for increased funding for 

discretionary housing payments 
 

• Continue to challenge Simon Hughes and the Liberal Democrats regarding 
their role in enabling the government’s welfare changes. 

 
We agreed this motion and noted the comments of the strategic director of 
environment and leisure. We also noted that the second bullet point under 
recommendation 6 had been implemented. 
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – DRUMMER LEE RIGBY AND FAITH COMMUNITIES 
IN SOUTHWARK 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Michael Bukola and 
seconded by Councillor The Right Revd Emmanuel Oyewole.  
 
That Council:  
 
• Registers its abhorrence at the appalling and savage murder of Drummer Lee 

Rigby on the streets of south-east London on 22 May 2013, and extends 
sympathy to his family. 
 

• Welcomes the critical response to the murder by UK Islamic organisations 
including the Southwark Muslim Forum, and the cohesion shown by Londoners in 
condemning the attack, and rejects the divisive agenda of far-right groups who 
seek to use the murder for their own political ends. 

 
• Recognises the concern from the Islamic community in Southwark about the 

reported rise in Islamophobic incidents since the murder, including a number of 
attacks on mosques across the country. 

 
• Notes the excellent work within the Old Kent Road Mosque and Islamic Cultural 

Centre in bringing together Muslims of all races, and acting as a meeting place for 
visiting Nigerian Muslims to London. 

 
• Looks forward to the continued involvement of the mosque within Southwark's 

Multi-Faith Forum. 
 
• Reasserts its support for the charity Help for Heroes and the work it does to 

support wounded service men and women and their families. 
 

20



 3 

 
We agreed this motion.  
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – SURREY DOCKS BROWN BRICK 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Lisa Rajan, seconded 
by Councillor David Hubber and subsequently amended. 
 
That Council:  
 
1. Notes the distinctive brown brick paving in parts of Surrey Docks and Rotherhithe 

wards and its contribution to the character of the area. Also notes that this style 
of paving was introduced during the development of the area by the London 
Docklands Development Corporation (LDDC) in the 1980s, is used extensively in 
the area and is much valued by local residents. 

 
2. Recognises that many of the roads and pavements in the areas around 

Greenland Dock, South Dock, Canada Water, Surrey Water, Russia Dock 
Woodland and the Albion Channel have been adversely affected by subsidence 
issues due to their construction on land reclaimed from historic docks and 
waterways in the area, and that this has manifested itself in paving that is often 
severely disrupted by tree roots and subterranean ironworks. 

 
3. Also recognises that the LDDC's over-zealous tree planting strategy in the 

1980s, in which they assumed a much lower survival rate than turned out to be 
the case, has led to a higher than expected number of London Planes at higher 
than usual densities in the area, and that the height and root growth network of 
these trees compounds the paving disruption problems.  

 
4. Acknowledges that the council’s longstanding approach to paving and road 

repairs in this area has been reactive and ad hoc, and has largely involved 
removing the brown brickwork and replacing it with red, purple or black tarmac. 
In many instances, the disruptive tree roots were not shaved or cut, and 
consequently re-erupt through the tarmac within 18 months of the repair. An 
alternative approach on Rope Street, funded by Rotherhithe Community Council, 
levelled the ground and re-laid the original brown brickwork, and maintained the 
valued character of the street.  

 
5. Welcomes the Greenland Dock Subsidence Feasibility Study, prepared by 

Mouchel, commissioned by Southwark Council, funded by Rotherhithe 
Community Council Cleaner Greener Safer fund and proposed by local 
residents.  

 
6. Also welcomes the site meeting on 7 May 2013 attended by the strategic director 

of environment and leisure, senior highways officers and residents to discuss the 
problem.  
 

7. Calls on cabinet to recognise the important character of the area. 
 

8. Welcomes the work being done in partnership with the community council to 
address these issues. 

 

21



 4 

We agreed this motion and noted the comments from the strategic director of 
environment and leisure.  
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – EAST DULWICH AND RYE LANE CROWN POST 
OFFICES 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Mark Glover and 
seconded by Councillor Nick Dolezal.  
 
1. That council assembly is concerned that the Post Office is planning to 

downgrade Crown Services at Rye Lane and East Dulwich to retail operators. 
 
2. That council assembly notes that at present the Post Office does not have any 

retail partners for Rye Lane and East Dulwich Crown Post Offices and is 
concerned that this move will lead to a relocation of offices, provide an inferior 
Post Office Service and will have a hugely detrimental impact on the quality of 
specialist services for local residents. It also believes it will lead to the 
recruitment of new staff on significantly lower pay, terms and conditions. 
Moreover the specialist trained and committed services and staff will be lost in 
these offices. 

 
3. That council assembly offers its support to the campaign to protect the Rye Lane 

and East Dulwich Post Offices in these locations and calls on cabinet to: 
 

• Work with local councillors to write to the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of 
State with responsibility for Post Offices, informing them of the concerns 
regarding Rye Lane and East Dulwich Crown Post Offices 

 
• Seek assurances from the Minister that any successful franchisees for 

Crown Post Offices will be strongly encouraged to pay their staff the 
London Living Wage. 

 
We agreed this motion. 
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – DOOR ENTRY FOR THE DICKENS ESTATE 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Eliza Mann, seconded 
by Councillor Anood Al-Samerai and subsequently amended. 
 
1. That Council is pleased that door entry systems are now being included again in 

major works plans. 
 
2. That Council recognises that residents of Wade House, Bardell House, Tupman 

House and Micawber House have experienced serious problems with crime, 
rough sleepers and vandalism. 

 
3. That Council notes that, as is often the case, while new security works are being 

installed on one block, ASB does not remain static and will travel from block to 
block. This is evidenced by the request in 2011 from the then opposition 

22



 5 

spokesperson for housing for new security intercom systems for Burton House, 
claiming this was the priority for the area. 

 
4. That Council recognises that since this request was made in 2011, incidences of 

crime and ASB have risen at Tupman House, Bardell House, Micawber House 
and Wade House. 
 

5. That Council therefore welcomes the commitment made by the cabinet member 
for housing to meet with residents of the estate to discuss their priorities for 
security works on the estate. 

 
6. That Council also welcomes the commitment by the cabinet member for housing 

to allocate extra funding to these blocks which will save money in the long run 
from crime and anti-social behaviour once those discussions with residents have 
taken place. 

 
We agreed this motion and noted the comments of the strategic director of housing 
and community services. The deputy leader and cabinet member for housing 
management advised that a meeting had taken place with local residents to discuss 
the door entry programme.  
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – ROBIN HOOD TAX 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Michael Situ and 
seconded by Councillor Patrick Diamond. 
 
1. That council assembly notes the suffering forced upon local residents as a result 

of the Tory Liberal Democrat government’s austerity programme which is unfairly 
targeting Southwark and its residents.  

 
2. That council assembly believes that the levy of a financial transaction tax (FTT) 

on the speculative activities of banks, hedge funds and other financial institutions 
would help to alleviate some of this pressure and ensure the financial sector 
pays its fair share and helps to clear up the mess it helped create.  

 
3. That council assembly therefore calls upon government to enact the FTT and 

use the revenues from this measure to reverse ongoing shrinkage in central 
grants to our council. 

 
We agreed this motion.   
 
MOTION FROM MEMBERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL ASSEMBLY 
PROCEDURE RULE 2.10 (6) – NORTHERN LINE EXTENSION 
 
Cabinet on 17 September 2013 considered the following motion referred from council 
assembly on 10 July 2013 which had been moved by Councillor Catherine Bowman 
and seconded by Councillor Graham Neale and subsequently amended. 
 
That council assembly: 
 
1. Notes Transport for London’s (TfL’s) plans to extend the Northern Line to Nine 

Elms and Battersea, and the consultation on the plans that closed on 18 June. 
 

23



 6 

2. Notes with particular concern the plans for a temporary shaft to be constructed 
on Harmsworth Street and a permanent shaft in Kennington Park, both of which 
would have a considerable impact on the lives of Southwark residents. 

 
3. Urges TfL to pursue the ‘gallery tunnels’ option for ground treatment work as an 

alternative to the Harmsworth Street temporary shaft, thereby minimising the 
disruption to local people. 

 
4. Regrets TfL’s decision to place the permanent shaft in Kennington Park on the 

site of the much-loved beekeeper’s lodge, and urges TfL to ensure that the 
relocation plan provides a suitable environment for the bee population and meets 
the requirements of Bee Urban and concerned local residents. 

 
5. Calls on cabinet to work with colleagues at Lambeth Council, the GLA and TfL to 

obtain the best deal for Southwark residents affected by the plans. 
 
6. Notes the letter from the cabinet member for transport, environment and 

recycling to TfL which already addresses the above points. 
  
We agreed this motion and the cabinet member for transport, environment and 
recycling updated the meeting on the current position to confirm that agreement had 
now been reached at Harmsworth Street to not use a temporary shaft and to pursue 
the ‘gallery tunnels’ option.  
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Cabinet agenda and minutes – 
17 September 2013. The 
document is available on this web 
page (item 19) 
http://moderngov.southwark.gov.u
k/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=302
&MId=4550&Ver=4    
 

Constitutional Team,  
160 Tooley Street,  
London SE1 2QH 
 

Paula Thornton 
020 7525 4395 
 

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer 
Report Author Paula Thornton, Constitutional Officer 

Version Final 
Dated 25 September 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services No No 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

No No 

Cabinet Member No No 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 25 September 2013 
 

24



 

 
 
 

1 

  

  
Item No.  
7.1 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly 
 

Report title: 2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 

All 

From: Cabinet 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. That council assembly adopts the proposed 2013-16 Children and Young 

People’s Plan at Appendix 1 as a key Southwark Council policy framework 
document for children and young people. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
2. On 17 September 2013 cabinet considered the 2013-16 Children and Young 

People’s Plan and agreed: 
 

That the proposed 2013-16 children and young people’s plan (CYPP) at 
Appendix 1 of the report be recommended to council assembly for adoption as a 
key Southwark council policy framework document for children and young 
people. 

 
3. This decision is now been treated as a recommendation to council assembly for 

consideration.   
 
Strong local performance in context of high levels of need 
 
4. This Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) builds on previous plans and 

strong local performance, with Southwark continuing to perform highly against a 
range of benchmarks, thus ensuring that strong universal services are the 
bedrock of the local system. 

 
5. Attainment, for example, continues to rise, with Southwark at or above the 

national average across all key stages. Pupil achievement at the end of primary 
school in English and maths combined in 2012 stands at 83% compared to 79% 
nationally, which represents top quartile performance. Provisional 2013 results 
indicate continued good performance. In addition, GCSE results in 2012 rose to 
59% which is in line with national performance.  

 
6. More children are also able to attend good or better schools, with over 80% of 

primary schools and 90% of secondary schools judged by Ofsted to be good or 
outstanding. Children’s centres and early years provision continue to perform 
well in Ofsted inspections, with for example two-thirds of children’s centres now 
judged good or outstanding.  

 
7. Through the Fairer Future commitments, as set out in the Council Plan, there 

has also been continued capital investment in local schools, a full roll-out of the 
free healthy school meal programme to all primary pupils, and nearly 95% of 

Agenda Item 7.1
25



 

 
 
 

2 

  

reception-aged children receiving a primary place of their choice. In addition, 
sustained investment in apprenticeships, the Youth Fund and support services 
has helped more young people succeed into adulthood, with 4.8% of young 
people were not in education, employment or training, compared to a central 
London average of 6.3%, as at June. 

 
8. Services for vulnerable children and families have also been judged as strong, 

as recognised by the Ofsted inspection in May 2012. This judged the local 
system to be good with outstanding features, with inspectors finding strong, 
focused and improving services to protect vulnerable children. Outcomes for 
vulnerable children and young people are also improving, with for example a 
decline of more than 50% in the under-18 conception rate from 1998 to 2011. 

 
9. The CYPP’s underpinning needs assessment, however, also underscores the 

high levels of need and challenge in this diverse borough – Southwark has the 
15th highest level of child poverty in London and is the capital’s largest social 
landlord. The population is highly mobile and ethnically diverse, with interwoven 
complexities including high levels of worklessness, no recourse to public funds, 
substance misuse, domestic abuse, mental health concerns, and housing risks 
such as overcrowding.  

 
A transformed strategic framework for children’s services 
 
10. Since the last CYPP was developed, much has changed in the statutory 

framework for children services. In October 2010, the government withdrew the 
statutory guidance governing children’s trust activity and revoked the CYPP 
regulations. This meant that children’s trusts were no longer required to produce 
a statutory CYPP, but could continue to do so where it makes sense locally.  

 
11. The CYPP is also no longer the only strategy governing the children’s system. 

Locally the Council Plan provides the overarching strategic framework, setting 
out how services deliver the Fairer Future commitments. These include 
introducing free healthy school meals, championing educational excellence and 
tackling factors affecting poorer life chances such as youth crime, teenage 
conceptions or being in care.  

 
12. In addition, the introduction this April of statutory duties on the local authority and 

clinical commissioning group to establish a health and wellbeing board and 
produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) has provided new 
opportunities for partners to work together to improve the outcomes and 
experiences of our residents including children and young people.  

 
13. As a result, Southwark’s JHWS sets out how partners will tackle the issues and 

inequalities that most affect the health and wellbeing of our communities – this 
encompasses promoting healthier lifestyles and tackling the causes of poor 
health and inequality as well as addressing wider issues such as the need for 
quality housing, and safer and healthier environments including improved road 
safety, air quality and leisure facilities.  

 
14. The JHWS also provides the framework for all local strategies including the 

CYPP as well as partner plans such as the Safer Southwark Partnership rolling 
plan, the clinical commissioning group’s operating plan, and service strategies 
such as those covering economic wellbeing or culture. Collectively they ensure 
that local action remains focused on improving the outcomes of children, young 

26



 

 
 
 

3 

  

people and families. 
 
15. In the context of services for children, young people and families, the JHWS 

prioritises a number of areas which require cross-cutting or partnership actions, 
such as: 

 
a) High-quality advice and support services in the early years, and tackling 

inequalities in life chances for mothers, babies and toddlers 
b) Keeping more children physically and mentally healthy, a healthy weight and 

doing well in school 
c) Supporting more young people to succeed into education or employment, and 

identifying and diverting more vulnerable adolescents from risky behaviours or 
unhealthy choices, including unsafe sex or relationships, and involvement in 
crime 

d) Giving children with a disability or special educational need a seamless, 
personalised experience, enabling them to have more choice and control over 
their life and support services 

 
16. Both the Council Plan and the JHWS, therefore, provide a robust strategic 

framework for planning and improving services for children, young people and 
families. They strengthen the local authority’s commitments to deliver high-
quality services which every child, young person and family can access, and 
provide a backdrop for a fresh approach to the CYPP. 

 
17. Through their performance frameworks, progress against local priorities is 

monitored and reported to council and partnership bodies. For example, 
childhood obesity is tracked through the JHWS performance framework, while 
action to improve educational attainment and youth employment are reported 
quarterly through the Council Plan as well as by exception to the health and 
wellbeing board. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
Developing the CYPP 
 
18. Locally, partners agreed to retain the children’s trust and develop a local CYPP 

because we believe that only together can we achieve the ambitions we have for 
our children, young people and families. We have also modernised the trust’s 
approach, choosing to develop the CYPP as a partnership plan for the 
transformation of services in a limited number of areas. As a result, the CYPP 
sets out priorities and objectives for three thematic areas rather than seeking to 
describe activity across the whole children’s system.  

 
19. Development of the draft CYPP began in June 2012, and has been overseen by 

the children’s trust at each stage. Working jointly with public health, the local 
authority and its partners have developed a joint strategic needs assessment 
(JSNA). This has looked at the experiences of children, young people and 
families within services. Key findings have been brought together with service 
user consultation into short films which have been used with partners and 
decision-makers to develop the plan’s priorities. These were also used during 
the consultation phase this summer.  

 
20. As part of the JSNA, a programme of stakeholder consultation events took place 

throughout the summer. Called ‘1,000 journeys’, these borough-wide “journey” 

27



 

 
 
 

4 

  

events sought the views and experiences of children, young people, parents, 
carers and frontline staff as well as local groups, ward members and community 
leaders. The programme included a wide range of workshops and programmes 
in community venues, schools, pupil referral units and children’s centres, and 
included one at the Ministry of Sound attended by over 400 young people.  

 
21. Some 1,300 Southwark journeys were collected in total, and these have been 

used to shape and inform the transformation commitments within the proposed 
plan. A selection of journeys is also being published alongside the draft CYPP to 
demonstrate how users’ voices have shaped local priorities. This will be available 
both online and in print, and is attached as Appendix 2. 

 
22. To develop the draft CYPP, partners collectively reviewed the data, the 

‘journeys’, the views of strategic and senior stakeholders, and the direct 
feedback from children, young people and families. The resulting proposals are 
set out in Appendix 1, and represent the transformation commitments for 2013 to 
2016 for the children’s trust. This draft CYPP has been the basis of a widespread 
consultation across partners and stakeholders over the summer, with views 
incorporated into the final proposals. This consultation has included strategic 
partners such as the clinical commissioning groups, education, children’s 
services and leisure scrutiny committee and other stakeholders such as schools 
and health providers.  

 
23. In addition a ‘family friendly’ version of the CYPP has been developed to support 

promotion of the children’s trust commitments to wider stakeholders and the 
community – a draft version is attached as Appendix 3, and this will be finalised, 
published and promoted following Council Assembly adoption of the CYPP. 

 
The CYPP’s transformation priorities 
 
24. As set out above, the CYPP does not seek to describe all activity in the 

children’s system. Instead, performance priorities for children and young people 
are held and reported through the Council Plan and JHWS, as set out in 
paragraphs 8 to 14 above.  

 
25. As a result, the CYPP is a shorter document, framed around three 

transformational areas. These are the areas which children, young people and 
families have told us need to improve and which we know can only be achieved 
through partnership working. This new, more focused approach has been 
possible through the relaxation of CYPP regulations and the robust strategic 
planning and performance framework provided by the Council Plan, JHWS and 
supporting partner and service plans.  

 
26. The three transformation priorities are as follows:  
 

a) Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at 
the right time, from early years to adolescence 

b) Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 
families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive 
change 

c) Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 
need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support, from childhood to adulthood 

 

28



 

 
 
 

5 

  

Policy implications 
 
27. The CYPP commits children’s trust partners to implement the shared vision and 

priorities described in the document, and these could have wide-ranging 
implications. These are summarised in the ‘family-friendly’ version attached as 
Appendix 3:  

 
28. Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at the 

right time, from early years to adolescence 
 

- Future configuration of early years provision including outreach and 
engagement services to ensure our most vulnerable residents access our 
early years and early help offers, and key entitlements such as free early 
years places  

- Commissioning arrangements with partners including health, police and 
schools to ensure a wide range of provision is easily accessible within 
localities through children’s centres, early help locality teams and services for 
vulnerable adolescents  

- The role and function of services developing under the local Troubled Families 
agenda known as “Family Focus Plus”  

- Commissioning choices to reduce health inequalities exercised through new 
statutory duties and responsibilities around public health and community 
provision such as school nursing and health visiting  

 
29. Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and families 

receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive change 
 

- The configuration of local services as a result of our local Social Work Matters 
transformation programme, our local response to the Munro review and the 
workforce development strategy  

- The configuration of local services to vulnerable children around the journey of 
the child, and arrangements with partners and providers to deliver effective 
and appropriate intervention and support to families  

- Where children cannot be cared for by their own families, how we exercise our 
corporate parenting responsibilities, particularly in regard to the commissioning 
of placements and support for looked after children; and reforms to our 
fostering and adoption services  

 
30. Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 

need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support, from childhood to adulthood 

 
- Future configuration of health, education and social care services to support 

integrated assessment and support pathways in response to new statutory 
duties set out in the Children and Families Bill  

- Understanding the implications of the Bill’s extension of rights to age 25 for 
ways of working, pathways and resources  

- How we deliver the personalisation agenda locally for children, young people 
and their families, including the development of the ‘local offer’, a statutorily 
prescribed description of the services children and families can expect to 
access locally 

- Commissioning arrangements with partners to ensure provision matches 
need, supports the personalisation agenda, increases choice and is high 
quality 

29



 

 
 
 

6 

  

 
Next steps in implementing the CYPP 
 
31. Once the CYPP has been agreed, its commitments will form the basis of 

partnership work to review, develop and align or commission provision across 
the three priority areas. Central messages in the way we will work in improving 
outcomes for local children, young people and families are set out in the values 
and principles section of the plan. These have been widely informed by the views 
and experiences of service users as to what they expect and want from local 
services.  

 
32. Key to the implementation of the CYPP will be working collaboratively with 

partners over the coming months to: 
 

a) Test current service delivery against service user-led values and principles  
b) Further JSNA work to understand what the data is telling us in more depth 

about barriers and opportunities for change, and service delivery priorities 
c) Identify shared resources and opportunities including how we can use local 

resources in different ways to meet community needs   
d) Use peer experts and best practice from elsewhere to challenge and inform 

thinking and support plan development  
e) Work with service users and key stakeholders to build and refine ideas and 

actions, including strengthening partnership working through the Health and 
Wellbeing, and Safeguarding Boards 

 
33. Central to this activity will be the development of a suite of performance 

indicators which enables the trust and stakeholders to measure and assess the 
impact and success of the CYPP. A draft performance framework is outlined as 
part of Appendix 1. This will be developed into a bespoke scorecard which can 
track improvements and impact. It is also proposed that the children’s trust 
publish its progress against its objectives yearly, including publishing a ‘family-
friendly’ version which is easily accessible for families and communities.  

 
34. These updates will provide the basis for performance monitoring across the local 

authority and partners, including scrutiny committees, corporate parenting 
committee and partnership governing bodies. When combined with existing 
performance reporting arrangements for the JHWS and Council Plan, the result 
will be a comprehensive scorecard detailing activity and its impact improving 
outcomes for local children, young people and families. 

 
35. Alongside strategic and service developments, it is proposed the CYPP, and the 

commitments within it, are promoted widely to stakeholders and communities 
through a launch event following council assembly.  

 
Community impact statement 

 
36. Analysis of the evidence gathered through the joint strategic needs assessment 

and stakeholder feedback, as outlined above, demonstrates the council’s 
commitment to and fulfilment of its public sector equality duty. In particular the 
experience and outcomes of relevant protected groups, such as age, race, 
disability, pregnancy and maternity, were explored in detail to ensure that the 
CYPP as a strategic planning framework supports the elimination of unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation as well as the advancement of 
equality of opportunity and the fostering of good relations between people who 

30



 

 
 
 

7 

  

share a protected characteristic and those who do not.  
 
37. Going forward, the work of the children’s trust and the CYPP will have wide-

reaching implications for all children, young people and families, especially our 
most vulnerable. A key underpinning principle will be to ensure it embeds 
considerations of equalities and human rights throughout its development, action 
and review. We continue to mainstream equalities in all aspects of the work such 
as any further needs assessment, stakeholder engagement and performance 
review arrangements. 

 
Resource implications 
 
38. Plans to deliver the CYPP will be informed by resources available within both the 

local authority and partners. The CYPP provides a planning framework within 
which the council and partners can prioritise investment and commissioning 
choices, and ensure that we collectively utilise resources such as free early 
years entitlements, voluntary sector funding streams and pupil premium to name 
a few. As appropriate, resourcing plans will be reflected through the council 
budget setting processes. 

 
39. In some cases, delivering the transformation may require partners to pool or align 

budgets, or in some cases jointly commission services. Any such developments 
will be conducted through the appropriate local governance mechanisms.  

 
40. In delivering the transformation in a challenging public sector financial context, it 

is vital that services are evidence based, cost effective and efficient. The CYPP 
will be used as a driver to remove duplication where it exists across the children’s 
system and target resources against the agreed transformation areas. 

 
Consultation  
 
41. The CYPP was developed following an extensive programme of consultation, as 

outlined above. Going forward, the proposed CYPP is being considered in line 
with the governance arrangements of other partners. In addition, members have 
been involved and consulted through lead member briefings, scrutiny, corporate 
parenting committee and other forums.  

 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
42. Under the council constitution at Part 3A, the policy framework of the Children & 

Young People’s Plan (CYPP) is a matter reserved to council assembly for 
agreement. The report requests that the cabinet recommends the adoption of the 
CYPP and agrees: 

 
a) that this becomes the key policy framework document for children and young 

people and  
b) becomes the local framework for partnership working, driving the 

transformation of local provision for children and families and 
c) will form the basis for the work of other key statutory bodies including the 

Health and Wellbeing and Safeguarding Boards. 
 

43. Although there remains a requirement for local authorities to have Children’s 

31



 

 
 
 

8 

  

Trust, the regulations requiring a CYPP has been revoked and guidance 
withdrawn.  Nevertheless local authorities may have a CYPP if they wish.  The 
duty of partners on the Trust to cooperate remains; however, there is no longer 
have to formal duty to have “due regard” to the plan.   

 
44. Council assembly will be aware that under the PSED General Duty public 

authorities must have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation as well as to advance equality of 
opportunity and foster good relations between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not.  

 
45. The protected groups covered by the equality duty are: age, disability, gender 

reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. The duty also covers marriage and civil partnerships, but only in 
respect of eliminating unlawful discrimination.   

 
46. This report explains the development of the plan and the consultation and 

engagement that took place with stakeholders to inform the focus and priorities 
within the plan.  The report also explains how the plan has underpinned with the 
principles of the PSED and in particular in regard to age, disability, pregnancy 
and maternity, and race. 

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services (FC13/031) 
 
47. The strategic director of finance and corporate services notes the proposal set 

out in this report and confirms that there are no direct financial implications 
arising.  

 
48. Funding to deliver this plan will be subject to separate approvals, including the 

council’s budget setting process. Officer time to implement this decision can be 
contained within existing resources. 

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 

Background Papers Held At Contact 
Joint strategic needs assessment www.southwarkjsna.com

; www.southwark.gov.uk 
Elaine Allegretti, 
020 7525 3923   

1,000 Journey – A selection of user 
experiences  

www.southwark.gov.uk  Elaine Allegretti, 
020 7525 3923   

Cabinet Agenda, 17 September 2013 160 Tooley Street 
London SE1  

Everton 
Robers/Paula 
Thornton 0207 
525 7221/4395 

 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Draft 2013-16 CYPP 
Appendix 2 1000 Journeys – A selection of user experiences 
Appendix 3 Draft 2013-16 CYPP summary leaflet 
 

32



 

 
 
 

9 

  

 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 
Lead Officer Romi Bowen, Strategic Director, Children’s and Adults’ Services 
Report Author Elaine Allegretti, Head of Strategy, Planning and Performance, 

Children’s and Adults’ Services 
Version Final 
Dated 19 September 2013 
Key Decision? Yes 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services 

Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes Yes 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 1 October 2013 
 

33



APPENDIX 1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust 
 

DRAFT Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

2013-2016 
 
 

34



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

1 

  

1. Foreword by Councillor Dora Dixon-Fyle 
 
We, the partners of Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust, are pleased to introduce 
our Children and Young People’s Plan for 2013 to 2016. It has been developed in an 
unprecedented environment, with the transformation of the statutory landscape 
gathering pace and breadth, and continuing harsh economic conditions. 
 
We continue to face these challenges. We see them as a historic opportunity to 
continue to protect the most vulnerable in society and reshape what services we offer 
to ensure they better meet the needs of the children, young people and families we 
serve.  
 
The priorities in this plan were developed against continuing strong performance of our 
universal services, which are improving the life chances of our children, young people 
and families. More children, for example, are achieving better at school, having better 
health including a healthy school lunch, or succeeding into adulthood through better 
education and employment opportunities.  
 
This plan builds on these successes. Unlike in previous plans, we have decided to 
focus this CYPP purely on transforming the areas we know need to improve. We 
identified these transformation areas in partnership with those who have the biggest 
stake in our borough – our children, young people, parents, carers, staff and 
practitioners. 
 
Through the stories and journeys you shared with us, we have identified three 
transformation areas that we, as children’s trust partners, promise to work together 
over the next three years to improve.  We are proud of how your voice and journeys – 
over 1,300 in total – have shaped the priorities in this plan, and have published a 
selection alongside this CYPP.  
 
Now that we have agreed our transformational priorities, we are committed to driving 
through the major changes we and our communities need. We will focus our efforts on 
the priorities identified in this plan, and will work across local partnerships and boards 
to align our commitments and ensure our priorities underpin action. We will decide 
together how we will target our limited resources for maximum effect. Sometimes this 
means knowing what to stop as well as which new directions to take to make sure we 
get the best value and have the biggest impact. 
 
We will always ensure services are of the highest quality and based on evidence of 
need. We will focus on improving family life and ensuring that children are safe from 
harm. We recognise the importance of having a home and neighbourhood you enjoy 
living in, and will work to make sure vulnerable and disadvantaged children, young 
people and families have the best chances in life.  
 
We are committed to acting early to prevent problems getting worse where we can, 
and on creating a workforce able to achieve our vision. We aspire to make the borough 
a place to be proud of, and call on everyone involved in the lives of children, young 
people and families in Southwark to work with us to ensure every child, young person, 
family and community achieves their full potential.

35



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

2 

  

2. Introduction  
 
The 2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPP) builds on previous plans and 
strong local performance, with Southwark continuing to perform highly against a range 
of benchmarks. During the life of the last CYPP, however, much changed in the 
statutory framework for children’s services. This included a significant overhaul of the 
duties regarding children’s trusts including the revocation of CYPP regulations. Locally 
partners have agreed to retain a children’s trust and publish a CYPP as we believe 
that only together can we achieve our ambitions for local residents. 
 
The CYPP is part of a suite of local strategies for the children’s system. Locally the 
Council Plan sets out how services work together to improve outcomes for children 
and families, including delivery of the council’s Fairer Future commitments. In addition, 
the introduction of statutory duties on the council and clinical commissioning group to 
establish a health and wellbeing board and produce a Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) has provided new opportunities for partners to jointly improve the 
outcomes and experiences of our residents including children and young people.  
 
The JHWS also provides the framework for all local strategies including the CYPP as 
well as partner plans such as the Safer Southwark Partnership rolling plan, the clinical 
commissioning group’s operating plan, and service strategies such as those covering 
economic wellbeing and culture. Collectively they ensure that local action remains 
firmly focused on improving outcomes for all children, young people and families. 
 
Opportunities exist too in the transfer of public health functions to the local authority, 
which will strengthen partnerships and services around children, young people and 
families. The creation of the health and wellbeing board with a statutory mandate to 
promote integration to improve outcomes also provides further opportunities to 
progress towards the objectives in this plan. 
 
Other statutory changes include new requirements for safeguarding children boards, 
as set out in the revised Working Together statutory guidance, and new legislation, 
including the Children and Families Bill. This raises the bar around the delivery of 
services for vulnerable children, such as those in care or placed for adoption, or 
children with special educational needs and disability, and for the role of early help 
services.  
 
The CYPP was developed following an extensive joint strategic needs assessment. 
Working jointly with public health, the local authority and its partners looked at the 
experiences and journey of children, young people and families within services. 
Partners also held an extensive programme of stakeholder consultation events. Called 
‘1,000 journeys’, these borough-wide events sought the views and experiences of 
children, young people, parents, carers and frontline staff as well as local groups, ward 
members and community leaders. Some 1,300 Southwark journeys were collected in 
total, and these have been used to shape and inform the transformation commitments 
within this CYPP.  
 
A selection of user journeys has being published alongside a summary of the needs 
assessment, in order to show how the views and needs of stakeholders and residents 
have influenced our priorities. In addition we have published a summary of the CYPP. 
To access any of these documents, visit www.southwark.gov.uk or call 020 7525 3674.

36



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

3 

  

3. Southwark’s Children and Families Trust Vision 
 
Our partnership vision is that  
 
“Every child, young person and family in Southwark thrives and is empowered to lead 
a safe and healthy life. We will work together to deliver high quality services that make 
a measurable difference in helping to overcome inequality and disadvantage, and 
strengthen families’ abilities to raise their children successfully and independently. 
 
Our Children and Young People’s Plan sets out our three areas for local 
transformation: 
 

§ Best start – Children, young people and families access the right support at 
the right time, from early years to adolescence 

 
§ Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 

families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and positive 
change 

 
§ Choice and control – Children and young people with a special educational 

need or disability and their families access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support from childhood to adulthood 

 

37



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

4 

  

4. Our values  
 
As partners, we are committed to the following values as we set out to achieve our 
transformation outcomes. We will work together to: 
 

§ Empower children, young people, families and their communities to be safe, 
independent and responsible for their own wellbeing   

 
§ Maintain a shared commitment to resource early help services that divert need,  

providing the right support at the right time, and stemming the flow to specialist 
services 

 
§ Equip the workforce and community resources with the right tools and skills to 

know how to achieve positive change and improved wellbeing in families 
 

§ Being open, inclusive and accountable in our actions, ensuring families are 
central to decisions about them, and their journeys are shaped by their voice 
and experience 

 
§ Commit resources to evidence-based practice that is accessible and led by our 

community’s needs, underpinned by a shared commitment to earlier 
intervention and protecting the most vulnerable 

 
§ Use meaningful outreach to enable vulnerable families to take up services that 

best meet their needs  
 

5. Our principles  
 

As partners, we are committed to transforming the service user journey through the 
following service redesign principles. We will work together to deliver high quality 
services by: 
 

§ Making commissioning choices that recognise and improve the journey of the 
child through services and life stages  

 
§ Raising the bar through more and better integration of services at the right 

point in the journey 
 

§ Retaining what works locally and recognising where we need creative and new 
ways of working to improve outcomes 

 
§ Enabling provision to be flexible and bespoke to families’ needs and choices, 

emphasising strengths as well as needs 
 

§ Ensuring services are simplified, transparent and easily accessible 
 

§ Ongoing continuous improvement through benchmarking, and using peer and 
field expert challenge 

 
§ Spending money as if it were our own and making the best use of resources to 

meet need, striking the balance between meeting needs early, value for 
money, sustainability and quality 

 

38



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

5 

  

6. Our transformation commitments and the results we expect 
 
6.1 Best start – children, young people and families access the right 
support at the right time, from early years to adolescence 
 
1. Children and families access local, good-quality childhood provision that meets their 
needs 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Improve access to provision from antenatal services and childcare through to 
starting school 

§ Ensure all our children’s centres and early years providers are Ofsted rated 
good or outstanding 

§ Reduce health inequalities in young children, such as by improving 
immunisation and low birth weight rates 

§ Realign resources to better support those most in need, for example making 
best use of education and health checks, the healthy child programme, free 
early education entitlements and community health provision  

 
2. Timely and effective early help prevents need escalating 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure local and common assessment frameworks provide a holistic, timely 
and proportionate initial response 

§ Increase resilience by supporting parents to raise their children successfully 
and young people to succeed into adulthood 

§ Close the gap in outcomes for more vulnerable or troubled children, including in 
attainment, attendance and health 

§ Realign resources and build pathways around key triggers and risks in the 
journey of vulnerable or troubled children, young people and families 

 
3. Flexible, holistic early help reduces the risk experienced by vulnerable or troubled 
children and families 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure our initial response spots and acts in a timely and proportionate way to 
reduce risk 

§ Enable vulnerable families to step down successfully from intensive support 
§ Achieve permanent positive change for vulnerable children and families more 

quickly, such as through reduced contacts, repeat plans and duration of 
support   

§ Expand the range of targeted community-facing provision to prevent problems 
escalating for our most vulnerable or troubled families 

 

39



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

6 

  

6.2 Safety and stability – Our most vulnerable children, young people and 
families receive timely, purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and 
positive change 
 
1. Social work that makes a difference to partners, professionals, families and 
communities 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
  

§ Assess risk, detect warning signs early and ensure the initial response results 
in a clear, timely and appropriate offer of support at the right level in the system 

§ Work more holistically around children and families, including developing 
ongoing bespoke support that works with the families’ strengths and needs 

§ Transform social work practice by empowering the workforce with the right 
skills, systems and networks to make positive change to the lives of vulnerable 
families 

§ Develop family resources and interventions that are flexible, appropriate and 
evidence based 

 
2. A system-wide approach to neglect 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Gear the whole system, from universal and early help provision through to 
statutory services, towards spotting and acting on the signs of neglect 

§ Invest in interventions that recognise and tackle the causes of neglect and 
reduce the impact of a legacy of neglect 

§ Reduce drift and delay through more assertive practice 
§ Align resources to ensure no child is left in damaging neglectful situations  

 
3. More children and young people find a permanent and stable home 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure there is sufficient quality provision to keep children and young people in 
stable homes 

§ Embed planning for permanency at every stage of the child’s journey 
§ Increase the number and range of children getting home more quickly, 

including being adopted 
§ Free resources to be used flexibly and creatively to achieve lasting positive 

change that meets need 
 

40



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

7 

  

6.3 Choice and control – Children and young people with a special 
educational need or disability and their families access a local offer of 
seamless, personalised support from childhood to adulthood 
 
1. Children with complex needs have a quality, integrated education, health and care 
plan 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure the services offered locally are sufficient to meet need and clearly 
promoted 

§ Place the child and family at the centre of everything we do 
§ Provide services that promote a smooth and integrated journey and enable 

children and young people to thrive and prepare for adulthood 
§ Align resources to support seamless planning across the continuum of need 

 
2. Families take control and make real choices about their support 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Ensure effective advocacy, information and advice services empower children, 
young people and their families 

§ Empower providers to develop quality provision which meets families’ needs 
§ Enable families to choose how they access support, including through a 

personal budget 
§ Apply the principles of personalisation to all that we do 

 
3. Young people and families have increased independence and resilience 
 
We will do this by working together to: 
 

§ Provide high-quality, flexible and responsive services, making best use of 
partnership resources, and universal settings and providers 

§ Empower families to make better use of the range of opportunities available to 
them 

§ Develop early help and targeted services which build families’ capacity and 
help to meet needs earlier 

§ Organise resources, services and the workforce to enable children and young 
people to move seamlessly through life stages 

 
 
  
 
 

 

41



2013-16 Children and Young People’s Plan 
 

 
 
 

8 

  

7. Measuring our progress 
 
The table below sets out a scorecard of performance measures with which the trust 
will hold services and the system to account in progressing actions against our shared 
priorities. It is intended that over the lifetime of the CYPP, these measures will be 
developed into a bespoke suite to demonstrate improvements on impact on outcomes, 
journey and/or quality. 
 

Best start 
Percentage take-up of key childhood immunisations 
Percentage of health visitor checks completed at age 2-2.5 years 
Percentage of children’s centres rated good or outstanding by Ofsted 
Percentage take-up of free early education entitlements 
Rates of fixed term and permanent exclusions, by school phase 
Percentage of first time entrants to the criminal justice system 
Violent youth crime rate 
Percentage of referrals to the early help team resulting in support, by agency 
Percentage of referrals to social care which result in no further action, by 
agency 
Re-referral rate to social care 
 
Choice and control 
Percentage of eligible children receiving an integrated education, health and 
social care assessment and plan (or single agency assessment/plan in lieu of 
integrated process), by agency 
Percentage of integrated plans (or single agency plan) completed to timescale 
Percentage of families who ask for a personal budget receiving one 
Percentage of combined budgets spent on personal budgets and personalised 
services 
Percentage of children, young people and families happy with the care they 
receive 
Percentage of eligible children previously in receipt of early help 
Percentage of requests for statutory support resulting in no further action 
Percentage of children and young people with a fixed term exclusion who have 
an identified SEND 
 
Safety and stability 
Re-referral rate to social care 
Number of children in care adopted and percentage leaving care who are 
adopted 
The number and percentage of children for whom the permanence decision has 
changed away from adoption 
Percentage of children becoming subject of child protection plan for a second or 
subsequent time, and those within two years of the previous plans end date 
Percentage of child protection plans lasting 2 or more years at point they cease 
Percentage of care proceedings to timescale 
Percentage of children in need who are classed as persistent absentees 
Percentage of sessions missed for children who are the subject of a child 
protection plan 

 
 
 

42



...
an

d 
ho

w
 y

ou
r 

st
or

ie
s 

he
lp

ed
 s

et
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k’
s 

pr
io

rit
ie

s 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

fa
m

ili
es

W
ha

t 
yo

u 
to

ld
 u

s.
..A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 2

43



2

44



3

W
e 

ar
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

Ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

Fa
m

ili
es

’ T
ru

st
 a

nd
 w

e 
de

ve
lo

pe
d 

th
e 

Ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

Yo
un

g 
Pe

op
le

’s
 P

la
n 

to
 s

et
 o

ut
 

ho
w

 w
e 

w
ill

 im
pr

ov
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 f
or

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 in

 
th

e 
bo

ro
ug

h 
ov

er
 t

he
 n

ex
t 

th
re

e 
ye

ar
s 

to
 2

01
6.

W
e 

be
ga

n 
de

ve
lo

pi
ng

 t
he

 p
la

n 
in

 J
un

e 
20

12
 w

he
n 

w
e 

w
en

t 
ou

t 
in

to
 o

ur
 c

om
m

un
iti

es
 a

nd
 w

or
kf

or
ce

 a
nd

 a
sk

ed
 y

ou
 t

o 
te

ll 
us

 
ab

ou
t 

a 
st

or
y 

or
 jo

ur
ne

y 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 h

ad
. W

e 
w

er
e 

de
lig

ht
ed

 t
ha

t 
m

or
e 

th
an

 1
,3

00
 c

hi
ld

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e,
 p

ar
en

ts
, c

ar
er

s,
 s

ta
ff

 
an

d 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
 re

sp
on

de
d.

 T
he

se
 jo

ur
ne

ys
 h

av
e 

sh
ap

ed
 o

ur
 

pl
an

 f
or

 lo
ca

l s
er

vi
ce

s.

“E
ve

ry
 c

hi
ld

, y
ou

ng
 p

er
so

n 
an

d 
fa

m
ily

 in
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k 
th

riv
es

 
an

d 
is

 e
m

po
w

er
ed

 t
o 

le
ad

 a
 s

af
e 

an
d 

he
al

th
y 

lif
e.

 W
e 

w
ill

 
w

or
k 

to
ge

th
er

 t
o 

de
liv

er
 h

ig
h-

qu
al

ity
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

th
at

 m
ak

e 
a 

m
ea

su
ra

bl
e 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 in

 h
el

pi
ng

 t
o 

ov
er

co
m

e 
in

eq
ua

lit
y 

an
d 

di
sa

dv
an

ta
ge

, a
nd

 s
tr

en
gt

he
n 

fa
m

ili
es

’ a
bi

lit
ie

s 
to

 
ra

is
e 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

ly
 a

nd
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
.”

B
es

t 
st

ar
t

Pr
ov

id
in

g 
th

e 
rig

ht
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

t 
th

e 
rig

ht
 

tim
e

in
 t

he
ir 

lif
e

Sa
fe

ty
 a

n
d

 s
ta

b
ili

ty
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

ou
r 

m
os

t 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 f
am

ili
es

 
to

 b
rin

g 
ab

ou
t 

sa
fe

, p
os

iti
ve

 
an

d 
la

st
in

g 
ch

an
ge

C
h

o
ic

e 
an

d
 c

o
n

tr
o

l
Pr

ov
id

in
g 

se
am

le
ss

, 
pe

rs
on

al
is

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 f

or
 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 
w

ith
 a

 s
pe

ci
al

 e
du

ca
tio

na
l 

ne
ed

 o
r 

di
sa

bi
lit

y

Pr
es

en
te

d
 in

 t
h

e 
fo

llo
w

in
g

 p
ag

es
 a

re
 ju

st
 a

 
fe

w
 o

f 
th

e 
m

an
y 

st
o

ri
es

 y
o

u
 s

h
ar

ed
 w

it
h

 u
s.

OU
R 

VI
SIO

N 
FO

R 
CH

ILD
RE

N,
 Y

OU
NG

 P
EO

PL
E 

 
AN

D 
FA

MI
LIE

S 
IN

 S
OU

TH
WA

RK W
e 

al
so

 lo
ok

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
de

m
an

d 
an

d 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 o

f 
lo

ca
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

ta
lk

ed
 t

o 
se

ni
or

 
de

ci
si

on
–m

ak
er

s 
ab

ou
t 

w
ha

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

he
y 

fe
lt 

w
er

e 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

el
l a

nd
 w

ha
t 

ne
ed

ed
 t

o 
ch

an
ge

. W
e 

to
ok

 a
ll 

of
 t

hi
s 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

de
ve

lo
pe

d 
th

re
e 

tr
an

sf
or

m
at

io
n 

pr
io

rit
y 

ar
ea

s 
in

 t
he

 C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Yo

un
g 

Pe
op

le
’s 

Pl
an

:

45



4

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

W
e 

al
l n

ee
d 

a 
lit

tle
 h

el
p 

at
 s

om
e 

po
in

t 
in

 
ou

r 
lif

e 
– 

m
ay

be
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

a 
ne

w
 p

ar
en

t 
w

ith
 a

 n
ew

 b
ab

y,
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

st
ar

tin
g 

sc
ho

ol
 o

r 
w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

re
co

ve
rin

g 
fr

om
 a

 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
si

tu
at

io
n 

in
 y

ou
r 

fa
m

ily
 li

fe
. S

o 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

m
ak

in
g 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
yo

u 
ca

n 
ac

ce
ss

 t
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 w

he
n 

an
d 

ho
w

 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 t

he
m

, t
o 

he
lp

 y
ou

 o
n 

to
 t

he
 p

at
h 

to
 s

uc
ce

ss
.

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
ch

ild
re

n,
 y

ou
ng

 
pe

op
le

 a
nd

 f
am

ili
es

 c
an

 a
cc

es
s 

th
e 

rig
ht

 s
up

po
rt

 a
t 

th
e 

rig
ht

 t
im

e 
– 

fr
om

 e
ar

ly
 y

ea
rs

 t
o 

ad
ol

es
ce

nc
e 

– 
gi

vi
ng

 t
he

m
 t

he
 b

es
t 

st
ar

t 
on

 t
he

ir 
jo

ur
ne

ys
.

W
h

at
 c

an
 y

o
u

 e
xp

ec
t 

to
 c

h
an

g
e 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
is

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
?

To
 fi

nd
 it

 e
as

ie
r 

to
 u

se
 lo

ca
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

su
ch

 a
s 

an
te

na
ta

l s
er

vi
ce

s,
 

ch
ild

ca
re

 o
r 

se
rv

ic
es

 in
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
ha

vi
ng

 t
he

ir 
he

al
th

 a
nd

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
ch

ec
ks

 a
nd

 
im

m
un

is
at

io
ns

, a
nd

 m
or

e 
ha

vi
ng

 b
et

te
r 

he
al

th
 a

nd
 t

ak
in

g 
up

 
fr

ee
 e

ar
ly

 e
du

ca
tio

n 
pl

ac
es

 

Fe
w

er
 y

ou
ng

 p
eo

pl
e 

m
is

si
ng

 s
ch

oo
l o

r 
be

in
g 

in
vo

lv
ed

 in
 c

rim
e

M
or

e 
fa

m
ili

es
 a

ch
ie

vi
ng

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

po
si

tiv
e 

ch
an

ge
s 

m
or

e 
qu

ic
kl

y 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

fr
om

 s
pe

ci
al

is
t 

se
rv

ic
es

46



5

“I
 h

av
e 

liv
ed

 in
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 f

o
r 

n
ea

rl
y 

20
 y

ea
rs

, 
an

d 
ha

ve
 t

w
o 

ch
ild

re
n.

 W
he

n 
I h

ad
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n,
 

I w
as

 s
ur

pr
is

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
le

ve
l o

f 
se

rv
ic

es
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

by
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k.
 M

y 
el

de
st

 w
as

 b
or

n 
in

 2
00

8 
w

he
n 

th
er

e 
w

er
e 

a 
nu

m
be

r 
of

 S
ur

eS
ta

rt
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 
to

 a
tt

en
d.

 T
hi

s 
m

ea
nt

 w
e 

m
et

 m
an

y 
pe

op
le

 in
 

th
e 

ar
ea

, f
ee

lin
g 

pa
rt

 o
f 

a 
co

m
m

un
ity

, w
hi

ch
 

is
 u

nu
su

al
 in

 L
on

do
n.

 M
y 

el
de

st
 a

ls
o 

ha
d 

th
e 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 t

o 
le

ar
n 

a 
se

co
nd

 la
ng

ua
ge

 a
nd

 d
o 

m
us

ic
. I

 h
av

e 
re

ce
nt

ly
 re

tu
rn

ed
 t

o 
w

or
k 

af
te

r 
th

e 
bi

rt
h 

of
 m

y 
se

co
nd

 c
hi

ld
, a

nd
 h

av
e 

be
en

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 

by
 f

an
ta

st
ic

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
ro

vi
si

on
. J

ug
gl

in
g 

w
or

k 
an

d 
ch

ild
ca

re
 w

ill
 b

e 
th

e 
ne

xt
 s

ta
ge

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y.

”

“I
 w

as
 q

ui
te

 u
ns

ur
e 

ab
ou

t b
ei

ng
 a

 p
ar

en
t a

nd
 w

as
 

gl
ad

 to
 fi

nd
 s

up
po

rt
. M

y 
he

al
th

 v
isi

to
r r

ef
er

re
d 

m
e 

to
 th

e 
ch

ild
re

n’
s 

ce
nt

re
. I

’v
e 

m
ad

e 
lif

el
on

g 
fr

ie
nd

s.
 

It 
w

as
 g

re
at

 ta
ki

ng
 m

y 
ch

ild
 to

 a
 p

la
yg

ro
up

 e
ve

ry
 

da
y,

 a
nd

 b
ui

ld
in

g 
m

ys
el

f u
p 

by
 e

nr
ol

lin
g 

on
 c

ou
rs

es
. 

I’m
 n

ow
 m

en
to

rin
g 

so
m

eo
ne

 a
nd

 w
at

ch
in

g 
th

em
 

be
co

m
e 

a 
co

nfi
de

nt
 p

ar
en

t a
s 

w
el

l.”

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 li

ve
 in

 L
o

n
d

o
n

 in
 1

99
5.

 I 
ha

ve
 a

 n
in

e 
ye

ar
-o

ld
 d

au
gh

te
r 

no
w

, a
nd

 4
 y

ea
rs

 a
go

 I 
go

t 
m

y 
re

gi
st

ra
tio

n 
to

 b
e 

a 
ch

ild
 m

in
de

r. 
It 

is
 t

he
 b

es
t 

th
in

g 
– 

th
is

 le
ts

 m
e 

sp
en

d 
tim

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
. 

W
he

n 
I s

ta
rt

ed
 m

y 
ch

ild
-m

in
di

ng
 b

us
in

es
s,

 I 
le

ar
nt

 
ab

ou
t 

al
l t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

an
d 

he
lp

 a
va

ila
bl

e,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 M

y 
fir

st
 la

ng
ua

ge
 is

 S
pa

ni
sh

, 
so

 w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 t

o 
do

 E
ng

lis
h 

la
ng

ua
ge

 c
ou

rs
es

. M
y 

ch
ild

 m
in

de
r 

co
or

di
na

to
r 

w
as

 v
er

y 
he

lp
fu

l, 
as

 w
er

e 
th

e 
st

af
f 

fr
om

 t
he

 c
en

tr
e 

– 
th

ey
 g

av
e 

m
e 

lo
ts

 o
f 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

an
d 

op
po

rt
un

ity
 t

o 
pa

rt
ic

ip
at

e.
 T

hi
s 

bu
ilt

 m
y 

co
nfi

de
nc

e 
to

 b
e 

m
or

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ith
 

ot
he

r 
pa

re
nt

s 
an

d 
ch

ild
re

n.
”

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 Y

OU
NG

 F
AM

ILI
ES

“D
if

fi
cu

lt
 li

vi
n

g
 c

o
n

d
it

io
n

s,
 n

o 
jo

b 
an

d 
ha

vi
ng

 
m

y 
se

co
nd

 d
au

gh
te

r 
pu

sh
ed

 m
e 

in
to

 s
ev

er
e 

de
pr

es
si

on
. M

y 
G

P 
re

fe
rr

ed
 m

e 
to

 t
he

 m
en

ta
l 

he
al

th
 c

ar
e 

te
am

 –
 t

he
y 

he
lp

ed
 a

 lo
t 

by
 lo

ok
in

g 
fo

r 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 t

ha
t 

w
ill

 le
t 

m
e 

ge
t 

ou
t 

an
d 

ab
ou

t.
 I 

al
so

 
us

e 
th

e 
as

yl
um

 s
ee

ke
rs

 g
ro

up
. I

’m
 n

ow
 lo

ok
in

g 
to

 
ge

t 
ba

ck
 in

to
 w

or
k 

al
th

ou
gh

 it
’s 

no
t 

al
w

ay
s 

ea
sy

 t
o 

st
ay

 o
n 

an
 e

ve
n 

ke
el

.”

“G
o

t 
p

re
g

n
an

t 
at

 2
2 

th
ro

ug
h 

dr
ug

s;
 s

oc
ia

l 
w

or
ke

rs
 g

ot
 in

vo
lv

ed
. N

o 
on

e 
to

 c
he

ck
 o

n 
m

e;
 

he
al

th
 v

is
ito

r 
on

ly
 c

am
e 

tw
ic

e.
 S

om
e 

pe
op

le
 g

et
 

gu
id

an
ce

 b
ut

 I 
go

t 
le

ft
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n.
” 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
PR

EG
N

AN
CY

, P
AR

EN
TI

N
G,

 A
N

D 
CO

PI
N

G 
W

IT
H 

CH
ILD

RE
N

.

47



6

“I
 a

m
 a

 m
u

m
 o

f 
tw

o
 g

ir
ls

 –
 o

ne
 is

 in
 p

rim
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

, t
he

 o
th

er
 is

 a
 b

ab
y.

 I 
fin

d 
th

e 
bu

lk
 re

m
ov

al
 

se
rv

ic
e 

ve
ry

 u
se

fu
l –

 w
ith

 a
 n

ew
 b

ab
y 

yo
u 

ne
ed

 t
o 

bu
y 

a 
lo

t 
of

 t
hi

ng
s,

 a
nd

 u
pd

at
e 

yo
ur

 f
ur

ni
tu

re
. I

 g
o 

to
 t

he
 b

ab
y 

cl
in

ic
 f

or
 m

y 
ba

by
’s 

ch
ec

k-
up

, b
ut

 t
he

 
cl

in
ic

 is
 u

nd
er

-s
ta

ff
ed

, a
nd

 t
oo

 h
ot

. I
 w

ai
te

d 
ov

er
 

tw
o 

ho
ur

s 
fo

r 
a 

ch
ec

k.
 M

y 
he

al
th

 v
is

ito
r 

is
 v

er
y 

go
od

 a
t 

ad
vi

si
ng

 o
n 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 re

tu
rn

 t
o 

w
or

k 
ne

xt
, a

nd
 w

ill
 n

ee
d 

to
 g

et
 a

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
la

ce
.”

“M
y 

fi
rs

t 
ch

ild
 w

as
 b

o
rn

 in
 2

00
5.

 M
y 

he
al

th
 

vi
si

to
r 

to
ld

 m
e 

ab
ou

t 
m

y 
lo

ca
l c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

, 
an

d 
Bo

ok
st

ar
t.

 I 
w

as
 o

n 
m

at
er

ni
ty

 le
av

e 
an

d 
w

an
te

d 
to

 t
ak

e 
m

y 
ba

by
 o

ut
 t

o 
m

ee
t 

ot
he

r 
ch

ild
re

n.
 I 

di
dn

’t 
kn

ow
 w

ha
t 

to
 e

xp
ec

t 
be

ca
us

e 
I 

ha
d 

ne
ve

r 
he

ar
d 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 I 

fe
lt 

ve
ry

 
ha

pp
y 

w
he

n 
I w

en
t 

to
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

, a
nd

 
Bo

ok
st

ar
t 

gr
ou

ps
 a

t 
th

e 
lib

ra
ry

. I
t 

w
as

 t
he

 h
ig

hl
ig

ht
 

of
 o

ur
 w

ee
k.

 T
he

 c
en

tr
e 

ha
s 

gi
ve

n 
m

e 
a 

lo
t 

of
 h

el
p 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t 

ov
er

 t
he

 y
ea

rs
. T

hi
s 

m
ad

e 
m

e 
w

an
t 

to
 b

ec
om

e 
a 

vo
lu

nt
ee

r. 
Th

e 
K

ic
k 

St
ar

t 
Yo

ur
 L

ife
 

co
ur

se
 g

av
e 

m
e 

di
re

ct
io

n 
on

 w
ha

t 
to

 d
o 

on
ce

 m
y 

ch
ild

re
n 

ar
e 

at
 s

ch
oo

l.”

“I
 a

m
 n

ea
rl

y 
fi

ni
sh

in
g 

m
y 

fi
na

l y
ea

r 
at

 
un

iv
er

si
ty

– 
I a

m
 a

 m
um

 o
f t

w
o.

 I 
go

t p
re

gn
an

t a
t 

21
 a

nd
 h

ad
 to

 le
av

e 
co

lle
ge

. T
hi

ng
s 

w
er

e 
to

ug
h 

– 
Iw

as
 s

tr
ug

gl
in

g 
to

 g
et

 m
y 

lif
e 

in
 o

rd
er

. I
 w

as
 g

et
tin

g 
he

lp
 fr

om
 S

ou
th

w
ar

k:
 I 

ha
d 

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 a

dv
iso

r 
w

ho
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
se

t g
oa

ls.
 I 

w
as

 a
lso

 in
 to

uc
h 

w
ith

 
a 

fa
m

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 w

or
ke

r w
ho

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

se
cu

re
 

ac
co

m
m

od
at

io
n 

an
d 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 I 
pa

id
 m

y 
bi

lls
. 

“T
h

e 
th

in
g

 t
h

at
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

b
ig

g
es

t 
d

if
fe

re
n

ce
w

as
 h

av
in

g 
a 

no
n-

ju
dg

em
en

ta
l s

er
vi

ce
 t

o 
su

pp
or

t 
m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 m

y 
pa

re
nt

in
g 

al
on

gs
id

e 
em

po
w

er
in

g 
m

e 
to

 g
ro

w
 p

er
so

na
lly

 b
y 

be
fr

ie
nd

sh
ip

. W
ha

t 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ff
er

en
t 

is
 

su
pp

or
t 

in
 p

re
gn

an
cy

 t
ha

t 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 p
re

ve
nt

ed
 

m
y 

po
st

-n
at

al
 d

ep
re

ss
io

n 
be

in
g 

so
 s

er
io

us
 a

nd
 

ea
rli

er
 p

os
iti

ve
 b

on
di

ng
 w

ith
 m

y 
ch

ild
.”

 

“I
f 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 t

h
e 

co
m

m
u

n
it

y 
ar

e 
n

o
t 

ac
ce

ss
in

g
 a

va
ila

b
le

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 a

re
 t

he
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

pr
ov

id
in

g 
w

ha
t 

th
ey

 n
ee

d?
”

“I
 f

ee
l s

o
 h

ap
p

y 
h

av
in

g
 s

u
p

p
o

rt
, f

rie
nd

s,
 a

nd
 

go
od

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
fo

r 
m

y 
ba

by
 a

nd
 m

e.
 W

he
n 

I h
ad

 
m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
, t

he
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
‘le

t’s
 

go
’ m

ag
az

in
e,

 a
nd

 a
dv

is
ed

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
ba

by
 g

ro
up

s,
 

th
en

 I 
w

en
t 

to
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

. T
he

 E
ng

lis
h 

co
ur

se
s 

al
so

 r
ea

lly
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e.
 T

he
se

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
es

 
ha

ve
 m

ad
e 

m
e 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
ch

ild
 m

in
de

r 
an

d 
ca

re
 

fo
r 

ch
ild

re
n.

”

“W
it

h
 m

o
re

 jo
in

t 
w

o
rk

in
g

 a
n

d
 c

o
lla

b
o

ra
ti

o
n

,
w

e 
ar

e 
in

cr
ea

si
ng

ly
 d

ep
en

de
nt

 o
n 

ot
he

rs
 t

o 
de

liv
er

 o
ur

 p
rio

rit
ie

s.
 T

he
 q

ue
st

io
n 

is
 h

ow
 d

o 
w

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
el

y 
m

on
ito

r 
an

d 
ev

al
ua

te
 t

he
se

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
an

d 
th

ei
r 

im
pa

ct
?”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 6
5%

 O
F 

LO
CA

L 
CH

ILD
RE

N
’S 

CE
N

TR
ES

 
AR

E 
JU

DG
ED

 G
OO

D 
OR

 O
UT

ST
AN

DI
N

G 
BY

 O
FS

TE
D.

 N
EA

RL
Y 

HA
LF

 O
F 

2 
YE

AR
 O

LD
S 

DO
N

’T
 G

ET
 T

HE
IR

 H
EA

LT
H 

VI
SIT

OR
 

CH
EC

K-
UP

.

 6
4%

 O
F 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 

AC
HI

EV
ED

 A
 G

OO
D 

LE
VE

L 
OF

 
DE

VE
LO

PM
EN

T 
AT

 E
AR

LY
 Y

EA
RS

 
FO

UN
DA

TI
ON

 S
TA

GE
 IN

 2
01

2 
(L

ON
DO

N
: 5

9%
).

 6
9%

 O
F 

TH
RE

E 
AN

D 
FO

UR
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 IN
 F

RE
E 

ED
UC

AT
IO

N
 A

RE
 IN

 
GO

OD
 O

R 
OU

TS
TA

N
DI

N
G 

SE
TT

IN
GS

 
(L

ON
DO

N
: 7

1%
).

 T
AK

E-
UP

 O
F 

TH
RE

E 
AN

D 
FO

UR
 

YE
AR

 O
LD

 F
RE

E 
ED

UC
AT

IO
N

 IN
 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
IS 

81
%

 (
LO

N
DO

N
: 8

9%
).

48



7

Sh
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
se

cu
re

 n
ur

se
ry

 fo
r m

y 
so

n 
w

he
n 

Iw
an

te
d 

to
 g

o 
ba

ck
 to

 c
ol

le
ge

. W
he

n 
I w

an
te

d 
to

 
st

ar
t u

ni
ve

rs
ity

, m
y 

fa
m

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 w

or
ke

r h
el

pe
d.

 
Ie

xp
ec

t t
o 

gr
ad

ua
te

 s
oo

n 
an

d 
st

ar
t w

or
k.

”

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 t

h
e 

U
K

 w
it

h
 m

an
y 

ex
p

ec
ta

ti
o

n
s

– 
to

 fi
nd

 a
 b

et
te

r 
lif

e.
 A

t 
th

e 
be

gi
nn

in
g,

 I 
w

as
 a

 b
it 

af
ra

id
 a

nd
 w

or
rie

d 
as

 a
 f

or
ei

gn
er

. I
’m

 a
 m

ot
he

r 
of

 
tw

o 
ch

ild
re

n,
 b

ut
 n

ot
 h

av
in

g 
m

y 
ex

te
nd

ed
 f

am
ily

 in
 

th
e 

U
K

 w
as

 d
iffi

cu
lt.

 I 
re

m
em

be
r 

se
ek

in
g 

su
pp

or
t 

an
d 

he
lp

 f
ro

m
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
rs

, G
Ps

, m
id

w
ife

, l
oc

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

, c
om

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 –

 I 
ha

d 
go

od
 a

dv
ic

e 
fr

om
 f

rie
nd

ly
 p

eo
pl

e.
 T

he
 c

rè
ch

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 re

al
ly

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

le
ar

n 
w

ith
ou

t 
st

re
ss

 o
r 

in
te

rr
up

tio
n.

”

“M
y 

fi
rs

t 
ch

ild
 w

as
 b

o
rn

 w
h

en
 I 

w
as

 1
7

– 
I w

as
 a

 s
in

gl
e 

pa
re

nt
. I

 w
as

 u
ps

et
 a

nd
 

em
ba

rr
as

se
d 

qu
ite

 a
 lo

t.
 I 

w
as

 s
hy

 a
nd

 s
ca

re
d 

of
 

us
in

g 
se

rv
ic

es
. I

 t
ho

ug
ht

 p
eo

pl
e 

lo
ok

ed
 d

ow
n 

on
 m

e.
 T

he
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

w
or

ke
r 

at
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

 re
al

ly
 m

ad
e 

a 
bi

g 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 t
o 

m
e.

 N
ow

, 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
in

 s
ch

oo
l –

 I 
w

as
 s

o 
pr

ou
d 

w
he

n 
m

y 
fir

st
 c

hi
ld

 s
ta

rt
ed

 s
ch

oo
l. 

I w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ge

t 
a 

go
od

 e
du

ca
tio

n.
”

“A
ft

er
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

ch
ild

 w
as

 b
o

rn
, I

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fin
d

ou
t 

ab
ou

t 
di

ff
er

en
t 

pl
ay

gr
ou

ps
 a

nd
 b

ab
y 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
m

et
 a

 lo
t 

of
 p

eo
pl

e 
– 

st
af

f,
 o

th
er

 
m

um
s,

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
 w

or
ke

rs
 –

 t
ha

t 
pr

ov
id

ed
 s

up
po

rt
. 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
ce

nt
re

s 
ar

e 
pl

ac
es

 t
o 

le
ar

n 
ab

ou
t 

al
l t

he
 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
ha

t 
ar

e 
pr

ov
id

ed
 –

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
e 

w
he

n 
I w

as
fe

el
in

g 
fr

us
tr

at
ed

 a
nd

 lo
ck

ed
 in

 w
ith

 m
y 

ki
ds

,b
y 

gi
vi

ng
 m

e 
a 

pl
ac

e 
to

 g
o.

 T
he

y’
re

 p
la

ce
s 

w
he

re
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ca

n 
ha

ve
 f

un
 a

nd
 le

ar
n 

in
 

a
sa

fe
 e

nv
iro

nm
en

t.
”

“M
y 

tw
o

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 in

 p
ri

m
ar

y 
sc

h
o

o
l

– 
w

e 
ar

e 
lo

ok
in

g 
at

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 s

ch
oo

l c
ho

ic
es

 f
or

 
m

y 
so

n.
 B

y 
bo

th
 w

or
ki

ng
 p

ar
t-

tim
e,

 m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

an
d 

I s
ha

re
 c

hi
ld

ca
re

 –
 w

e 
w

er
e 

ve
ry

 b
us

y 
at

te
nd

in
g 

al
l t

he
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

, g
ro

up
s,

 a
nd

 t
ra

in
in

g 
av

ai
la

bl
e.

 
M

y 
ou

tr
ea

ch
 w

or
ke

r 
w

as
 s

o 
im

po
rt

an
t 

to
 u

s 
an

d 
be

ca
m

e 
a 

re
al

 f
rie

nd
. S

he
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d 
us

 t
o 

re
al

ly
 

en
ga

ge
 w

ith
 o

ur
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
le

ar
ni

ng
. T

he
 lo

ca
l 

pa
re

nt
 f

or
um

 h
el

pe
d 

us
 g

et
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 p
la

nn
in

g 
ac

tiv
iti

es
 f

or
 p

ar
en

ts
. I

 f
ou

nd
 t

ha
t 

ge
tt

in
g 

ou
t 

an
d 

ab
ou

t 
w

as
 re

al
ly

 h
el

pf
ul

 in
 k

ee
pi

ng
 m

y 
sp

iri
ts

 
up

 w
he

n 
th

in
gs

 g
ot

 t
ou

gh
. I

 w
as

 a
bl

e 
to

 g
o 

to
 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 e

ve
ry

 d
ay

. I
 c

ou
ld

 a
lw

ay
s 

fin
d 

so
m

eo
ne

 
to

 t
al

k 
to

, a
nd

 s
ha

re
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

es
 w

ith
 f

rie
nd

s 
an

d 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
 –

 a
lw

ay
s 

so
m

eo
ne

 t
o 

he
lp

 w
ith

 
ad

vi
ce

. W
ha

t 
re

al
ly

 h
el

pe
d 

w
er

e 
al

l t
he

 S
ur

eS
ta

rt
 

se
rv

ic
es

, b
re

as
tf

ee
di

ng
 c

af
é,

 p
ar

en
t 

an
d 

to
dd

le
r 

gr
ou

ps
, B

oo
ks

ta
rt

, T
in

y 
G

ym
, n

um
er

ou
s 

pa
re

nt
in

g 
co

ur
se

s,
 c

rè
ch

e 
fa

ci
lit

ie
s,

 P
ar

en
ts

 a
s 

Pa
rt

ne
rs

 in
 

Ea
rly

 L
ea

rn
in

g.
 T

he
 n

ex
t 

pa
rt

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

w
ill

 
be

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
y 

ki
ds

 e
nj

oy
 t

he
ir 

sc
ho

ol
 e

xp
er

ie
nc

e;
 

gi
vi

ng
 m

y 
ki

ds
 a

s 
m

an
y 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

 a
s 

po
ss

ib
le

.”

49



8

“I
 r

ef
er

re
d

 M
o

 f
o

llo
w

in
g

 t
h

e 
b

ir
th

 o
f 

h
er

 
ch

ild
.M

o 
ha

s 
de

pr
es

si
on

, w
ith

 a
 h

is
to

ry
 o

f 
dr

ug
 

an
d 

al
co

ho
l a

bu
se

 a
lth

ou
gh

 s
he

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
cl

ea
n 

fo
r 

tw
o 

ye
ar

s;
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
ha

s 
a 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 d

ru
g 

po
ss

es
si

on
 t

oo
. M

o 
ha

s 
m

ov
ed

 f
ou

r 
tim

es
 s

in
ce

 
th

e 
bi

rt
h.

 S
he

’s 
ve

ry
 d

iffi
cu

lt 
to

 e
ng

ag
e,

 a
lth

ou
gh

 
no

t 
w

he
n 

sh
e 

kn
ow

s 
yo

u.
”

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 W

ITH
 C

HA
LL

EN
GIN

G 
CIR

CU
MS

TA
NC

ES
“I

’m
 a

 g
o

o
d

 g
ir

l. 
I j

u
st

 h
av

e 
so

m
e 

tr
o

u
b

le
 a

t 
sc

h
o

o
l. 

I’m
 a

 s
en

si
bl

e 
gi

rl.
 I’

m
 lo

ok
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 g
oi

ng
 o

ut
 o

f 
Su

m
m

er
ho

us
e 

an
d 

ba
ck

 t
o 

m
y 

sc
ho

ol
 n

ow
 I 

ca
n 

be
 s

en
si

bl
e.

 I 
en

de
d 

up
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

a 
kn

ife
; i

t 
w

as
 s

ca
ry

.”
 In

 2
00

8 
I w

as
 b

ro
ug

ht
 t

o 
Lo

nd
on

 t
o 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 k

id
s 

an
d 

co
ok

. I
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 s

tu
dy

 o
r 

go
 b

ac
k 

to
 s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 le
ar

n 
a 

tr
ad

e.
 

I w
as

 e
xc

ite
d 

to
 b

e 
br

ou
gh

t 
to

 L
on

do
n,

 t
hi

nk
in

g 
lif

e 
w

ill
 b

e 
ve

ry
 g

oo
d.

 I 
w

an
te

d 
to

 le
ar

n 
ho

w
 t

o 
re

ad
, w

rit
e 

an
d 

sp
ea

k 
En

gl
is

h.
 I 

le
ft

 t
ho

se
 t

ha
t 

br
ou

gh
t 

m
e 

to
 L

on
do

n,
 a

nd
 m

et
 a

 f
rie

nd
 w

ith
 

w
ho

m
 I 

sh
ar

ed
 m

y 
fe

el
in

gs
 –

 s
he

 e
nc

ou
ra

ge
d 

m
e,

 
an

d 
ad

vi
se

d 
m

e 
to

 le
av

e.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 le

av
e 

be
ca

us
e 

I 
w

as
 b

ei
ng

 m
is

tr
ea

te
d.

 S
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 w

ith
 

su
pp

or
t 

an
d 

ad
vi

ce
 –

 a
nd

 s
or

te
d 

ou
t 

a 
co

lle
ge

 f
or

 
m

e.
 N

ow
 t

he
 b

ig
ge

st
 d

iff
er

en
ce

 is
 b

ei
ng

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 

an
d 

ha
vi

ng
 m

y 
ow

n 
pl

ac
e.

 I 
ha

ve
 f

re
ed

om
 a

nd
 n

o 
lo

ng
er

 s
uf

fe
r 

do
m

es
tic

 a
bu

se
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 s
tu

dy
 h

ar
d 

an
d 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 m

or
e 

En
gl

is
h 

– 
be

 a
bl

e 
to

 u
se

 it
 

w
el

l i
n 

m
y 

da
y 

to
 d

ay
 li

fe
, a

nd
 t

o 
ow

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
ha

ir 
an

d 
be

au
ty

 s
al

on
.”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 O
VE

R 
A 

QU
AR

TE
R 

OF
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

 
TO

 F
AM

ILY
 S

ER
VI

CE
S 

AR
E 

FO
R 

‘B
AS

IC
 C

AR
E’

, S
UC

H 
AS

 M
AT

ER
N

AL
 

DE
PR

ES
SIO

N
 A

N
D 

HE
AL

TH

 N
EA

RL
Y 

A 
TH

IR
D 

OF
 H

EA
LT

H 
VI

SIT
OR

S’ 
CA

SE
S 

AR
E 

FO
R 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 
W

IT
H 

AD
DI

TI
ON

AL
 N

EE
DS

 –
 T

HA
T’

S 
UP

 
TO

 10
0 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 P
ER

 H
EA

LT
H 

VI
SIT

OR

 T
HE

 L
EV

EL
 O

F 
CH

ILD
 P

OV
ER

TY
 IN

 
SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

IS 
W

OR
SE

 T
HA

N
 T

HE
 

EN
GL

AN
D 

AV
ER

AG
E,

 W
IT

H 
AB

OU
T 

A 
TH

IR
D 

OF
 U

N
DE

R 
16

S 
LIV

IN
G 

IN
 

PO
VE

RT
Y

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 D

EA
LIN

G 
W

IT
H 

 
DI

FF
IC

UL
T 

SIT
UA

TI
ON

S, 
SU

CH
 A

S 
DE

PR
ES

SIO
N

 O
R 

SU
BS

TA
N

CE
 M

ISU
SE

.

50



9

“I
 c

am
e 

to
 L

o
n

d
o

n
 f

ro
m

 N
ig

er
ia

 in
 2

00
1 

fo
r 

a 
be

tt
er

 li
fe

. I
 li

ve
 in

 a
n 

ov
er

cr
ow

de
d 

ro
om

 –
 I 

ha
ve

 
3 

ch
ild

re
n.

 M
y 

9 
ye

ar
 o

ld
 h

as
 s

pe
ci

al
 n

ee
ds

. I
’m

 
w

or
rie

d 
ab

ou
t 

m
y 

ch
ild

re
n’

s 
fu

tu
re

 a
nd

 s
af

et
y.

 
Th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
w

he
n 

I g
ot

 
co

un
se

lli
ng

.”

“I
 w

as
 lo

w
, a

n
d

 f
ee

lin
g

 li
ke

 I 
w

as
 w

o
rt

h
le

ss
.

M
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

ha
d 

be
en

 v
io

le
nt

, a
nd

 I 
w

as
 in

 s
ho

ck
. 

M
y 

so
n’

s 
fa

th
er

 w
as

 in
 p

ris
on

. I
 k

ne
w

 I 
w

as
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n,
 a

nd
 d

id
n’

t 
kn

ow
 w

he
re

 t
o 

tu
rn

. I
 e

xp
ec

te
d 

to
 lo

se
 m

y 
so

n,
 a

nd
 w

as
 s

ca
re

d.
 I 

go
t 

he
lp

 a
nd

 
su

pp
or

t.
 T

he
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

w
or

ke
r 

w
as

 lo
ve

ly,
 a

nd
 

lis
te

ne
d.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

tr
us

t 
he

r 
at

 fi
rs

t:
 ‘w

hy
 d

oe
s 

sh
e 

w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
m

e?
’ I

 t
ho

ug
ht

. S
he

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
fe

el
 b

et
te

r 
ab

ou
t 

m
ys

el
f,

 a
nd

 t
ha

t 
I c

ou
ld

 d
o 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 w

ith
 m

y 
lif

e 
– 

I w
as

 a
 g

oo
d 

m
um

 t
o 

m
y 

so
n.

 S
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
w

ith
 f

or
m

s 
an

d 
ad

vi
ce

. S
om

et
im

es
 I 

w
ou

ld
 ju

st
 c

ry
 a

nd
 t

al
k 

– 
th

ey
 

to
ld

 m
e 

I w
as

 O
K

, a
nd

 w
ou

ld
 c

om
e 

th
ou

gh
. I

 h
av

e 
ju

st
 fi

ni
sh

ed
 m

y 
vo

lu
nt

ee
r 

tr
ai

ni
ng

 –
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 h
el

p 
ot

he
r 

m
ot

he
rs

 w
ho

 a
re

 a
lo

ne
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 g
iv

e 
ba

ck
 

to
 t

he
 c

om
m

un
ity

. I
 f

ee
l m

uc
h 

ha
pp

ie
r 

an
d 

ha
ve

 
m

ad
e 

fr
ie

nd
s 

on
 t

he
 c

ou
rs

e.
”

“I
 a

m
 n

o
w

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

as
 a

n
 a

sy
lu

m
-s

ee
ke

r
– 

m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

is
 t

he
 m

ai
n 

ap
pl

ic
an

t,
 w

ith
 m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
th

re
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

de
pe

nd
an

ts
. T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
he

re
 a

re
 

fr
ie

nd
ly

 –
 t

he
y 

lo
ve

 c
hi

ld
re

n,
 a

s 
I d

o.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

 is
 v

er
y 

go
od

 f
or

 t
he

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
pa

re
nt

s 
– 

I l
ik

e 
to

 b
e 

th
er

e 
w

ith
 t

he
m

. F
am

ily
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
se

rv
ic

e 
he

lp
s 

a 
lo

t.
 T

he
 p

la
yg

ro
up

 h
el

ps
 m

e 
le

ar
n 

ab
ou

t 
th

in
gs

 h
er

e.
 I 

tr
y 

no
t 

to
 le

t 
ou

r 
si

tu
at

io
n 

de
pr

es
s 

th
e 

ki
ds

, b
ut

 I 
ho

pe
 t

o 
re

m
ai

n 
in

 t
he

 U
K

.”

“M
y 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

 s
ta

rt
ed

 w
h

en
 I 

w
as

 1
4,

be
ca

m
e 

w
or

se
 w

he
n 

I h
ad

 m
y 

fir
st

 s
on

. R
ef

er
re

d 
m

ys
el

f 
to

 N
ew

pi
n,

 t
he

y’
ve

 h
el

pe
d 

a 
lo

t.
 W

he
n 

I g
ot

 
ar

re
st

ed
 f

or
 a

ss
au

lt 
in

 2
01

0 
I k

ne
w

 m
y 

ag
gr

es
si

on
 

w
as

 o
ut

 o
f 

co
nt

ro
l. 

I’v
e 

a 
‘t

ea
m

 a
ro

un
d 

th
e 

fa
m

ily
’ 

pl
an

 a
t 

th
e 

m
om

en
t 

– 
it 

he
lp

s 
– 

an
d 

am
 a

tt
en

di
ng

 
a 

fa
m

ily
 E

ng
lis

h 
co

ur
se

. I
’v

e 
go

t 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

no
w

 
w

ith
 m

y 
el

de
st

 s
on

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
, h

e 
w

on
’t 

at
te

nd
, h

as
 

be
en

 e
xc

lu
de

d 
th

re
e 

tim
es

, a
nd

 is
 e

m
ot

io
na

lly
 h

ar
d 

to
 d

ea
l w

ith
.”

“T
h

e 
m

ea
su

re
 o

f 
su

cc
es

s 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
re

du
ct

io
n 

in
 s

er
io

us
 y

ou
th

 c
rim

e,
 a

s 
th

is
 c

an
 o

nl
y 

be
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

w
he

n 
th

e 
w

ho
le

 f
am

ily
, i

nc
lu

di
ng

 p
ar

en
tin

g 
ab

ili
ty

, 
is

 c
on

si
de

re
d.

”

51



10

“I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 le
as

t 
th

re
e 

fi
gh

ts
 a

 w
ee

k
at

 p
rim

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
. I

 h
ad

 p
oo

r h
an

dw
rit

in
g,

 te
rr

ib
le

 
sp

el
lin

g,
 b

ad
 a

tt
itu

de
, a

lw
ay

s 
la

te
, s

o 
I g

ot
 k

ic
ke

d 
ou

t. 
M

y 
da

d 
do

es
n’

t c
ar

e 
ab

ou
t m

e.
 M

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r 
tr

ie
d 

to
 g

et
 m

e 
ba

ck
 in

 s
ch

oo
l, 

bu
t I

 e
nd

ed
 u

p 
in

 th
e 

pu
pi

l r
ef

er
ra

l u
ni

t. 
I d

ro
pp

ed
 o

ut
, n

ee
de

d 
to

 m
ak

e 
m

on
ey

, w
as

 d
ea

lin
g 

an
d 

go
t r

ef
er

ra
l o

rd
er

. G
ot

 in
 

w
ith

 th
e 

w
ro

ng
 c

ro
w

d,
 I 

fe
lt 

un
to

uc
ha

bl
e 

– 
ge

tt
in

g 
a 

bu
zz

 fr
om

 a
ll 

th
e 

ac
tiv

iti
es

. I
’m

 lo
ok

in
g 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 

no
w

. I
’m

 n
ot

 a
 b

ad
 k

id
. I

 w
an

t i
t t

o 
be

 d
iff

er
en

t.”
 

“I
 d

id
n’

t 
do

 w
el

l a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 a

s 
m

os
t p

eo
pl

e 
do

n’
t 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 d

ys
ph

as
ia

. M
y 

yo
ut

h 
w

or
ke

r i
s 

br
ill

ia
nt

 
th

ou
gh

 a
nd

 g
av

e 
m

e 
po

sit
iv

e 
co

ns
tr

uc
tiv

e 
ad

vi
ce

. 
I’m

 a
t c

ol
le

ge
 n

ow
, t

ea
ch

er
s 

ar
e 

su
pp

or
tiv

e 
an

d 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

ge
t m

y 
G

C
SE

s 
an

d 
A

-le
ve

ls.
 T

he
 w

or
k 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
an

d 
qu

al
ifi

ca
tio

ns
 I’

ve
 n

ow
 g

ot
 w

ill
 h

el
p 

m
e 

fin
d 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t t

ha
t w

ill
 g

iv
e 

m
e 

sa
tis

fa
ct

io
n.

” 

“I
n

 s
ch

o
o

l I
 w

o
u

ld
 a

ct
 li

ke
 a

 f
o

o
l b

ec
au

se
 

I t
ho

ug
ht

 I 
ne

ed
ed

 t
o 

be
 c

oo
l. 

So
 I 

en
de

d 
up

 
he

re
; b

ro
ug

ht
 f

ea
r 

an
d 

te
ar

s 
to

 m
y 

m
um

’s 
ey

es
. 

Ev
er

yd
ay

 I 
tr

y.
” 

“T
he

 b
ig

ge
st

 d
if

fe
re

nc
e 

w
as

 b
ei

ng
 a

bl
e 

to
 g

o
 

to
 t

he
 y

ou
th

 c
en

tr
e 

an
d 

cl
ea

r m
y 

m
in

d 
an

d 
ha

ve
 a

 
pl

ac
e 

to
 re

la
x 

an
d 

be
 h

ap
py

.”
 

“I
 a

m
 s

tu
dy

in
g 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 f

or
 a

 B
TE

C.
 I 

pl
ay

 
A

m
er

ic
an

 fo
ot

ba
ll,

 ju
st

 fi
ni

sh
ed

 a
s 

a 
ju

ni
or

, s
ta

rt
in

g 
se

ni
or

 s
oo

n.
 M

y 
in

flu
en

ce
s 

ar
e 

m
y 

m
ot

he
r, 

be
st

 
fr

ie
nd

, c
lo

se
 fr

ie
nd

s,
 g

irl
fr

ie
nd

, t
ea

ch
er

s,
 c

oa
ch

es
, 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

rs
. M

om
 w

en
t t

o 
pr

iso
n 

so
 I 

w
as

 
le

ft
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
to

 s
or

t o
ut

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

fo
r m

ys
el

f 
w

ith
ou

t h
av

in
g 

an
yw

he
re

 to
 li

ve
 p

ro
pe

rly
. F

rie
nd

s 
an

d 
m

y 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
r h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
st

ay
 p

os
iti

ve
. M

y 
ex

pe
ct

at
io

ns
 w

er
e 

a 
lit

tle
 n

on
 e

xi
st

en
t a

t t
he

 s
ta

rt
 o

f 
m

y 
jo

ur
ne

y 
bu

t a
 lo

t h
as

 c
ha

ng
ed

 w
ith

 th
e 

he
lp

 o
f 

m
y 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

r a
nd

 th
e 

yo
ut

h 
se

rv
ic

es
.”

 

“T
he

 p
up

il 
pr

em
iu

m
 is

 a
va

ila
bl

e 
fo

r c
hi

ld
re

n 
no

t r
ea

ch
in

g 
[a

tt
ai

nm
en

t] 
ta

rg
et

s 
– 

th
e 

po
te

nt
ia

l i
s 

th
er

e,
 s

ch
oo

ls 
ha

ve
 to

 p
ub

lis
h 

w
ha

t s
up

po
rt

 th
ey

 
of

fe
r c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 s
pe

ci
al

 e
du

ca
tio

na
l n

ee
ds

, a
nd

 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

ea
rly

 h
el

p 
se

rv
ic

es
 a

va
ila

bl
e.

 It
’s 

ab
ou

t 
m

ak
in

g 
be

tt
er

 u
se

 o
f s

er
vi

ce
s.

” 

“T
ro

u
b

le
d

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

re
 o

ft
en

 e
xc

lu
d

ed
.

Th
er

e 
ne

ed
s 

to
 b

e 
ea

rly
 in

te
rv

en
tio

n 
fr

om
 t

he
 

fir
st

 e
xc

lu
si

on
 –

 t
he

re
 n

ee
ds

 t
o 

be
 a

 ‘t
oo

lk
it’

 f
or

 
de

al
in

g 
w

ith
 t

ha
t 

ch
ild

, l
oo

ki
ng

 a
t 

th
e 

co
nt

ex
t 

ar
ou

nd
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

.”
 

BE
ST

 S
TA

RT
 F

OR
 A

DO
LE

SC
EN

TS
 G

RO
WI

NG
 U

P

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 SE
LE

CT
IO

N
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

N
D 

YO
UN

G 
PE

OP
LE

 M
OV

IN
G 

TO
W

AR
DS

 A
DU

LT
HO

OD
.

52



11

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

st
ar

te
d 

a 
ye

ar
 a

go
 w

he
n 

I l
ef

t 
m

y 
pa

re
nt

’s
 h

ou
se

 a
t 

17
. I

 fo
un

d 
it 

di
ffi

cu
lt 

to
 li

ve
 

w
ith

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

an
d 

th
ei

r s
tr

ic
t w

ay
s 

– 
I d

id
n’

t f
ee

l 
sa

fe
 a

nd
 s

ec
ur

e.
 I 

go
t a

 s
tu

di
o 

fla
t a

nd
 h

ad
 to

 d
o 

lif
e 

on
 m

y 
ow

n.
 S

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
a 

gr
ea

t d
ea

l. 
Th

ey
 h

av
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 m
e 

w
ith

 in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

th
at

 I 
ne

ed
ed

. I
 h

ad
 a

n 
ad

vi
so

r w
ho

 w
as

 a
lw

ay
s 

by
 m

y 
sid

e.
 T

he
y 

w
er

e 
en

co
ur

ag
in

g 
m

e 
to

 s
tu

dy
 

an
d 

fin
ish

 m
y 

ed
uc

at
io

n.
 I 

th
in

k 
I w

as
 lu

ck
y 

to
 

ha
ve

 p
eo

pl
e 

to
 g

ui
de

 m
e 

al
on

g 
th

e 
w

ay
. T

he
 b

it 
Ir

em
em

be
r m

os
t i

s 
th

e 
da

y 
I l

ef
t m

y 
pa

re
nt

’s 
ho

us
e.

 
I a

m
 s

til
l n

ot
 s

ur
e 

th
at

 I 
m

ad
e 

th
e 

rig
ht

 d
ec

isi
on

 a
nd

 
so

m
et

im
es

 I 
w

on
de

r h
ow

 m
y 

lif
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
if 

I h
ad

 
st

ay
ed

 a
t h

om
e.

 B
ut

, I
 w

an
te

d 
to

 b
e 

th
e 

on
e 

w
ho

 
m

ad
e 

de
ci

sio
ns

 a
bo

ut
 m

y 
lif

e.
 I 

am
 n

ot
 re

al
ly

 h
ap

py
 

w
ith

 th
e 

w
ay

 I 
am

 –
 I 

ha
ve

 a
 w

ay
 to

 g
o 

ye
t. 

I r
ea

lly
 

m
iss

 m
y 

br
ot

he
rs

 a
nd

 s
ist

er
s.

 I 
w

an
t t

o 
st

ar
t t

hi
nk

in
g 

ah
ea

d 
an

d 
be

in
g 

re
sp

on
sib

le
 fo

r m
y 

ac
tio

ns
. T

o 
ge

t 
th

er
e 

I’d
 li

ke
 to

 fi
nd

 a
 ro

le
 m

od
el

 a
nd

 a
 m

iss
io

n 
in

 li
fe

. I
 n

ee
d 

to
 s

ta
rt

 to
 tr

us
t p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
to

 m
ak

e 
co

nt
ac

t w
ith

 th
e 

rig
ht

 p
eo

pl
e.

 I 
w

ill
 g

o 
ba

ck
 to

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

an
d 

sh
ow

 th
em

 th
at

 I 
am

 s
til

l t
he

ir 
da

ug
ht

er
 

an
d 

th
at

 th
ey

 d
id

n’
t w

as
te

 a
ll 

th
ei

r e
ff

or
ts

 o
n 

m
e.

 
Iw

an
t t

he
m

 to
 b

e 
pr

ou
d 

of
 m

e.
” 

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

be
ga

n 
in

 y
ea

r 
7 

at
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

.I
 a

m
 n

ow
 in

 y
ea

r 1
1.

 I 
ha

ve
 p

ro
bl

em
s 

in
 m

at
hs

 a
nd

 I’
m

 e
as

ily
 d

ist
ra

ct
ed

. M
y 

su
pp

or
t 

te
ac

he
rs

 h
av

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e;

 s
om

e 
ot

he
r s

tu
de

nt
s 

ha
ve

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
o.

 T
he

y 
he

lp
 m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
sc

ho
ol

w
or

k,
 

an
d 

to
 s

ta
y 

fo
cu

se
d.

 I 
us

ed
 to

 g
et

 in
 tr

ou
bl

e 
in

 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 a
t h

om
e.

 I 
fe

lt 
an

gr
y,

 d
ep

re
ss

ed
 a

nd
 fe

d 
up

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 lo
t o

f fi
gh

ts
. T

he
 th

in
g 

th
at

 
ha

s 
m

ad
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t d

iff
er

en
ce

 to
 m

e 
w

as
 g

ro
w

in
g 

up
 a

nd
 le

ar
ni

ng
 to

 li
st

en
 m

or
e.

 I 
w

an
t t

o 
pl

an
 fo

r 
m

y 
fu

tu
re

, w
or

k 
ha

rd
 a

nd
 a

pp
ly

 to
 g

o 
to

 c
ol

le
ge

 
– 

I w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 p
ilo

t o
r w

or
k 

in
 a

 li
br

ar
y.

” 

“W
he

n 
I m

ov
ed

 h
ou

se
 t

o 
a 

di
ff

er
en

t 
ar

ea
,

Ih
ad

 to
 m

ak
e 

ne
w

 fr
ie

nd
s.

 I 
am

 in
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 s
ch

oo
l 

no
w

 in
 y

ea
r 9

. I
 a

m
 c

ho
os

in
g 

m
y 

op
tio

ns
 fo

r G
C

SE
s.

 
In

 p
rim

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
 I 

ha
d 

a 
gr

ea
t t

im
e,

 b
ut

 th
en

 a
t 

se
co

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 s
om

e 
tr

ie
d 

to
 p

ut
 m

e 
do

w
n 

an
d 

sp
re

ad
 ru

m
ou

rs
. I

 fe
lt 

lik
e 

I w
as

n’
t w

an
te

d.
 M

y 
m

um
 a

nd
 te

ac
he

rs
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 b
ul

lie
d.

 
Th

ey
 a

re
 h

el
pi

ng
 m

e 
to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 th
es

e 
th

in
gs

. 
Bu

t, 
I n

ee
d 

to
 fo

cu
s 

on
 s

ch
oo

l s
o 

th
at

 I 
ca

n 
pa

ss
 a

ll 
m

y 
G

C
SE

s.
 I 

w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 m
id

w
ife

 li
ke

 m
y 

au
nt

. I
f 

so
m

eo
ne

 e
lse

 w
as

 b
ei

ng
 b

ul
lie

d 
I w

ou
ld

 te
ll 

th
em

 
to

te
ll 

th
ei

r f
am

ily
 a

nd
 th

ei
r t

ea
ch

er
s 

an
d 

no
t t

o 
ke

ep
 it

 b
ot

tle
d 

up
 in

sid
e.

“ 

“I
 h

av
e 

go
t 

m
y 

G
C

SE
s,

 a
nd

 I’
m

 a
t t

he
 b

eg
in

ni
ng

 
of

 m
y 

A
S 

Le
ve

ls.
 G

oi
ng

 fr
om

 y
ea

r 1
1 

at
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

 to
 y

ea
r 1

2 
ha

s 
be

en
 d

au
nt

in
g,

 b
ut

 e
xc

iti
ng

. 
M

y 
go

al
 is

 to
 b

ec
om

e 
an

 a
rc

hi
te

ct
. I

 d
id

 w
or

k 
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

in
 a

n 
ar

ch
ite

ct
’s 

fir
m

 a
nd

 it
 w

as
 g

oo
d 

to
ex

pe
rie

nc
e 

th
e 

lif
e 

of
 a

n 
ar

ch
ite

ct
. I

t h
as

 g
iv

en
 

m
e 

m
ot

iv
at

io
n 

to
 s

ta
y 

fo
cu

se
d 

an
d 

w
or

k 
ha

rd
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 N
EA

RL
Y 

75
%

 O
F 

YO
UN

G 
OF

FE
N

DE
RS

 
AR

E 
KN

OW
N

 T
O 

CH
ILD

RE
N

’S 
SO

CI
AL

 
CA

RE
, A

N
D 

A 
CH

ILD
 W

IT
H 

A 
FI

XE
D 

TE
RM

 E
XC

LU
SIO

N
 IS

 M
OR

E 
LIK

EL
Y 

TO
 

BE
 K

N
OW

N
 T

O 
SO

CI
AL

 C
AR

E 
TH

AN
 A

 
CH

ILD
 W

HO
 H

AS
 B

EE
N

 P
ER

M
AN

EN
TL

Y 
EX

CL
UD

ED

 O
VE

R 
90

%
 O

F 
EM

ER
GE

N
CY

 C
HI

LD
 

PR
OT

EC
TI

ON
 IN

VE
ST

IG
AT

IO
N

S 
FO

R 
15

 
TO

 17
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 E
N

D 
IN

 N
O 

FU
RT

HE
R 

AC
TI

ON
 B

EI
N

G 
TA

KE
N

53



12

“W
h

en
 I 

lo
st

 m
y 

jo
b

, S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

Yo
ut

h 
Se

rv
ic

es
 

ga
ve

 m
e 

m
ot

iv
at

io
n 

an
d 

no
w

 I’
m

 in
 m

y 
fir

st
 y

ea
r 

at
 u

ni
ve

rs
ity

. T
he

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ho

 h
av

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

th
e 

m
os

t 
ar

e:
 m

y 
yo

ut
h 

w
or

ke
r 

(lo
ve

 h
er

), 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r, 
m

y 
br

ot
he

rs
, a

nd
 m

y 
na

nn
y.

 M
y 

yo
ut

h 
w

or
ke

r 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
 p

re
pa

re
 f

or
 u

ni
ve

rs
ity

. M
y 

D
ad

 h
as

 
al

so
 b

ee
n 

a 
bi

g 
in

sp
ira

tio
n.

 I 
re

m
em

be
r 

he
 g

av
e 

m
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t 

hu
g 

w
he

n 
I g

ot
 in

 t
o 

un
i. 

I e
xp

ec
t 

th
at

 
I’m

 g
oi

ng
 t

o 
ha

ve
 lo

ts
 o

f 
co

ur
se

 w
or

k 
an

d 
re

vi
si

on
 

an
d 

le
ss

 t
im

e 
to

 s
ee

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s,

 b
ut

 I 
al

so
 e

xp
ec

t 
to

 m
ak

e 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r 
pr

ou
d 

an
d 

m
ak

e 
m

y 
yo

ut
h 

w
or

ke
r 

sm
ile

.”
 

“I
 w

as
 a

t 
m

y 
fr

ie
nd

’s
 h

ou
se

 w
he

n 
I fi

rs
t 

sa
w

 
m

y 
gi

rl
fr

ie
nd

. A
 fe

w
 w

ee
ks

 la
te

r w
e 

st
ar

te
d 

se
ei

ng
 

ea
ch

 o
th

er
 a

nd
 a

 fe
w

 w
ee

ks
 a

ft
er

 th
at

 w
e 

fo
un

d 
ou

t w
e 

w
er

e 
go

in
g 

to
 b

e 
a 

fa
m

ily
. A

t t
he

 m
om

en
t 

I’m
 d

oi
ng

 a
 c

la
ss

 w
ith

 m
y 

gi
rlf

rie
nd

 to
 h

el
p 

us
 to

 
be

 a
 g

oo
d 

m
um

 a
nd

 d
ad

. A
 h

ig
h 

is 
ha

vi
ng

 a
 fa

m
ily

 
to

 lo
ok

 fo
rw

ar
d 

to
; I

 w
an

t t
o 

be
 a

 g
oo

d 
fa

th
er

 a
nd

 
bo

yf
rie

nd
. S

om
et

im
es

 I 
w

or
ry

 w
he

th
er

 I’
ll 

be
 a

 g
oo

d 
en

ou
gh

 fa
th

er
, b

ut
 m

y 
su

pp
or

t w
or

ke
r h

el
ps

 m
e 

an
d 

gi
ve

s 
m

e 
ad

vi
ce

. “
 

“M
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

st
ar

te
d 

w
he

n 
I c

am
e 

to
 E

ng
la

nd
in

 2
00

4 
be

ca
us

e 
of

 th
e 

ci
vi

l w
ar

 in
 S

om
al

ia
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

kn
ow

 a
ny

 E
ng

lis
h 

an
d 

I w
as

n’
t s

ur
e 

ho
w

 I 
w

ou
ld

 
co

pe
. I

 w
en

t t
o 

co
lle

ge
 to

 le
ar

n 
En

gl
ish

 s
o 

th
at

 I 
co

ul
d 

ta
lk

 to
 p

eo
pl

e 
– 

ta
lk

in
g 

to
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ith
ou

t a
n 

in
te

rp
re

te
r w

as
 a

 b
ig

 a
ch

ie
ve

m
en

t. 
M

y 
ca

re
 w

or
ke

r 
ha

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

al
on

g 
th

e 
w

ay
 –

 h
el

pi
ng

 m
e 

to
 e

nr
ol

 
w

ith
 th

e 
lib

ra
ry

 a
nd

 to
 u

se
 th

e 
le

isu
re

 c
en

tr
e.

 T
he

 
te

ac
he

rs
 a

t c
ol

le
ge

 h
av

e 
en

co
ur

ag
ed

 m
e 

to
 le

ar
n 

in
 o

rd
er

 fo
r m

e 
to

 h
av

e 
a 

be
tt

er
 li

fe
 in

 th
e 

fu
tu

re
. 

Iw
an

t t
o 

do
 a

n 
N

V
Q

 L
ev

el
 2

 in
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e 
so

 th
at

 
Ic

an
 w

or
k 

as
 a

 c
ar

er
.”

 

“W
h

en
 I 

w
as

 e
ig

h
t 

ye
ar

s 
o

ld
 m

y 
p

ar
en

ts
 

b
ro

ke
 u

p
. N

ot
 k

no
w

in
g 

w
hy

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

br
ok

e 
up

 w
as

 h
ar

d 
– 

I f
el

t 
it 

w
as

 m
y 

fa
ul

t.
 M

y 
pa

re
nt

s 
ar

gu
in

g 
w

ith
 e

ac
h 

ot
he

r 
be

fo
re

 t
he

y 
sp

lit
 u

p 
w

as
 

ba
d.

 N
ow

 m
y 

pa
re

nt
s 

ar
e 

ha
pp

y 
w

ith
 o

th
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

in
st

ea
d 

of
 b

ei
ng

 u
nh

ap
py

 t
og

et
he

r. 
M

y 
m

um
 h

as
 

a 
bo

yf
rie

nd
 w

ho
 I 

ge
t 

al
on

g 
w

ith
, a

s 
w

el
l a

s 
hi

s 
so

n.
 M

y 
fa

th
er

 h
as

 a
 g

irl
fr

ie
nd

 a
nd

 s
he

 h
as

 2
 k

id
s 

w
ho

 I 
ge

t 
al

on
g 

w
el

l w
ith

 t
oo

. R
ec

en
tly

 m
y 

lit
tle

 
ha

lf 
br

ot
he

r 
w

as
 b

or
n.

 M
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
 h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

th
at

 I 
am

 lu
ck

y 
to

 s
til

l 
se

e 
bo

th
 p

ar
en

ts
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
ga

m
e 

de
ve

lo
pe

r 
be

ca
us

e 
I l

ik
e 

cr
ea

tin
g 

th
in

gs
 o

n 
a 

co
m

pu
te

r 
be

ca
us

e 
I l

ik
e 

ho
w

 g
am

es
 lo

ok
 w

he
n 

th
ey

 a
re

 
pu

t
to

ge
th

er
 a

nd
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

a 
pa

rt
 o

f 
th

at
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 2
01

0/
11 

PR
IM

AR
Y 

ST
UD

EN
TS

: 1
7,

87
3

 2
01

0/
11 

SE
CO

N
DA

RY
 S

TU
DE

N
TS

: 1
2,

48
5

 N
O.

 O
F 

SC
HO

OL
S:

› 
PR

IM
AR

Y 
– 

70
› 

SE
CO

N
DA

RY
 –

 16
› 

SP
EC

IA
L 

– 
9

› 
IN

DE
PE

N
DE

N
T 

– 
9

› 
IN

DE
PE

N
DE

N
T 

SP
EC

IA
L 

– 
1

 5
8.

8%
 O

F 
SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

CH
ILD

RE
N

  
GO

T 
5+

 A
*-

C 
GC

SE
 A

N
D 

EQ
UI

VA
LE

N
T 

RE
SU

LT
S 

IN
 2

01
2

54



13

“M
y 

d
re

am
 is

 t
o

 b
e 

a 
m

u
si

c 
p

ro
d

u
ce

r. 
M

y 
m

um
 

ha
s 

al
w

ay
s 

su
pp

or
te

d 
m

e 
by

 c
om

m
en

tin
g 

on
 t

he
 

tr
ac

ks
 I 

m
ak

e.
 I 

am
 le

ar
ni

ng
 h

ow
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

m
us

ic
 

at
 c

ol
le

ge
 a

nd
 a

t 
Be

de
 Y

ou
th

 C
lu

b 
us

in
g 

th
ei

r 
M

ac
. M

y 
tu

to
rs

 a
t 

co
lle

ge
 h

av
e 

ta
ug

ht
 m

e 
ho

w
 t

o 
pr

od
uc

e 
be

at
s.

 I 
am

 h
op

in
g 

to
 g

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

to
 g

et
 

a 
BT

EC
 q

ua
lifi

ca
tio

n.
” 

 

“I
 li

ve
 w

it
h 

m
y 

m
ot

he
r 

an
d 

br
ot

he
r. 

I fi
nd

 m
ys

el
f 

in
 s

itu
at

io
ns

 b
ec

au
se

 o
f m

y 
br

ot
he

r. 
I a

lw
ay

s 
st

ic
k 

up
 fo

r h
im

, b
ut

 it
 is

n’
t a

lw
ay

s 
th

e 
rig

ht
 th

in
g 

to
 d

o.
 

I g
ot

 th
ro

w
n 

ou
t o

f s
ch

oo
l b

ec
au

se
 I 

di
dn

’t 
lis

te
n.

 
Ic

ou
ld

 g
o 

to
 p

ris
on

 a
nd

 li
ve

 th
e 

th
ug

 li
fe

st
yl

e,
 

or
 g

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

be
co

m
e 

a 
bu

sin
es

s 
m

an
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 m
ov

e 
ou

t o
f L

on
do

n 
to

 g
et

 a
w

ay
 fr

om
 a

ll 
th

e 
ba

dn
es

s.
 B

ad
 m

em
or

ie
s 

m
ak

e 
m

e 
an

gr
y 

an
d 

up
se

t 
– 

I d
on

’t 
kn

ow
 h

ow
 to

 d
ea

l w
ith

 th
em

, e
sp

ec
ia

lly
 

w
he

n 
I a

m
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n.
 Y

ou
 h

av
e 

to
 k

ee
p 

yo
ur

se
lf 

bu
sy

 s
o 

yo
u 

do
n’

t e
nd

 u
p 

th
in

ki
ng

 a
bo

ut
 s

tu
ff

 –
 b

ut
 

th
is 

ca
n 

m
ea

n 
yo

u 
ar

e 
do

in
g 

th
e 

w
ro

ng
 th

in
g.

” 

“I
 a

m
 in

 t
h

e 
p

u
p

il 
re

fe
rr

al
 u

n
it

. I
 w

as
 fi

gh
tin

g 
a 

lo
t 

in
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l. 
O

th
er

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
er

e 
al

w
ay

s 
st

ar
tin

g 
tr

ou
bl

e 
w

ith
 m

e.
 T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
he

re
 

ha
ve

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

a 
lo

t.
 I 

fe
el

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 s

ad
. I

 a
m

 
le

ar
ni

ng
 h

ow
 t

o 
co

nt
ro

l m
y 

te
m

pe
r 

so
 t

ha
t 

I c
an

 
be

 g
oo

d 
an

d 
do

 w
ha

t 
yo

u’
re

 s
up

po
se

d 
to

 d
o 

in
 le

ss
on

s.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 le
av

e 
he

re
 a

nd
 g

o 
ba

ck
 t

o 
sc

ho
ol

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 fi

ni
sh

 a
nd

 g
et

 g
oo

d 
G

C
SE

s.
” 

55



1414

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

Ev
er

y 
ch

ild
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
n 

sh
ou

ld
 g

ro
w

 u
p 

in
 a

 s
af

e,
 lo

vi
ng

 a
nd

 s
ta

bl
e 

ho
m

e 
– 

an
d 

it 
is

 
ev

er
yo

ne
’s 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
to

 m
ak

e 
su

re
 t

he
y 

do
. 

So
 w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

fa
m

ili
es

 a
nd

 c
om

m
un

iti
es

 t
o 

ke
ep

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
sa

fe
, a

nd
 h

el
p 

th
em

 le
ad

 h
ap

py
, h

ea
lth

y 
an

d 
sa

fe
 li

ve
s.

 

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

to
 m

ak
e 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
ou

r 
m

os
t 

vu
ln

er
ab

le
 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 re

ce
iv

e 
tim

el
y,

 
pu

rp
os

ef
ul

 s
up

po
rt

 t
ha

t 
br

in
gs

 s
af

e,
 la

st
in

g 
an

d 
po

si
tiv

e 
ch

an
ge

 –
 p

ro
vi

di
ng

 s
af

et
y 

an
d 

st
ab

ili
ty

 
w

hi
ch

 m
ig

ht
 b

e 
ot

he
rw

is
e 

m
is

si
ng

.
W

h
at

 y
o

u
 c

an
 e

xp
ec

t 
to

 c
h

an
g

e 
th

ro
u

g
h

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

?

M
or

e 
ef

fe
ct

iv
e 

he
lp

 f
or

 p
ar

en
ts

 s
tr

ug
gl

in
g 

to
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
re

n

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 li

vi
ng

 in
 a

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

an
d 

st
ab

le
 h

om
e

M
or

e 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s 

an
d 

ch
ild

re
n 

be
in

g 
ad

op
te

d

Vu
ln

er
ab

le
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 s
uc

ce
ed

in
g 

be
tt

er
 

at
 s

ch
oo

l

56



15

“T
h

e 
A

ko
n

d
i f

am
ily

 is
 w

el
l k

n
o

w
n

: t
he

 m
ot

he
r 

w
as

 a
 t

ee
na

ge
 p

ar
en

t,
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
an

 a
dd

ic
t.

 T
hr

ee
 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
er

e 
ad

op
te

d 
at

 b
irt

h,
 a

nd
 t

he
re

 a
re

 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
s 

fo
r 

th
e 

ot
he

r 
si

x.
 T

he
re

’s 
a 

hi
st

or
y 

of
 d

om
es

tic
 a

bu
se

, s
ho

p 
lif

tin
g,

 a
nt

i-
so

ci
al

 b
eh

av
io

ur
, a

nd
 re

nt
 a

rr
ea

rs
. W

he
n 

th
e 

m
um

 is
 p

re
gn

an
t 

ag
ai

n,
 a

 s
ec

tio
n 

47
 le

ad
s 

to
 a

 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
 f

or
 t

he
 u

nb
or

n 
ch

ild
. T

hi
ng

s 
de

te
rio

ra
te

 f
ur

th
er

: t
he

 e
ld

es
t 

so
n 

is
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

 
w

ith
 t

he
 p

ol
ic

e,
 t

he
 f

at
he

r 
to

o 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

rr
es

te
d 

fo
r 

dr
ug

s,
 t

he
 o

th
er

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ar

e 
no

t 
at

te
nd

in
g 

sc
ho

ol
, t

he
 e

ld
es

t 
so

n 
go

es
 m

is
si

ng
, a

nd
 t

he
re

 a
re

 
co

nc
er

ns
 a

bo
ut

 t
he

 p
oo

r 
he

al
th

 o
f 

th
e 

yo
un

ge
r 

ch
ild

re
n.

 T
he

 e
ld

es
t 

da
ug

ht
er

 is
 n

ow
 p

re
gn

an
t.

”

“C
o

m
p

le
x 

fa
m

ili
es

 n
ee

d
 m

o
re

 b
es

p
o

ke
 

so
lu

ti
o

n
s 

to
 t

he
ir 

ne
ed

s.
 If

 w
e 

em
po

w
er

 
pr

ac
tit

io
ne

rs
, w

e 
ne

ed
 t

o 
em

po
w

er
 t

he
 re

so
ur

ce
s 

an
d 

ha
ve

 t
he

 r
ig

ht
 t

oo
ls

 in
 p

la
ce

.”
 

“I
 h

ad
 m

y 
d

au
g

h
te

r 
at

 1
7 

an
d 

w
an

te
d 

to
 g

o 
in

to
 re

ha
b 

w
ith

 h
er

. T
hi

s 
w

as
n’

t 
al

lo
w

ed
 s

o 
I l

os
t 

cu
st

od
y.

 A
cc

es
si

ng
 f

un
di

ng
 t

o 
go

 in
to

 re
ha

b 
a 

fe
w

 y
ea

rs
 a

go
 re

al
ly

 s
or

te
d 

m
e 

ou
t;

 a
ls

o 
fu

nd
in

g 
fo

r 
de

to
x;

 I 
co

ul
dn

’t 
ha

ve
 t

ur
ne

d 
m

y 
lif

e 
ar

ou
nd

 
w

ith
ou

t 
th

at
. I

 w
as

 a
 t

hi
ef

 a
nd

 a
n 

ad
di

ct
 a

nd
 

I t
ho

ug
ht

 t
ha

t 
w

or
ki

ng
 w

as
 a

 m
ug

’s 
ga

m
e.

 
Bu

t 
no

w
 I 

ca
n 

gi
ve

 m
ys

el
f 

pe
rm

is
si

on
 t

o 
be

 a
 

pe
rs

on
 w

ho
 c

an
 t

ry
 a

nd
 re

in
ve

nt
. I

 n
ow

 h
av

e 
a 

cl
os

e 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 m

y 
ad

ul
t 

da
ug

ht
er

. I
’m

 
a 

gr
an

dm
a 

no
w

 t
oo

. I
 h

av
e 

a 
ne

w
 b

oy
fr

ie
nd

, 
an

d 
m

ay
 h

av
e 

m
ar

ria
ge

 in
 m

y 
fu

tu
re

 a
nd

 s
om

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ec
ur

ity
.”

 

“S
o

ci
al

 w
o

rk
er

s 
n

ee
d

 t
h

e 
to

o
ls

 a
n

d
 t

ra
in

in
g

to
 b

e 
cl

ea
re

r 
an

d 
m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

 a
bo

ut
 h

ow
 

th
ei

r 
ch

ild
 p

ro
te

ct
io

n 
pl

an
s 

an
d 

w
or

k 
ca

n 
m

ak
e 

a
di

ff
er

en
ce

 t
o 

a 
fa

m
ily

.”
 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
FA

MI
LIE

S 
FA

CIN
G 

CH
AL

LE
NG

ES
“I

 w
as

 f
o

st
er

ed
 a

t 
6 

m
o

n
th

s 
to

 a
 c

ou
pl

e 
in

 
Es

se
x 

– 
on

e 
of

 f
ou

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
fo

st
er

ed
 o

ut
. W

he
n 

Iw
as

 e
ig

ht
, m

y 
si

st
er

 c
am

e 
to

 jo
in

 m
e.

 I 
ha

d 
a 

ve
ry

 u
nh

ap
py

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
, d

es
pi

te
 h

av
in

g 
m

y 
si

st
er

. 
Is

ta
rt

ed
 c

ol
le

ge
 in

 L
on

do
n,

 b
ut

 h
ad

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
ro

ug
h 

th
e 

ho
st

el
 s

ys
te

m
 –

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

liv
in

g 
at

 1
6.

 
Ifi

na
lly

 m
et

 m
y 

bi
rt

h 
m

ot
he

r 
af

te
r 

10
 y

ea
rs

. B
ut

 
Id

id
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

 g
re

at
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 h

er
. I

ca
m

e 
to

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

in
 1

99
4 

an
d 

w
as

 s
el

f-
su

ffi
ci

en
t 

un
til

 I 
ha

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 I 

st
op

pe
d 

w
or

ki
ng

 t
he

n,
 b

ut
 

w
as

 lo
ok

in
g 

fo
r 

ch
ild

ca
re

. A
s 

a 
fir

st
-t

im
e 

m
um

, 
I d

id
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 s

up
po

rt
 –

 I 
w

as
n’

t 
ab

le
 t

o 
re

ly
 

on
 t

he
 f

at
he

r’s
 f

am
ily

. I
 h

ad
 t

o 
do

 it
 a

ll 
by

 m
ys

el
f.

 
C

on
ta

ct
 w

ith
 m

y 
H

ea
lth

 V
is

ito
r 

st
ar

te
d 

on
ce

 I 
ha

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 S

he
 w

as
 v

er
y 

go
od

 –
 e

nc
ou

ra
ge

d 
m

e 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 N

EE
DI

N
G 

HE
LP

 F
RO

M
 S

UP
PO

RT
 S

ER
VI

CE
S.

57



16

to
 m

ak
e 

co
nt

ac
t 

w
ith

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 m

ad
e 

su
re

 m
y 

so
n 

an
d 

I g
ot

 o
ut

 a
s 

m
uc

h 
as

 p
os

si
bl

e.
 In

 
th

e 
la

st
 c

ou
pl

e 
of

 m
on

th
s,

 I’
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ag
no

se
d 

w
ith

 d
ep

re
ss

io
n.

 Is
su

es
 w

ith
 m

y 
ch

ild
ho

od
 a

re
 

re
-s

ur
fa

ci
ng

 n
ow

. M
y 

G
P 

re
fe

rr
ed

 m
e 

to
 C

BT
, t

he
n 

pa
re

nt
al

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 –
 t

hi
s 

ha
s 

be
en

 h
el

pf
ul

. 
A

s 
a 

pa
re

nt
, y

ou
 h

av
e 

id
ea

s 
ab

ou
t 

ho
w

 y
ou

 w
an

t 
yo

ur
 c

hi
ld

 t
o 

be
 –

 a
nd

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 b

e 
a 

go
od

 m
um

. 
Th

e 
th

in
g 

th
at

 m
ad

e 
th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 w
as

 
kn

ow
in

g 
th

er
e 

w
er

e 
pl

ac
es

 t
o 

go
. N

et
w

or
ki

ng
 

th
ou

gh
 S

ur
eS

ta
rt

 h
el

ps
 y

ou
 m

ee
t 

ot
he

r 
m

um
s.

 
M

y
ho

pe
s 

ar
e 

to
 fi

nd
 w

or
k,

 r
ai

se
 m

y 
so

n 
to

 b
e 

a
go

od
 c

iti
ze

n;
 fi

nd
 a

 n
ew

 re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

an
d 

ha
ve

 
m

or
e 

ch
ild

re
n.

” 

“M
y 

el
d

es
t 

so
n

 h
ad

 m
an

y 
fi

xe
d

 t
er

m
 

ex
cl

u
si

o
n

s
w

hi
ch

 m
ea

nt
 d

is
ru

pt
in

g 
m

y 
w

or
k 

to
 a

tt
en

d 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 s
er

vi
ce

s.
 T

he
 y

ou
ng

es
t 

w
as

 b
eg

in
ni

ng
 t

o 
ac

t 
up

, I
 h

ad
 p

ol
ic

e 
at

 m
y 

do
or

. I
t 

w
as

 o
nl

y 
w

he
n 

he
 w

as
 s

en
t 

to
 c

ou
rt

 
fo

r 
po

ss
es

si
ng

 a
 k

ni
fe

 t
ha

t 
I r

ea
lis

ed
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 

su
pp

or
t 

to
 k

no
w

 h
ow

 t
o 

pa
re

nt
. T

he
 y

ou
th

 
of

fe
nd

in
g 

se
rv

ic
e 

an
sw

er
ed

 m
y 

cr
y.

 A
ft

er
 it

s 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e,
 c

on
ve

rs
at

io
ns

 w
ith

 m
y 

so
n 

sh
ow

ed
 

m
e 

he
 w

an
te

d 
m

or
e 

in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

, m
or

e 
pr

ai
se

. I
 h

ad
 s

et
 h

im
 u

p 
fo

r 
fa

ilu
re

 w
ith

ou
t 

ev
en

un
de

rs
ta

nd
in

g 
th

is
 w

as
 m

y 
ow

n 
is

su
e.

” 

“I
 w

as
 o

ri
g

in
al

ly
 r

ef
er

re
d

 t
o

 t
h

e 
M

el
lo

w
 

Pa
re

n
ti

n
g

 p
ro

g
ra

m
m

e 
fo

r 
su

pp
or

t 
in

 m
an

ag
in

g 
m

y 
el

de
r 

ch
ild

’s 
be

ha
vi

ou
r, 

bu
t 

ha
dn

’t 
en

ga
ge

d 
du

e 
to

 m
y 

lif
es

ty
le

: s
ub

st
an

ce
 m

is
us

e 
an

d 
an

 a
bu

si
ve

 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p.
 W

he
n 

I w
as

 p
re

gn
an

t 
w

ith
 m

y 
th

ird
 

ch
ild

 in
 2

01
0,

 t
he

 o
ld

er
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
pl

ac
ed

 in
 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
e 

du
e 

to
 m

y 
su

bs
ta

nc
e 

m
is

us
e.

 I
re

al
is

ed
 

th
en

 m
y 

lif
es

ty
le

 h
ad

 t
o 

ch
an

ge
 –

 I 
st

op
pe

d 
us

in
g 

dr
ug

s.
 M

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 h

ad
 s

ta
ye

d 
in

 m
y 

ca
re

 f
or

 1
6 

w
ee

ks
 (m

ot
he

r 
an

d 
ba

by
 u

ni
t)

. T
he

n 
I w

en
t 

to
 

th
e 

pe
rin

at
al

 d
ro

p-
in

 –
 I 

fo
un

d 
it 

ha
rd

, b
ut

 h
ad

 t
o 

at
te

nd
 a

s 
m

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 w

as
 o

n 
a 

su
pe

rv
is

io
n 

or
de

r. 
W

ith
 t

im
e,

 a
s 

I g
ot

 t
o 

kn
ow

 p
eo

pl
e 

an
d 

di
dn

’t 
fe

el
 

ju
dg

ed
, I

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 m
or

e 
co

m
fo

rt
ab

le
 a

nd
 

en
jo

ye
d 

go
in

g.
 M

y 
ba

by
 a

nd
 I 

st
ar

te
d 

at
te

nd
in

g 
su

pp
or

t 
se

rv
ic

es
 t

hr
ee

 t
im

es
 a

 w
ee

k 
– 

w
e 

en
jo

ye
d 

be
in

g 
ar

ou
nd

 o
th

er
 m

um
s 

an
d 

ch
ild

re
n.

 It
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
to

 k
no

w
 o

th
er

s 
w

ho
 h

ad
 s

im
ila

r 
pr

ob
le

m
s;

 
to

 b
e 

gi
ve

n 
ad

vi
ce

 a
bo

ut
 t

hi
ng

s 
th

at
 w

ou
ld

 h
el

p 
m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
ch

ild
, a

nd
 n

ot
 t

o 
be

 c
rit

ic
is

ed
 a

bo
ut

 
th

in
gs

 I 
m

ig
ht

 b
e 

ge
tt

in
g 

w
ro

ng
. I

ha
ve

 s
uf

fe
re

d 
de

pr
es

si
on

 n
ow

 f
or

 a
bo

ut
 2

0 
ye

ar
s,

 a
nd

 h
av

e 
sp

en
t 

so
m

e 
tim

e 
in

 h
os

pi
ta

l w
ith

 it
. N

ot
 b

ei
ng

 is
ol

at
ed

 is
 

ve
ry

 im
po

rt
an

t,
 h

as
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
no

t 
ge

t 
de

pr
es

se
d 

an
ym

or
e;

 it
’s 

de
fin

ite
ly

 h
el

pe
d 

m
e 

be
 m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

 a
nd

 h
av

e 
be

tt
er

 s
el

f-
es

te
em

. I
’m

 a
ls

o 
ab

le
 

to
 s

oc
ia

lis
e 

an
d 

re
la

te
 t

o
pe

op
le

 w
ith

ou
t 

dr
ug

s.
” 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

S T
HE

 T
HI

RD
 H

IG
HE

ST
 

RE
FE

RR
AL

 R
AT

E 
IN

 L
ON

DO
N

; B
UT

 
N

EA
RL

Y 
A 

FI
FT

H 
OF

 T
HE

SE
 R

EF
ER

RA
LS

 
EN

D 
IN

 N
O 

FU
RT

HE
R 

AC
TI

ON

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

D 
TH

E 
HI

GH
ES

T 
N

UM
BE

R 
OF

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 O

N
 ‘R

EP
EA

T’
 

CH
ILD

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N

 P
LA

N
S 

IN
 

LO
N

DO
N

 IN
 2

01
1-1

2

 T
HE

 B
OR

OU
GH

 H
AS

 A
BO

VE
 L

ON
DO

N
 

AV
ER

AG
E 

TI
M

EL
IN

ES
S 

IN
 C

OM
PL

ET
IN

G 
AS

SE
SS

M
EN

TS

58



17

“I
 s

u
ff

er
 f

ro
m

 s
ev

er
e 

d
ep

re
ss

io
n

. T
he

 
de

pr
es

si
on

 s
te

m
s 

fr
om

 t
he

 d
ea

th
 o

f 
m

y 
fa

th
er

 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 a
ge

d 
si

x.
 I 

ha
ve

 n
ev

er
 b

ee
n 

ab
le

 t
o 

ge
t 

ov
er

 t
hi

s,
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

ne
ve

r 
lik

ed
 li

fe
 a

t 
al

l s
in

ce
. 

I d
id

n’
t 

fin
d 

it 
ea

sy
 t

o 
ta

lk
 t

o 
pe

op
le

; w
as

 a
lw

ay
s 

on
 g

ua
rd

, w
hi

ch
 m

ad
e 

m
e 

‘h
ar

d-
fa

ce
d’

 a
t 

tim
es

. 
Iu

se
d 

to
 s

ta
y 

in
 m

os
t 

of
 t

he
 t

im
e,

 d
rin

k 
qu

ite
 a

 lo
t 

an
d 

sm
ok

e 
ca

nn
ab

is
 c

on
st

an
tly

, e
ve

n 
w

he
n 

I w
as

 
pr

eg
na

nt
 –

 w
hi

ch
 is

 n
ot

 s
om

et
hi

ng
 I 

am
 p

ro
ud

 
of

. I
’v

e 
sl

ow
ly

 b
ut

 s
ur

el
y 

cu
t 

m
y 

ca
nn

ab
is

 u
se

. I
’v

e 
do

ne
 t

he
 ‘m

el
lo

w
 p

ar
en

tin
g’

 c
ou

rs
e 

– 
it 

te
ac

he
s 

ab
ou

t 
th

e 
rig

ht
 w

ay
s 

to
 d

is
ci

pl
in

e 
ch

ild
re

n.
 M

y 
de

pr
es

si
on

 h
as

 g
ot

 a
 lo

t 
be

tt
er

, a
nd

 t
he

 c
ou

rs
e 

ha
s 

le
t 

m
e 

bu
ild

 n
ew

 f
rie

nd
sh

ip
s,

 s
om

et
hi

ng
 I 

ne
ve

r 
th

ou
gh

t 
w

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
ha

pp
en

ed
. F

or
 t

he
 fi

rs
t 

tim
e 

in
 a

 lo
ng

 t
im

e,
 I 

fe
lt 

fa
nt

as
tic

 a
nd

 p
ro

ud
 o

f 
m

ys
el

f.
 

Th
e 

bo
nd

 I 
ha

ve
 w

ith
 m

y 
so

n 
ha

s 
be

en
 im

pr
ov

ed
 

hu
ge

ly
; a

s 
I a

lw
ay

s 
us

ed
 t

o 
ge

t 
st

re
ss

ed
 w

ith
 t

he
 

st
ag

es
 a

 b
ab

y 
go

es
 t

hr
ou

gh
. I

’v
e 

le
ar

nt
 n

ew
 w

ay
s 

of
 c

op
in

g,
 w

hi
ch

 h
as

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
re

al
is

e 
its

 O
K

 t
o 

ge
t 

st
re

ss
ed

 s
om

et
im

es
, a

nd
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
th

at
 

ch
ild

re
n 

fe
el

 w
ha

t 
w

e 
do

.”
 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 m

o
re

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
at

 t
h

e 
fr

o
n

t 
d

o
o

r, 
so

 
fa

m
ili

es
 g

et
 t

he
 s

up
po

rt
 t

he
y 

ne
ed

 e
ar

lie
r. 

A
re

 w
e 

us
in

g 
th

e 
w

id
er

 s
ys

te
m

 a
s 

be
st

 w
e 

ca
n?

” 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 t

o
 t

h
in

k 
ab

o
u

t 
ho

w
 c

ur
re

nt
 h

ea
lth

 
vi

si
tin

g 
ca

pa
ci

ty
 is

 u
se

d 
in

 re
ga

rd
s 

to
 v

ul
ne

ra
bl

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
in

 id
en

tif
yi

ng
 a

nd
 m

an
ag

in
g 

ne
ed

 –
 w

e 
co

ul
d 

w
or

k 
di

ff
er

en
tly

.”
 

59



18

“I
 g

re
w

 u
p

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

an
d 

am
 a

 m
um

 t
o 

tw
o 

gi
rls

. I
 w

as
 2

0 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d 

w
he

n 
I h

ad
 m

y 
fir

st
 g

irl
. 

A
lth

ou
gh

 t
he

 p
re

gn
an

cy
 w

as
 u

np
la

nn
ed

, I
 w

as
 

ha
pp

y 
an

d 
lo

ok
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d 
to

 b
ei

ng
 a

 m
um

. I
 h

ad
 

be
en

 w
ith

 m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

fo
r 

ab
ou

t 
18

 m
on

th
s,

 b
ut

 a
s 

w
e 

bo
th

 h
ad

 m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 p
ro

bl
em

s,
 it

 w
as

 n
ot

 
th

e 
m

os
t 

st
ab

le
 o

f 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
. I

’d
 p

ro
ba

bl
y 

be
en

 
de

pr
es

se
d 

fo
r 

qu
ite

 a
 f

ew
 y

ea
rs

 a
t 

th
is

 p
oi

nt
 b

ut
 

ne
ve

r 
go

t 
an

y 
he

lp
 f

or
 it

; I
 ju

st
 g

ot
 o

n 
w

ith
 t

hi
ng

s,
 

as
 t

ha
t 

w
as

 t
he

 e
th

os
 o

f 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

. F
or

 t
he

 fi
rs

t 
m

on
th

 a
ft

er
 m

y 
fir

st
 g

irl
 w

as
 b

or
n,

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

w
as

 
am

az
in

g 
– 

w
e 

w
er

e 
th

e 
pe

rf
ec

t 
lit

tle
 f

am
ily

. B
ut

 
th

en
 t

hi
ng

s 
ch

an
ge

d 
– 

I s
ta

rt
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 li
ke

 I 
w

as
n’

t 
co

pi
ng

. I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
do

ub
t 

m
y 

ab
ili

ty
 t

o 
pa

re
nt

 h
er

. 
W

ith
in

 w
ee

ks
 I 

w
as

 n
o 

lo
ng

er
 in

te
ra

ct
in

g 
w

ith
 h

er
. 

Th
in

gs
 b

et
w

ee
n 

m
y 

pa
rt

ne
r 

an
d 

m
e 

w
er

e 
st

ra
in

ed
 

– 
he

 w
as

 n
ot

 s
up

po
rt

iv
e.

 M
y 

co
nfi

de
nc

e 
w

as
 

go
ne

. I
 s

to
pp

ed
 t

al
ki

ng
 t

o 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

, a
nd

 b
ec

am
e 

ev
en

 m
or

e 
w

ith
dr

aw
n 

fo
rm

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g.

 T
hi

ng
s 

w
en

t 
do

w
nh

ill
 v

er
y 

fa
st

. W
he

n 
m

y 
lit

tle
 g

irl
 w

as
 

18
 m

on
th

s,
 h

er
 D

ad
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
vi

si
t 

an
d 

w
e 

go
t 

ba
ck

 t
og

et
he

r. 
I b

ec
am

e 
pr

eg
na

nt
 w

ith
 m

y 
se

co
nd

 
gi

rl 
– 

I k
ne

w
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 h

el
p.

 O
n 

m
y 

fir
st

 v
is

it,
 I 

th
ou

gh
t 

th
is

 w
as

n’
t 

fo
r 

m
e.

 B
ut

 I 
kn

ew
 I 

ne
ed

ed
 

he
lp

, s
o 

de
ci

de
d 

to
 k

ee
p 

tr
yi

ng
 t

o 
at

te
nd

. A
ft

er
 a

 
w

hi
le

, I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 t

o 
en

ga
ge

 w
ith

 s
ta

ff
 a

nd
 a

tt
en

di
ng

 
ev

er
y 

da
y.

 It
 g

av
e 

m
e 

a 
sa

fe
 s

pa
ce

 t
o 

di
sc

us
s 

m
y 

fe
el

in
gs

 a
nd

 b
e 

he
lp

ed
 b

y 
ot

he
rs

. I
 fi

na
lly

 h
ad

 a
 

su
pp

or
t 

ne
tw

or
k 

fo
r 

th
e 

fir
st

 t
im

e 
si

nc
e 

ha
vi

ng
 

m
y 

da
ug

ht
er

. I
 a

m
 n

ow
 f

ee
lin

g 
be

tt
er

 in
 m

ys
el

f 
– 

th
in

gs
 a

re
 im

pr
ov

in
g.

 I 
am

 o
n 

th
e 

ro
ad

 t
o 

re
co

ve
ry

, 
bu

t 
st

ill
 h

av
e 

a 
lo

ng
 w

ay
 g

o.
 I 

ha
ve

 s
ta

rt
ed

 

vo
lu

nt
ee

rin
g 

in
 a

 p
la

yg
ro

up
. I

 a
m

 s
oc

ia
lis

in
g 

m
or

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
fa

m
ily

, w
ho

 a
re

 a
ls

o 
su

pp
or

tiv
e.

 T
he

 
ch

ild
re

n 
ar

e 
bo

th
 in

 s
ch

oo
l a

nd
 d

oi
ng

 w
el

l. 
I a

m
 

ho
pi

ng
 t

ha
t 

so
on

 I 
w

ill
 b

e 
w

el
l e

no
ug

h 
to

 s
ta

rt
 t

o 
pl

an
 m

y 
fu

tu
re

.”
 

“I
 m

o
ve

d
 t

o
 E

as
t 

D
u

lw
ic

h
 a

b
o

u
t 

si
x 

ye
ar

s 
ag

o
. I

 e
nt

er
ed

 f
ul

l-t
im

e 
w

or
k 

an
d 

ha
d 

to
 g

et
 

ch
ild

ca
re

 f
ro

m
 5

am
 e

ac
h 

m
or

ni
ng

 I’
m

 f
ro

m
 G

ha
na

 
– 

an
d 

ca
ug

ht
 b

et
w

ee
n 

br
in

gi
ng

 u
p 

ch
ild

re
n 

in
 

th
e 

tr
ad

iti
on

al
 W

es
t 

A
fr

ic
an

 w
ay

, o
r 

by
 w

es
te

rn
 

cu
ltu

re
. I

’m
 ju

st
 re

co
ve

rin
g 

fr
om

 s
ev

er
e 

de
pr

es
si

on
, 

af
te

r 
ha

vi
ng

 m
y 

se
co

nd
 d

au
gh

te
r. 

Th
e 

M
en

ta
l 

H
ea

lth
 C

ar
e 

Te
am

 h
el

pe
d 

a 
lo

t 
w

ith
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

 a
nd

 
pr

og
ra

m
m

es
 t

ha
t 

le
t 

m
e 

ge
t 

ou
t 

an
d 

so
ci

al
is

e 
m

or
e.

 I’
ve

 a
ls

o 
us

ed
 t

he
 A

sy
lu

m
 S

ee
ke

rs
’ g

ro
up

. 
I’v

e 
go

t 
cl

ot
he

s 
an

d 
sh

oe
s,

 a
 n

ic
e 

lu
nc

h,
 a

nd
 

w
as

 a
bl

e 
to

 s
oc

ia
lis

e 
an

d 
m

ak
e 

ne
w

 f
rie

nd
s 

fr
om

 
th

e 
gr

ou
p.

 B
ut

, m
ig

ra
nt

 f
am

ili
es

 a
re

 n
ot

 g
iv

en
 

en
ou

gh
 a

dv
ic

e 
on

 h
el

p 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

to
 t

he
m

 in
 t

im
es

 
of

 d
iffi

cu
lty

. I
t 

w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

be
en

 b
et

te
r 

if 
I h

ad
 

as
ke

d
fo

r 
he

lp
 e

ar
lie

r.”
 

60



19

“A
ft

er
 m

y 
th

ir
d

 c
h

ild
, I

 t
ho

ug
ht

 I 
w

as
 fi

ne
. B

ut
 

I s
ta

rt
ed

 f
ee

lin
g 

lo
w

 a
nd

 w
ou

ld
n’

t 
op

en
 t

he
 d

oo
r 

to
 o

th
er

s.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
m

is
si

ng
 s

ch
oo

l. 
Th

e 
he

al
th

 v
is

ito
r 

vi
si

te
d 

an
d 

re
fe

rr
ed

 m
e 

to
 a

 p
er

in
at

al
 

m
en

ta
l h

ea
lth

 t
ea

m
, a

nd
 a

ls
o 

m
y 

G
P,

 w
ho

 w
an

te
d 

m
e 

to
 h

av
e 

m
ed

ic
at

io
n,

 w
hi

ch
 I 

di
dn

’t 
w

an
t.

 I 
st

ar
te

d 
go

in
g 

to
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ce

nt
re

s.
 I 

di
dn

’t 
lik

e 
th

e 
br

ea
st

fe
ed

in
g 

ca
fé

 b
ut

 li
ke

d 
th

e 
‘k

ee
pi

ng
 w

el
l p

os
t 

bi
rt

h’
 g

ro
up

. I
 w

as
 f

ee
lin

g 
go

od
 a

nd
 m

y 
fir

st
 c

hi
ld

’s 
fa

th
er

 c
am

e 
to

 s
ta

y 
an

d 
w

e 
w

en
t 

on
 h

ol
id

ay
. B

ut
 

th
en

 I 
st

ar
te

d 
st

ru
gg

lin
g 

ag
ai

n.
 T

he
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
er

e 
la

te
 f

or
 s

ch
oo

l; 
I w

as
 d

rin
ki

ng
 b

ef
or

e 
th

e 
gr

ou
ps

. 
Iw

is
h 

I c
ou

ld
 s

ta
y 

on
 a

n 
ev

en
 k

ee
l a

nd
 g

et
 b

ac
k 

to
 

w
or

k.
 I 

ne
ed

 o
ng

oi
ng

 s
up

po
rt

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
er

e.
” 

“W
e 

n
ee

d
 a

 m
o

re
 c

h
ild

-c
en

tr
ed

 a
p

p
ro

ac
h

ar
ou

nd
 c

om
pl

ex
 c

as
e 

fa
m

ili
es

 in
 w

hi
ch

 a
ll 

ag
en

ci
es

 
lo

ok
 f

or
 a

 s
ol

ut
io

n 
to

ge
th

er
 r

at
he

r 
th

an
 h

av
in

g 
to

 g
o 

in
to

 b
at

tle
, w

he
n 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 t

he
 f

am
ily

 w
ill

 
ha

ve
 t

o 
be

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 a

ny
w

ay
. I

t’s
 a

 w
as

te
 o

f 
tim

e 
an

d 
to

ta
lly

 d
em

or
al

is
in

g 
fo

r 
th

e 
fa

m
ily

.”
 

“M
y 

ch
ild

re
n

’s
 f

at
h

er
 k

ep
t 

d
is

ap
p

ea
ri

n
g

 w
he

n 
I n

ee
de

d 
hi

m
 t

he
 m

os
t.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

ca
re

 a
bo

ut
 m

ys
el

f,
 

ju
st

 f
oc

us
ed

 o
n 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n.

 I 
as

ke
d 

fo
r 

he
lp

. 
Ic

ou
ld

n’
t 

co
pe

. I
 re

gr
et

 s
ay

in
g 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 b

ec
au

se
 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

to
ok

 m
y 

ch
ild

re
n 

aw
ay

. I
 h

ad
 a

 
po

lic
e 

or
de

r. 
M

y 
ho

us
e 

si
tu

at
io

n 
di

si
nt

eg
ra

te
d.

 

H
av

e 
a 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
in

 N
ee

d 
pl

an
. I

 w
an

t 
to

 s
ee

 it
 

th
ro

ug
h.

 I 
fe

el
 g

ui
lty

 a
bo

ut
 m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
w

an
t 

th
em

 t
o 

be
 o

ld
 e

no
ug

h 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d.

 N
o 

bl
am

in
g 

m
e 

fo
r 

ta
ki

ng
 t

he
m

 a
w

ay
.”

 

“T
h

e 
1,

00
0 

jo
u

rn
ey

s 
w

o
rk

 h
as

 c
h

an
g

ed
 

m
y 

m
in

d
 –

 t
he

re
 is

 a
 m

uc
h 

bi
gg

er
 ro

le
 

fo
r 

th
e

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r 

in
 

pr
ov

id
in

g
su

pp
or

t 
fo

r 
vu

ln
er

ab
le

 f
am

ili
es

, 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

ly
 in

 p
ro

vi
di

ng
 lo

ng
er

 t
er

m
 s

up
po

rt
 

an
d

ca
pa

ci
ty

 t
o 

fa
m

ili
es

.”
 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
TH

OS
E 

NE
ED

IN
G 

ST
AT

UT
OR

Y 
HE

LP
“M

y 
jo

u
rn

ey
 s

ta
rt

ed
 w

h
en

 m
y 

m
u

m
 le

ft
. M

y 
da

d 
is

 a
bu

si
ve

 a
nd

 d
oe

sn
’t 

ca
re

 a
bo

ut
 m

e.
 I 

sh
ou

ld
 

ha
ve

 t
ol

d 
so

m
eo

ne
 a

bo
ut

 m
y 

da
d.

 I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ki
ck

ed
 o

ut
 o

f 
sc

ho
ol

. I
 g

ot
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

, a
nd

 s
ta

rt
ed

 
de

al
in

g 
– 

m
y 

co
us

in
 g

av
e 

m
e 

th
e 

lo
ad

 t
o 

de
al

. 
If

ee
l I

’m
 e

as
ily

 in
flu

en
ce

d.
 B

ut
 b

ei
ng

 in
 h

os
pi

ta
l, 

Ir
ea

lis
ed

 it
 w

as
 t

im
e 

to
 t

ur
n 

m
y 

lif
e 

ar
ou

nd
. T

hi
ng

s 
co

ul
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
di

ff
er

en
t 

if 
I h

ad
 n

ot
 t

ak
en

 d
ru

gs
 

fr
om

 m
y 

co
us

in
. I

’m
 g

oo
d 

w
ith

 g
irl

s.
 I’

d 
lik

e 
to

 g
et

 
m

ar
rie

d,
 h

av
e 

ki
ds

, g
et

 a
 d

og
. M

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r 
tr

ie
d 

to
 g

et
 m

e 
ba

ck
 in

to
 s

ch
oo

l. 
Sh

e 
w

as
 t

he
 o

nl
y 

on
e 

w
ho

 w
ou

ld
 li

st
en

, a
nd

 s
ho

w
ed

 s
he

 c
ar

ed
. I

 n
ee

d 
to

 t
ry

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
co

lle
ge

, a
nd

 g
et

 q
ua

lifi
ca

tio
ns

.”
 

“I
 w

as
 r

ef
er

re
d

 b
y 

m
y 

sc
h

o
o

l a
t 

14
 y

ea
rs

o
ld

.
Iw

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 ro
bb

er
y 

an
d 

ha
ve

 b
ee

n 
in

 c
us

to
dy

 
fo

r 
m

al
ic

io
us

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n.

 B
ot

h 
m

y 
pa

re
nt

s 
ar

e 
in

vo
lv

ed
 w

ith
 d

ru
g 

m
is

us
e.

 I 
br

ea
k 

do
w

n,
 

he
ar

 v
oi

ce
s 

an
d 

ha
ve

 c
ut

 m
ys

el
f.

 I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

on
 a

 y
ou

th
 re

ha
bi

lit
at

io
n 

or
de

r, 
an

d 
ha

ve
 h

ad
 

po
or

 e
ng

ag
em

en
t 

w
ith

 t
hi

s.
 I 

am
 t

hi
nk

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
ru

nn
in

g 
aw

ay
 f

ro
m

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

an
d 

ev
er

yo
ne

.”
 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

N
D 

FA
M

ILI
ES

 N
EE

DI
N

G 
SP

EC
IA

LIS
T 

CA
RE

.

61



20

“W
h

en
 I 

w
as

 y
o

u
n

g
er

, I
 s

aw
 m

y 
d

ad
 t

h
re

at
en

 
m

y 
m

u
m

 w
it

h
 a

 k
n

if
e.

 T
he

re
 h

av
e 

be
en

 o
th

er
 

tim
es

 w
he

n 
m

y 
da

d 
th

re
at

en
ed

 t
o 

hu
rt

 m
um

 –
 

in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
tim

es
 w

he
n 

he
’s 

th
re

at
en

ed
 t

o 
ki

ll 
he

r, 
an

d 
to

rc
h 

th
e 

ho
us

e.
 I 

ca
n’

t 
ge

t 
ar

ou
nd

 a
nd

 d
o 

th
in

gs
 o

th
er

 k
id

s 
do

. I
’m

 b
ig

, a
nd

 h
av

e 
so

m
et

hi
ng

 
w

ro
ng

 w
ith

 m
y 

he
ar

t.
 M

y 
m

um
 g

et
s 

an
 a

llo
w

an
ce

 
– 

to
 d

o 
w

ith
 m

y 
he

al
th

. I
 g

et
 in

 t
ro

ub
le

 a
t 

sc
ho

ol
 

– 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

ex
cl

ud
ed

 n
ea

rly
 a

 d
oz

en
 t

im
es

. 
So

m
et

im
es

 m
e 

an
d 

m
y 

m
um

 a
rg

ue
 a

nd
 fi

gh
t.

”

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 s
ta

rt
ed

 w
h

en
 I 

h
ad

 t
o

 g
o

 t
o

 
co

u
rt

.I
 w

as
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 a
 g

an
g 

an
d 

do
in

g 
cr

im
e 

an
d 

fig
ht

in
g.

 N
ow

 I’
m

 a
t 

co
lle

ge
 a

nd
 p

la
yi

ng
 

fo
ot

ba
ll.

 M
y 

fo
ot

ba
ll 

m
an

ag
er

 h
as

 b
ee

n 
a 

bi
g 

in
flu

en
ce

. S
o 

ha
ve

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
; t

he
y 

su
pp

or
te

d 
an

d 
en

co
ur

ag
ed

 m
e 

ev
en

 w
he

n 
I l

et
 

th
em

 d
ow

n.
 B

ef
or

e,
 I 

ju
st

 w
an

te
d 

to
 li

ve
 a

 li
fe

 
w

he
re

 I 
ha

d 
m

on
ey

 t
o 

bu
y 

th
in

gs
 s

o 
I w

as
 d

oi
ng

s 
al

l t
ho

se
 t

hi
ng

s 
fo

r 
m

on
ey

 a
nd

 p
op

ul
ar

ity
. I

 w
as

 
co

nf
us

ed
 a

nd
 a

ng
ry

, b
ut

 I 
al

so
 f

el
t 

un
to

uc
ha

bl
e.

 
Th

e 
cr

os
sr

oa
ds

 w
as

 w
he

n 
m

y 
fr

ie
nd

s 
st

ar
te

d 
go

in
g 

to
 ja

il 
an

d 
a 

cl
os

e 
fr

ie
nd

 w
as

 k
ill

ed
. B

ei
ng

 
in

 a
 p

ol
ic

e 
ce

ll 
an

d 
kn

ow
in

g 
m

y 
fa

m
ily

 w
as

 
di

sa
pp

oi
nt

ed
 in

 m
e 

w
as

 a
 lo

w
. M

y 
pa

st
or

 a
nd

 
ch

ur
ch

, a
nd

 m
y 

co
lle

ge
 h

av
e 

be
en

 re
al

ly
 p

os
iti

ve
 

fo
r 

m
e.

 T
he

y 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
se

e 
th

er
e’

s 
an

ot
he

r 
w

ay
 a

nd
 n

ow
 I’

m
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
un

i. 
I w

an
t 

to
 

ge
t

a 
go

od
 jo

b 
or

 b
e 

a 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 f

oo
tb

al
le

r.”
 

“T
h

in
g

s 
w

en
t 

a 
b

it
 m

ad
 f

o
r 

a 
n

u
m

b
er

 o
f 

ye
ar

s.
 I 

gr
ew

 u
p 

in
 o

ut
er

 L
on

do
n,

 a
nd

 w
as

 1
4 

w
he

n 
I l

ef
t 

sc
ho

ol
. S

in
ce

 1
5,

 I’
ve

 w
or

ke
d 

w
ith

 
a 

tr
ea

tm
en

t 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
– 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ge

t 
of

f 
m

et
ha

do
ne

. I
’v

e 
be

en
 c

le
an

 f
or

 4
 y

ea
rs

, a
nd

 n
ow

 
Iw

an
t 

to
 m

ov
e 

aw
ay

 f
ro

m
 it

 a
nd

 g
et

 s
or

te
d.

 W
he

n 
m

y 
da

d 
di

ed
, I

 f
el

t 
co

m
pl

et
el

y 
al

on
e.

 I 
di

dn
’t 

ha
ve

 
a 

go
od

 re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

w
ith

 m
y 

m
um

. I
 o

nl
y 

sp
ea

k 
to

 
m

y 
br

ot
he

rs
, a

nd
 m

y 
si

st
er

 c
om

es
 t

o 
se

e 
m

e 
a 

lo
t.

 
H

av
in

g 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n 
ha

s 
m

ot
iv

at
ed

 m
e 

– 
I f

el
t 

I h
ad

 
to

 d
o 

it 
by

 m
ys

el
f.

 I 
ha

ve
 p

ar
en

ta
l r

es
po

ns
ib

ili
ty

 
fo

r 
m

y 
yo

un
ge

st
 –

 s
he

 li
ve

s 
w

ith
 m

y 
pa

rt
ne

r’s
 n

an
, 

bu
t 

m
y 

el
de

st
 is

 in
 a

 p
er

m
an

en
t 

pl
ac

em
en

t.
 I 

ha
ve

 
pl

an
s 

to
 h

av
e 

he
r 

liv
e 

w
ith

 m
e 

ag
ai

n,
 b

ut
 n

ot
 u

nt
il 

I w
or

k 
on

 t
hi

ng
s.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 c

om
pl

et
e 

co
lle

ge
 a

nd
 

ge
t 

ba
ck

 in
to

 w
or

k.
” 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 A

RE
 

TH
RE

E 
TI

M
ES

 M
OR

E 
LIK

EL
Y 

TH
AN

 
N

AT
IO

N
AL

LY
 T

O 
BE

 O
N

 A
N

 O
PE

N
 C

HI
LD

 
PR

OT
EC

TI
ON

 P
LA

N
 F

OR
 O

VE
R 

2 
YE

AR
S.

 N
EG

LE
CT

 IS
 T

HE
 M

OS
T 

CO
M

M
ON

 
IN

IT
IA

L 
CA

TE
GO

RY
 O

F 
TH

OS
E 

M
AD

E 
SU

BJ
EC

T 
TO

 A
 C

HI
LD

 P
RO

TE
CT

IO
N

 
PL

AN
, O

R 
RE

AS
ON

 F
OR

 R
EG

IST
RA

TI
ON

; 
ON

 A
VE

RA
GE

 M
AK

IN
G 

UP
 M

OR
E 

TH
AN

 H
AL

F 
OF

 A
LL

 O
PE

N
 P

LA
N

S.

 A
LL

 C
HI

LD
 P

RO
TE

CT
IO

N
 C

AS
ES

 W
ER

E 
RE

VI
EW

ED
 W

IT
HI

N
 T

IM
ES

CA
LE

S 
IN

 
20

11/
12

.

 SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
HA

S 
TH

E 
HI

GH
ES

T 
N

UM
BE

R 
OF

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 B

EI
N

G 
SU

BJ
EC

T 
TO

 A
 S

EC
ON

D 
OR

 S
UB

SE
QU

EN
T 

CH
ILD

 
PR

OT
EC

TI
ON

 P
LA

N
 

62



21

“I
’v

e 
b

ee
n

 s
ad

, h
ap

p
y,

 v
er

y 
h

ap
p

y.
 I’

ve
 b

ee
n 

in
 a

nd
 o

ut
 o

f 
ca

re
 t

hr
ee

 o
r 

fo
ur

 t
im

es
 s

in
ce

 I 
w

as
 

2.
 M

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

ha
s 

ch
an

ge
d 

m
y 

at
tit

ud
e 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 t

o 
ch

an
ge

 m
y 

an
ge

r 
pr

ob
le

m
s.

 S
he

 t
re

at
s 

m
e 

lik
e 

he
r 

so
n 

an
d 

I l
ov

e 
he

r 
to

 b
its

.”
 

“I
 a

m
 a

 f
o

st
er

 c
ar

er
. I

 s
om

et
im

es
 d

on
’t 

fe
el

 li
ke

 
th

e 
ch

ild
 is

 a
t 

th
e 

ce
nt

re
 o

f 
th

e 
sy

st
em

. T
he

 s
ys

te
m

 
ha

s 
go

ne
 p

ro
ce

ss
 m

ad
 s

om
et

im
es

.”
 

“M
y 

lin
k 

w
o

rk
er

 w
o

u
ld

 p
u

ll 
o

u
t 

al
l t

h
e 

st
o

p
s,

th
ey

 a
re

 a
lw

ay
s 

th
er

e 
w

he
n 

I n
ee

d 
th

em
 a

nd
 

no
th

in
g 

is
 t

oo
 m

uc
h 

tr
ou

bl
e.

 I 
do

n’
t 

th
in

k 
I c

ou
ld

 
do

 it
 w

ith
ou

t 
th

em
.”

 

“I
’m

 a
 s

in
g

le
 p

ar
en

t 
liv

in
g 

in
 a

 lo
w

-s
up

po
rt

 
m

ot
he

r 
an

d 
ba

by
 u

ni
t.

 M
y 

m
um

 k
ic

ke
d 

m
e 

ou
t 

so
 

I g
ot

 p
la

ce
d 

in
 a

 f
os

te
r 

ho
m

e.
 M

ov
ed

 t
o 

tw
o 

ot
he

r 
ho

st
el

s 
be

fo
re

 I 
am

 w
he

re
 I 

am
 n

ow
, a

nd
 t

he
n 

ha
d 

m
y 

so
n.

 I 
st

ill
 d

on
’t 

sp
ea

k 
to

 m
y 

m
um

 –
 m

y 
fa

m
ily

 is
 n

ow
 m

e 
an

d 
m

y 
so

n.
 I 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 t
o 

fin
is

h 
m

y 
co

lle
ge

 c
ou

rs
e 

be
fo

re
 I 

go
t 

pr
eg

na
nt

. I
 w

as
 

sh
oc

ke
d 

w
he

n 
I g

ot
 p

re
gn

an
t 

– 
it 

re
al

ly
 o

nl
y 

su
nk

 
in

 w
he

n 
I h

ad
 h

im
, a

nd
 I 

sa
w

 m
y 

so
n 

fo
r 

th
e 

fir
st

 
tim

e.
 T

hi
nk

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
m

ov
in

g 
is

 d
ep

re
ss

in
g.

 I 
ha

d 
to

 
st

op
 c

on
ta

ct
 w

ith
 m

y 
so

n’
s 

da
d,

 a
s 

he
 w

as
 a

bu
si

ve
 

an
d 

co
nt

ro
lli

ng
. T

he
 n

ex
t 

pa
rt

 o
f 

m
y 

jo
ur

ne
y 

w
ill

 b
e 

tr
yi

ng
 t

o 
m

ak
e 

a 
be

tt
er

 li
fe

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n.

” 

“I
 le

ar
n

t 
ev

er
yt

h
in

g
 f

ro
m

 m
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 –
w

he
n 

I m
ov

ed
 t

o 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
liv

in
g 

I d
id

 t
he

 s
tu

ff
 

sh
e 

di
d 

lik
e 

re
gi

st
er

 w
ith

 t
he

 d
oc

to
rs

; I
 h

ad
 n

ev
er

 
be

en
 t

o 
th

e 
do

ct
or

s 
be

fo
re

 I 
w

en
t 

to
 li

ve
 t

he
re

.”
 

“A
 g

o
o

d
 s

o
ci

al
 w

o
rk

er
 d

oe
s 

no
t 

br
in

g 
up

 y
ou

r 
pa

st
, i

s 
m

or
e 

fo
rw

ar
d 

lo
ok

in
g.

” 

“I
 g

o
t 

ar
re

st
ed

 a
nd

 w
he

n 
I c

am
e 

ou
t 

so
ci

al
 

se
rv

ic
es

 p
ut

 m
e 

in
 a

 f
os

te
r 

ho
m

e.
 I’

m
 n

ow
 li

vi
ng

 
in

 a
 s

em
i-i

nd
ep

en
de

nt
 h

os
te

l, 
an

d 
st

ill
 w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 t
he

 Y
ou

th
 O

ff
en

di
ng

 T
ea

m
 (Y

O
T)

. I
 s

ee
 m

y 
m

um
 e

ve
ry

 d
ay

 –
 w

e 
ar

e 
O

K
 w

ith
 e

ac
h 

ot
he

r, 
sh

e 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

w
ith

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g.

 Y
O

T 
ha

s 
al

so
 h

el
pe

d 
by

 t
ea

ch
in

g 
m

e 
st

uf
f,

 s
uc

h 
as

 h
ea

lth
 a

nd
 s

af
et

y.
 

It
ry

 n
ot

 t
o 

lo
se

 m
y 

te
m

pe
r 

– 
bu

t 
I n

ee
d 

he
lp

 w
ith

 
th

is
. I

 f
ee

l a
ng

ry
 w

he
n 

th
ey

 b
la

m
e 

m
y 

m
um

 f
or

 
m

y 
be

ha
vi

ou
r. 

Y
O

T 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
– 

te
ac

hi
ng

 m
e 

w
hy

 I 
ge

t 
an

gr
y,

 a
nd

 h
ow

 t
o 

de
al

 w
ith

 t
hi

s.
 It

w
as

gr
ea

t 
w

he
n 

Y
O

T 
fo

un
d 

m
e 

an
 a

pp
re

nt
ic

es
hi

p 
an

d 
ga

ve
 m

e 
so

m
et

hi
ng

 p
ro

du
ct

iv
e 

to
 d

o 
w

ith
 m

y 
tim

e.
 W

ith
 s

up
po

rt
 f

ro
m

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s 

an
d 

fa
m

ily
, 

I’l
lg

et
 a

 jo
b 

an
d 

m
y 

ow
n 

pl
ac

e.
” 

SA
FE

TY
 A

ND
 S
TA

BI
LIT

Y 
FO

R 
CH

ILD
RE

N 
IN

 C
OR

PO
RA

TE
 C

AR
E

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 W

HO
 A

RE
 L

OO
KE

D 
AF

TE
R.

.

63



22

“T
h

e 
p

u
b

lic
 s

ec
to

r 
re

p
u

ta
ti

o
n

 is
 n

o
t 

ju
st

ifi
ed

. 
O

ur
 [a

do
pt

io
n]

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

r 
w

as
 o

n 
to

p 
of

 
ev

er
yt

hi
ng

 a
ll 

th
e 

tim
e…

w
e 

ne
ed

 t
o 

di
sp

el
 t

he
 

m
yt

hs
 –

 t
he

y 
ar

e 
pa

ss
io

na
te

, d
riv

en
, h

ar
d 

w
or

ki
ng

, 
co

ns
id

er
at

e 
an

d 
ac

tu
al

ly
 e

xt
ra

or
di

na
ry

!”
 

“D
ro

p
p

ed
 in

 it
! 

M
um

 d
ro

pp
ed

 m
e 

at
 N

an
’s 

– 
th

en
 N

an
 t

oo
k 

m
e 

to
 M

cD
on

al
d’

s 
an

d 
to

ld
 m

e 
I’d

 b
e 

go
in

g 
to

 f
os

te
r 

ca
re

. I
 re

m
em

be
r 

cr
yi

ng
 

in
to

 m
y 

bu
rg

er
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

ab
ou

t 
11

 y
ea

rs
 o

f 
fo

st
er

 
ca

re
. I

’m
 in

 a
 d

ai
ly

 s
tr

ug
gl

e 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

. 
Iw

is
h 

I w
as

 ig
no

ra
nt

 s
o 

lif
e 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
ea

si
er

, b
ut

 
I a

m
 a

nx
io

us
 a

bo
ut

 t
hi

ng
s 

be
fo

re
 t

he
y 

ha
pp

en
 –

 
Is

ee
 t

he
 b

ig
ge

r 
pi

ct
ur

e.
 I 

do
n’

t 
se

e 
m

ys
el

f 
as

 a
n 

in
sp

ira
tio

n 
to

 o
th

er
s 

– 
ca

n’
t 

ca
rr

y 
pe

op
le

 –
 h

av
e 

to
 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 m

ys
el

f,
 a

nd
 t

he
n,

 w
he

n 
gr

ow
n 

up
, t

ak
e 

re
sp

on
si

bi
lit

y 
of

 im
m

ed
ia

te
 f

am
ily

. Y
ou

 c
an

 o
nl

y 
gi

ve
 s

o 
m

uc
h 

to
 p

eo
pl

e,
 t

he
n 

pe
op

le
 h

av
e 

to
 lo

ok
 

af
te

r 
th

em
se

lv
es

.”
 

“I
 b

eg
an

 w
o

rk
 in

 t
h

e 
R

ef
er

ra
l a

n
d

 A
ss

es
sm

en
t 

te
am

– 
no

w
 I 

am
 a

 s
en

io
r 

pr
ac

tit
io

ne
r 

in
 a

 lo
ng

-
te

rm
 c

hi
ld

 p
ro

te
ct

io
n 

te
am

. C
ol

le
ag

ue
s 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 s

up
po

rt
iv

e 
an

d 
en

co
ur

ag
in

g 
du

rin
g 

so
m

e 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
tim

es
. I

 w
ill

 a
lw

ay
s 

re
m

em
be

r 
re

m
ov

in
g 

m
y 

fir
st

 c
hi

ld
; h

av
in

g 
su

cc
es

s 
in

 c
ou

rt
; a

w
fu

l c
ro

ss
 

ex
am

in
at

io
ns

 in
 c

ou
rt

. I
 w

an
t 

to
 c

on
tin

ue
 t

o 
he

lp
 

an
d 

ca
re

 f
or

 p
eo

pl
e 

– 
an

d 
to

 fi
nd

w
ay

s 
to

 c
op

e 
w

ith
 t

he
 s

tr
es

s 
at

 t
im

es
.”

 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 T
HE

RE
 A

RE
 A

RO
UN

D 
57

0 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 

IN
 C

AR
E,

 W
HI

CH
 IS

 H
IG

HE
R 

TH
AN

 
N

AT
IO

N
AL

 A
N

D 
ST

AT
IST

IC
AL

 
N

EI
GH

BO
UR

 A
VE

RA
GE

S

 A
LT

HO
UG

H 
IM

PR
OV

IN
G,

 T
HE

 N
UM

BE
R 

OF
 C

HI
LD

RE
N

 IN
 A

 ST
AB

LE
 P

LA
CE

M
EN

T 
IS 

BE
LO

W
 SI

M
ILA

R 
AU

TH
OR

IT
IE

S

 O
VE

R 
8 

IN
 10

 C
HI

LD
RE

N
 IN

 C
AR

E 
GO

 
“H

OM
E”

 W
IT

HI
N

 T
HR

EE
 Y

EA
RS

 B
UT

 
ON

LY
 1 

IN
 10

 O
F 

TH
OS

E 
AG

ED
 5

 T
O 

14
 

LE
AV

E 
CA

RE
 W

IT
HI

N
 T

HE
 Y

EA
R

 7
%

 O
F 

TH
E 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 L
EA

VI
N

G 
CA

RE
 

AR
E 

AD
OP

TE
D,

 W
HI

CH
 IS

 B
EL

OW
 T

HE
 

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 A

VE
RA

GE
 O

F 
12

%

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 f
am

ily
 is

 m
y 

fa
m

ily
. T

he
y 

ha
ve

 
be

en
 t

he
re

 e
ve

r 
si

nc
e 

I r
em

em
be

r.”
 

64



23

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
w

as
 t

h
re

e 
an

d
 w

as
 b

ro
u

g
h

t 
in

to
 c

ar
e 

– 
m

y 
m

ot
he

r 
co

ul
dn

’t
 c

op
e.

 M
y 

fo
st

er
 p

ar
en

ts
 a

nd
 m

y 
so

ci
al

 
w

or
ke

r 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

of
 m

uc
h 

he
lp

. I
 a

m
 c

ur
re

nt
ly

 
on

 c
at

er
in

g/
ho

sp
ita

lit
y 

tr
ai

ni
ng

. I
 h

av
e 

ha
d 

en
co

ur
ag

em
en

t,
 c

ou
ch

in
g,

 m
en

to
rin

g,
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

ro
le

-m
od

el
lin

g 
fr

om
 m

y 
fo

st
er

 p
ar

en
ts

, a
nd

 
al

lt
he

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
su

pp
or

tin
g 

m
e.

” 

“I
 w

as
 n

o
t 

re
al

ly
 h

el
p

ed
 a

t 
an

 e
ar

ly
 s

ta
g

e 
to

de
al

 w
ith

 t
he

 e
m

ot
io

ns
 c

om
in

g 
in

to
 c

ar
e 

br
in

gs
. 

Th
ey

 a
re

 a
lw

ay
s 

th
er

e 
an

d 
ca

n 
ca

us
e 

so
m

e 
re

al
ly

 
ba

d 
be

ha
vi

ou
rs

 t
hr

ou
gh

 c
on

fu
si

on
, h

at
re

d,
 d

ou
bt

, 
m

is
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g.

”

“I
 a

m
 a

p
p

ro
ac

h
in

g
 t

h
e 

en
d

 o
f 

m
y 

ti
m

e 
in

 
ca

re
, a

s 
I’m

 t
ur

ni
ng

 1
8 

ne
xt

 y
ea

r. 
It 

is
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

be
 d

au
nt

in
g 

an
d 

sc
ar

y.
 I’

m
 g

oi
ng

 t
o 

tr
y 

to
 li

ve
 

an
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
lif

e.
 I 

w
as

 s
ho

ck
ed

 w
he

n 
I h

ad
 

to
 le

av
e 

m
y 

fir
st

 c
ar

er
s,

 b
ec

au
se

 I 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 t

o 
be

 a
do

pt
ed

 b
y 

th
em

. L
uc

ki
ly

 I 
m

ov
ed

 in
 w

ith
 

an
ot

he
r 

co
up

le
 w

he
n 

I w
as

 n
in

e 
– 

th
ey

 re
al

ly
 

ca
re

d 
an

d 
lo

ok
ed

 a
ft

er
 m

e 
lik

e 
a 

m
um

 a
nd

 d
ad

. 
I w

as
 c

on
fu

se
d 

at
 fi

rs
t,

 b
ut

 w
he

n 
I s

et
tle

d 
in

, I
 

w
as

 e
xp

la
in

ed
 a

 lo
t 

of
 t

hi
ng

s,
 a

nd
 m

ad
e 

to
 f

ee
l 

sp
ec

ia
l. 

Th
is

 h
ad

 t
he

 b
ig

ge
st

 im
pa

ct
 o

n 
m

y 
lif

e,
 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ac

hi
ev

e 
so

 m
uc

h.
 S

om
et

im
es

 
I g

et
 d

ep
re

ss
ed

 a
nd

 a
ng

ry
, a

nd
 t

hi
nk

 I 
ca

n’
t 

co
pe

, b
ut

 I 
ge

t 
he

lp
 f

ro
m

 t
he

 M
en

ta
l H

ea
lth

 
te

am
. T

he
y 

w
er

e 
ki

nd
 a

nd
 t

al
ke

d 
to

 m
e 

a 
lo

t 
an

d 
ga

ve
 m

e 
so

m
e 

m
ed

ic
at

io
n.

 I’
ve

 s
ee

n 
m

y 
si

st
er

s 
st

ru
gg

le
 a

nd
 h

av
e 

th
ei

r 
ba

bi
es

 t
ak

en
 in

to
 

ca
re

, a
nd

 d
ec

id
ed

 I 
co

ul
d 

do
 b

et
te

r. 
It’

s 
a 

sh
am

e 
m

y 
re

al
 m

um
 a

nd
 d

ad
 c

ou
ld

n’
t 

lo
ok

 a
ft

er
 m

e.
 

Ju
st

 re
ce

nt
ly

 I’
ve

 g
ot

 a
n 

ap
pr

en
tic

es
hi

p 
jo

b 
at

 
a 

la
rg

e 
ho

te
l c

ha
in

. I
 a

m
 s

o 
lu

ck
y.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 d

o 
re

al
ly

 w
el

l a
t 

m
y 

ne
w

 jo
b,

 a
nd

 g
et

 a
 p

er
m

an
en

t 
pl

ac
em

en
t 

– 
an

d 
m

ov
e 

in
to

 m
y 

ow
n 

fla
t 

at
 1

8!
” 

“I
 c

am
e 

fr
o

m
 J

am
ai

ca
 f

ro
m

 a
 b

ig
 e

xt
en

de
d 

fa
m

ily
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

di
ff

er
en

t 
fo

st
er

 p
la

ce
m

en
ts

 –
 

br
ou

gh
t 

up
 in

 c
ar

e 
si

nc
e 

I w
as

 t
hr

ee
. M

y 
si

st
er

 
di

ed
 a

t 
25

 (s
ui

ci
de

) –
 w

as
 a

 b
ig

 s
ho

ck
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

co
pe

 a
nd

 s
ta

rt
ed

 t
ak

in
g 

dr
ug

s 
w

ith
 p

eo
pl

e 
ar

ou
nd

 
m

e 
as

 I 
ha

te
d 

to
 b

e 
on

 m
y 

ow
n.

 M
y 

br
ot

he
r 

to
ok

 
re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
y 

fo
r 

m
e 

w
hi

ch
 w

as
 g

oo
d,

 b
ut

 h
e 

w
as

 
in

to
 d

ru
gs

, w
hi

ch
 im

pa
ct

ed
 o

n 
m

e.
 S

oc
ia

l S
er

vi
ce

s 
tr

ie
d 

to
 h

el
p 

m
e 

un
til

 I 
w

as
 2

2,
 a

nd
 I 

go
t 

pr
eg

na
nt

. 
Th

e 
th

in
g 

th
at

 m
ad

e 
th

e 
bi

gg
es

t 
di

ff
er

en
ce

 w
as

 
ha

vi
ng

 a
 f

am
ily

 e
nv

iro
nm

en
t,

 s
ta

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
ro

ut
in

e 
– 

st
ru

ct
ur

e.
 I 

ne
ed

 t
o 

go
 t

o 
de

to
x/

re
ha

b,
 t

he
n 

on
to

 
tr

ai
ni

ng
 a

nd
 e

du
ca

tio
n 

– 
to

 g
et

 a
 c

le
ar

 m
in

d 
an

d 
cl

ea
r 

sy
st

em
.”

 

65



24

“I
n

 1
99

8,
 m

y 
d

ad
 p

as
se

d
 a

w
ay

 a
nd

 m
y 

m
um

 
co

ul
dn

’t 
co

pe
 o

n 
he

r 
ow

n.
 I 

am
 s

til
l i

n 
ca

re
. I

 h
av

e 
ot

he
r 

si
bl

in
gs

, a
nd

 a
m

 t
he

 y
ou

ng
es

t.
 I 

ha
ve

 m
ov

ed
 

sc
ho

ol
 m

an
y 

tim
es

. M
y 

so
ci

al
 w

or
ke

r 
he

lp
ed

 t
o 

m
ov

e 
m

e 
in

to
 t

he
 s

am
e 

ca
re

 h
ou

se
 a

s 
m

y 
si

st
er

, 
an

d 
th

at
 w

as
 h

el
pf

ul
. M

y 
el

de
st

 s
is

te
r 

ha
s 

al
w

ay
s 

be
en

 t
he

re
 f

or
 m

e.
 I 

w
an

te
d 

to
 b

e 
a 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

 
da

nc
er

, b
ec

au
se

 I’
m

 g
oo

d 
at

 it
. F

el
t 

em
ot

io
na

l a
nd

 
sa

d 
in

 c
ar

e 
be

ca
us

e 
m

y 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
s 

w
er

en
’t 

go
od

 
to

 u
s 

– 
us

ed
 t

o 
be

at
 u

s,
 b

ef
or

e 
I m

ov
ed

. H
av

e 
m

ov
ed

 c
ar

er
s 

fiv
e 

tim
es

 –
 m

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

ha
s 

ch
an

ge
d 

m
y 

at
tit

ud
e 

an
d 

ha
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
m

an
ag

e 
m

y 
an

ge
r 

pr
ob

le
m

s.
 M

y 
pr

es
en

t 
ca

re
r 

tr
ea

ts
 m

e 
lik

e 
he

r 
da

ug
ht

er
 –

 I 
lo

ve
 h

er
 t

o 
bi

ts
. I

 a
m

 g
oi

ng
 

to
co

lle
ge

, b
ut

 I 
am

 n
ot

 g
et

tin
g 

on
 w

el
l.”

 

“I
 a

m
 a

 S
o

ci
al

 W
o

rk
er

 a
t 

So
ut

hw
ar

k.
 A

ft
er

 
gr

ad
ua

tin
g,

 I 
w

or
ke

d 
fo

r 
se

ve
ra

l a
ge

nc
ie

s 
w

or
ki

ng
 

w
ith

 v
ul

ne
ra

bl
e 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

, p
ar

tic
ul

ar
ly

 w
om

en
. 

I h
av

e 
es

ta
bl

is
he

d 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

ps
 w

ith
 p

ar
en

ts
 

w
ho

 h
av

e 
pr

ev
io

us
ly

 b
ee

n 
co

ns
id

er
ed

 d
iffi

cu
lt,

 
ev

as
iv

e 
an

d 
ha

rd
 t

o 
en

ga
ge

. I
 h

av
e 

al
so

 b
ee

n 
ab

le
 t

o 
en

su
re

 t
he

 s
af

et
y 

of
 c

hi
ld

re
n;

 w
he

th
er

 
w

ith
in

 f
am

ili
es

, o
r 

w
ith

in
 lo

ca
l a

ut
ho

rit
ie

s 
(L

oo
ke

d 
A

ft
er

 C
hi

ld
re

n)
. E

ve
ry

 t
im

e 
I h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 a

 c
hi

ld
 

to
 u

nd
er

st
an

d 
an

d 
im

pr
ov

e 
th

ei
r 

lif
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 
a 

hi
gh

lig
ht

. T
he

re
 h

av
e 

be
en

 t
im

es
 w

he
n 

I h
av

e 
fe

lt 
un

ab
le

 t
o 

m
ak

e 
a 

di
ff

er
en

ce
, w

he
re

 c
ha

ng
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 n
ee

de
d.

 I 
w

ill
 n

ev
er

 f
or

ge
t 

th
e 

fir
st

 t
im

e 
Ir

em
ov

ed
 a

 c
hi

ld
 f

ro
m

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ily

 t
o 

en
su

re
 t

he
ir 

sa
fe

ty
 –

 t
he

 v
ar

io
us

 a
nd

 c
on

fli
ct

in
g 

em
ot

io
ns

 w
er

e 
ve

ry
 c

ha
lle

ng
in

g.
 I 

fe
el

 s
im

ila
rly

 e
ve

ry
 t

im
e 

I t
el

l 
a 

ch
ild

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 c

an
’t 

st
ay

 w
ith

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ily

 o
r 

ca
re

rs
. I

 w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 t

o 
m

ov
e 

to
 t

he
 L

oo
ke

d 
A

ft
er

 
C

hi
ld

re
n 

Se
rv

ic
e 

ne
xt

 –
 t

o 
be

co
m

e 
a 

m
or

e 
sk

ill
ed

 
an

d 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

r 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
ha

ve
 a

 p
os

iti
ve

 a
nd

 w
or

th
w

hi
le

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e.

” 

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

s 
w

er
e 

al
l g

o
o

d
. I

’m
 n

ot
 in

 
co

nt
ac

t 
w

ith
 a

ny
 o

f 
th

em
 a

ny
m

or
e,

 li
fe

 ju
st

 g
et

s 
in

 
th

e 
w

ay
 a

nd
 p

eo
pl

e 
m

ov
e 

on
. B

ut
 I 

do
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 

co
m

pl
ai

nt
s 

ab
ou

t 
th

em
 –

 m
y 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
th

er
e 

w
as

 
be

tt
er

 t
ha

n 
it 

w
as

 in
 c

hi
ld

re
n’

s 
ho

m
es

.”
 

66



25

“T
h

e 
fi

rs
t 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 I 
h

ad
 w

as
 g

o
o

d
, I

’m
st

ill
in

 t
ou

ch
 w

ith
 h

er
 n

ow
 a

nd
 s

he
’s 

a 
bi

g 
pa

rt
 

of
m

y 
lif

e.
”

“M
y 

re
la

ti
o

n
sh

ip
 w

it
h

 m
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 is
 

g
re

at
, t

ha
t’s

 m
y 

m
um

. S
he

’s 
ne

ve
r 

tr
ea

te
d 

m
e 

as
 

a 
fo

st
er

 c
hi

ld
 –

 s
he

’s 
al

w
ay

s 
tr

ea
te

d 
m

e 
as

 o
ne

 o
f 

he
r 

ow
n.

 S
he

 w
as

 o
pe

n 
an

d 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

in
g;

 s
he

 
ne

ve
r 

tr
ie

d 
to

 t
ak

e 
m

y 
m

um
’s 

pl
ac

e 
an

d 
w

or
ke

d 
ha

rd
 t

o 
ke

ep
 h

er
 s

pi
rit

 a
liv

e.
 S

he
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

ho
us

e 
ve

ry
 w

el
co

m
in

g,
 p

ut
 p

ic
tu

re
s 

of
 m

y 
m

um
 a

ro
un

d 
th

e 
ho

us
e 

an
d 

st
uf

f.
 I 

gr
ew

 a
 s

tr
on

g 
bo

nd
 w

ith
 h

er
 

an
d 

sh
e 

ev
en

 a
do

pt
ed

 m
e 

w
he

n 
I w

as
 1

7.
” 

“M
y 

fo
st

er
 c

ar
er

 w
as

 r
ea

lly
 g

o
o

d
 t

o
 m

e;
sh

e
w

as
 li

ke
 a

 m
um

 t
o 

m
e.

” 

“I
 w

o
rk

 in
 S

o
u

th
w

ar
k 

n
o

w
, a

ft
er

 q
ua

lif
yi

ng
. 

I f
ee

l v
er

y 
st

ro
ng

ly
 a

bo
ut

 t
he

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
th

ei
r 

liv
es

 a
nd

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
es

. I
 c

an
 f

ee
l f

ru
st

ra
te

d 
if 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

ar
en

’t
 g

et
tin

g 
th

e 
be

st
 s

er
vi

ce
 –

 t
hi

s 
co

ul
d 

be
 b

ec
au

se
 o

f 
sy

st
em

s,
 o

r 
be

ca
us

e 
w

e 
ca

n’
t 

ge
t 

en
ou

gh
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 p
ar

en
ts

/c
ar

er
s.

 I 
am

 
al

so
 v

er
y 

co
m

m
itt

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
rs

 a
nd

 
w

an
t 

th
em

 t
o 

fe
el

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 s

o 
th

at
 t

he
y 

ca
n 

do
 t

he
ir 

jo
b 

pr
op

er
ly.

 W
ha

t 
he

lp
s 

is
 w

he
n 

w
e 

ar
e 

al
l f

oc
us

ed
 o

n 
th

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
ra

th
er

 t
ha

n 
re

d 
ta

pe
; h

av
in

g 
go

od
 c

om
pe

te
nt

 s
oc

ia
l w

or
ke

rs
. 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 m

or
e 

tim
e 

to
 g

iv
e 

to
 r

es
ea

rc
h 

an
d 

th
eo

ry
. I

re
m

em
be

r 
m

y 
w

or
st

 c
as

e 
– 

no
t 

fe
el

in
g 

su
pp

or
te

d 
– 

bu
t 

I d
id

n’
t 

gi
ve

 u
p 

an
d 

ev
en

tu
al

ly
 

th
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

w
er

e 
m

ad
e 

sa
fe

.”
 

“M
u

ch
 o

f 
o

u
r 

m
o

n
ey

 f
o

r 
ch

ild
re

n
 in

 c
ar

e 
is

 
tie

d 
up

 in
 t

ra
di

tio
na

l a
nd

 c
er

ta
in

 w
ay

s 
of

 d
oi

ng
 

pr
ac

tic
e.

 H
ow

 c
an

 w
e 

re
in

ve
st

 t
ho

se
 re

so
ur

ce
s,

 
pa

rt
ic

ul
ar

ly
 b

y 
th

in
ki

ng
 a

bo
ut

 w
ay

s 
to

 h
el

p 
ch

ild
re

n 
go

 a
nd

 re
m

ai
n 

at
 h

om
e?

” 

67



26

W
h

at
 d

o
es

 t
h

is
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 m
ea

n
?

Ev
er

y 
ch

ild
 a

nd
 y

ou
ng

 p
er

so
n 

de
se

rv
es

 t
o 

liv
e 

a 
fu

ll,
 h

ap
py

 a
nd

 in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

lif
e 

– 
an

d 
a 

sp
ec

ia
l e

du
ca

tio
na

l n
ee

d 
or

 d
is

ab
ili

ty
 s

ho
ul

d 
no

t 
pr

ev
en

t 
th

is
. S

o 
w

e 
ar

e 
co

m
m

itt
ed

 t
o 

m
ak

in
g 

su
re

 t
ha

t 
th

es
e 

ch
ild

re
n 

an
d 

yo
un

g 
pe

op
le

 a
re

 a
bl

e 
to

 c
ho

os
e 

th
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 t
he

y 
ne

ed
 –

 re
ga

rd
le

ss
 o

f 
w

he
th

er
 t

he
y 

ne
ed

 
he

al
th

, e
du

ca
tio

n 
or

 s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

su
pp

or
t 

– 
in

or
de

r 
to

 li
ve

 li
fe

 t
o 

th
e 

fu
lle

st
.

W
e 

pr
om

is
e 

th
at

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ith
 

a 
sp

ec
ia

l e
du

ca
tio

na
l n

ee
d 

or
 d

is
ab

ili
ty

 a
nd

 t
he

ir 
fa

m
ili

es
 w

ill
 b

e 
ab

le
 t

o 
ac

ce
ss

 a
 lo

ca
l o

ff
er

 o
f 

se
am

le
ss

, 
pe

rs
on

al
is

ed
 s

up
po

rt
 f

ro
m

 c
hi

ld
ho

od
 t

o 
ad

ul
th

oo
d.

W
h

at
 c

an
 y

o
u

 e
xp

ec
t 

to
 c

h
an

g
e 

th
ro

u
g

h
 t

h
is

 p
ri

o
ri

ty
?

M
or

e 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 w

ho
 n

ee
d 

it 
be

in
g 

of
fe

re
d 

in
te

gr
at

ed
 

su
pp

or
t s

pa
nn

in
g 

he
al

th
, e

du
ca

tio
n 

an
d 

so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

se
rv

ic
es

M
or

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 o

f 
th

e 
ki

nd
 y

ou
 n

ee
d 

an
d 

w
an

t 
to

 b
e 

av
ai

la
bl

e,
 a

nd
 

fo
r 

it 
to

 b
e 

ea
si

er
 t

o 
fin

d 
ou

t 
ab

ou
t 

th
em

El
ig

ib
le

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 t

o 
ha

ve
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 t
o 

a 
pe

rs
on

al
 

bu
dg

et
 –

 w
hi

ch
 m

ea
ns

 t
he

y 
ha

ve
 t

he
 f

re
ed

om
 t

o 
bu

y 
th

e 
se

rv
ic

es
 

th
ey

 n
ee

d

M
or

e 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 r
ig

ht
 in

to
 a

du
lth

oo
d 

– 
up

 t
o 

th
e 

ag
e 

of
 2

5 
– 

he
lp

in
g 

th
em

 t
o 

be
 in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
an

d 
su

cc
es

sf
ul

68



27

“P
et

ra
 is

 1
7.

 S
h

e 
h

as
 D

o
w

n
 ’s

 s
yn

d
ro

m
e

an
d 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
. S

he
’s 

ju
st

 fi
ni

sh
ed

 a
n 

in
de

pe
nd

en
t 

liv
in

g 
pr

og
ra

m
m

e 
at

 c
ol

le
ge

. H
er

 
m

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 w

or
ke

r 
sa

ys
 s

he
 h

as
 d

et
er

io
ra

te
d 

qu
ite

 s
ub

st
an

tia
lly

 in
 t

he
 p

as
t 

12
 m

on
th

s 
an

d 
is

 
no

t 
re

sp
on

di
ng

 t
o 

an
ti-

ps
yc

ho
tic

 d
ru

gs
. T

he
y 

ar
e 

no
t 

su
re

 w
ha

t 
is

 g
oi

ng
 o

n 
an

d 
ha

ve
 in

st
ru

ct
ed

 t
he

 
su

pp
or

t 
of

 o
th

er
 m

ed
ic

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s.

 H
er

 p
ar

en
t 

sa
ys

 
sh

e 
ju

st
 w

an
de

rs
, a

pp
ea

rs
 d

is
tr

es
se

d 
an

d 
is

 p
ul

lin
g 

at
 h

er
 h

ai
r. 

Sh
e 

w
as

 n
ot

 k
no

w
n 

to
 s

oc
ia

l c
ar

e;
 t

he
y 

ar
e 

no
w

 a
ss

es
si

ng
 h

er
. H

er
 p

re
vi

ou
s 

co
lle

ge
 f

ee
ls

 
it 

ca
n’

t 
su

pp
or

t 
he

r 
as

 a
 lo

t 
ha

s 
ch

an
ge

d 
si

nc
e 

sh
e 

le
ft

 h
er

 s
pe

ci
al

 s
ch

oo
l. 

A
 m

ee
tin

g 
to

 a
gr

ee
 w

ha
t 

ha
pp

en
s 

ne
xt

 is
 p

la
nn

ed
.”

 

“O
n

e 
o

f 
m

y 
ch

ild
re

n
 h

as
 a

 c
h

ro
n

ic
 m

ed
ic

al
 

co
n

d
it

io
n

. T
he

 h
ea

lth
 v

is
ito

r 
m

ad
e 

m
e 

fe
el

 
re

sp
on

si
bl

e 
fo

r 
he

r 
fa

ilu
re

 t
o 

th
riv

e.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 fi

gh
t 

to
 

ge
t 

ph
ys

io
th

er
ap

y 
an

d 
ed

uc
at

io
n 

su
pp

or
t.

 A
hi

gh
 

is
 t

ha
t 

sh
e’

s 
ju

st
 s

ta
rt

ed
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 is
 s

et
tli

ng
 in

 v
er

y 
w

el
l. 

A
 lo

w
 is

 a
t 

ho
m

e 
– 

I h
av

e 
be

en
 w

ai
tin

g 
tw

o 
an

d 
ha

lf 
ye

ar
s 

fo
r 

ad
ap

ta
tio

ns
 s

o 
th

at
 m

y 
da

ug
ht

er
 c

an
 a

cc
es

s 
th

e 
ki

tc
he

n 
an

d 
le

ar
n 

so
m

e 
in

de
pe

nd
en

t 
liv

in
g 

sk
ill

s.
” 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 Y

OU
NG

 P
EO

PL
E 

BE
CO

MI
NG

 IN
DE

PE
ND

EN
T

“I
 a

m
 a

 y
ou

ng
 p

er
so

n,
 1

9 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d,

 w
it

h 
a 

di
sa

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
I h

av
e 

re
ce

nt
ly

 m
ov

ed
 in

to
 s

up
po

rt
ed

 
liv

in
g 

w
he

re
 I 

am
 li

vi
ng

 s
em

i i
nd

ep
en

de
nt

ly.
 L

ea
rn

in
g 

ho
w

 to
 c

oo
k 

fo
r m

ys
el

f, 
sh

op
 fo

r m
ys

el
f, 

do
 m

y 
ow

n 
la

un
dr

y,
 a

nd
 le

ar
ni

ng
ho

w
 to

 tr
av

el
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
 

to
 c

ol
le

ge
. A

t L
ew

ish
am

 C
ol

le
ge

 I 
am

 d
oi

ng
 a

rt
 a

nd
 

de
sig

n.
 T

he
 p

eo
pl

e 
w

ho
 h

av
e 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
in

cl
ud

e 
m

y 
fo

st
er

 c
ar

er
, m

y 
ke

y 
w

or
ke

r, 
m

y 
so

ci
al

 w
or

ke
r, 

an
d 

st
af

f a
nd

 fr
ie

nd
s 

at
 th

e 
Yo

ut
h 

C
lu

b.
 W

he
n 

I 
ha

ve
 b

ee
n 

on
 re

sid
en

tia
ls 

w
ith

 th
e 

yo
ut

h 
cl

ub
 I 

w
as

 
ab

le
 to

 ta
ke

 p
ar

t i
n 

ev
er

yt
hi

ng
 w

hi
ch

 m
ad

e 
m

e 
fe

el
 

pr
ou

d 
of

 m
ys

el
f. 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 to

 w
or

k 
in

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
, g

o 
to

 c
ol

le
ge

 a
nd

 g
et

 a
 q

ua
lifi

ca
tio

n 
in

 c
hi

ld
ca

re
.”

 

“I
 s

ta
rt

ed
 in

 a
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l b
ut

 d
ro

pp
ed

 
ou

t 
be

ca
us

e 
I w

as
 b

ul
lie

d.
 I 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 

w
ith

 A
sp

er
ge

r’s
 S

yn
dr

om
e 

at
 1

5.
 M

y 
he

ad
 te

ac
he

r 
at

 m
y 

m
ai

ns
tr

ea
m

 s
ch

oo
l s

ug
ge

st
ed

 I 
go

 fo
r a

n 
as

se
ss

m
en

t. 
I m

et
 m

y 
ad

vi
so

r, 
an

d 
sh

e 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

to
 

un
de

rs
ta

nd
 w

or
k,

 a
nd

 h
ow

 to
 c

on
st

ru
ct

 a
 C

V.
 S

he
 

fo
un

d 
m

e 
a 

co
ur

se
 in

 a
 h

os
pi

ta
l, 

an
d 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ge

t 
w

or
k 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e 
at

 a
 fa

rm
. I

 h
av

e 
4 

G
C

SE
s.

” 

“T
ra

n
si

ti
o

n
 m

ea
n

s 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
th

in
g

s 
to

 
d

if
fe

re
n

t 
p

eo
p

le
. C

hi
ld

ho
od

 t
o 

ad
ul

th
oo

d 
bu

t 
al

so
 c

ha
ng

es
 in

 c
on

di
tio

n,
 s

oc
ia

l c
irc

um
st

an
ce

s.
 

C
ha

ng
es

 in
 li

fe
 c

an
 b

e 
‘t

ra
ns

iti
on

s’
. I

f 
yo

u 
w

an
t 

to
 t

ak
e 

an
 in

te
gr

at
ed

 a
pp

ro
ac

h 
yo

u 
ne

ed
 t

o 
un

de
rs

ta
nd

 t
he

se
 t

ra
ns

iti
on

s.
” 

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
h

ad
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

b
ab

y.
A

ft
er

 f
am

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

w
er

e 
re

m
ov

ed
, 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

he
lp

ed
 m

e 
ga

in
 a

 n
ur

se
ry

 p
la

ce
 f

or
 

m
y 

so
n,

 w
ho

 h
as

 a
ut

is
m

. S
pe

ec
h 

an
d 

la
ng

ua
ge

 
th

er
ap

is
t,

 n
ur

se
ry

 s
ta

ff
, G

P,
 h

ea
lth

 v
is

ito
r 

an
d 

be
ne

fit
s 

ad
vi

so
r 

ha
ve

 a
ll 

he
lp

ed
. T

he
re

 w
er

e 
tim

es
 w

he
n 

w
e 

w
as

 fi
gh

tin
g 

re
d 

ta
pe

 t
ha

t 
I f

el
t 

ve
ry

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 f

ru
st

ra
te

d,
 a

nd
 t

im
es

 w
he

n 
I f

el
t 

el
at

ed
 a

t 
th

e 
re

sp
on

se
s 

I g
ot

. M
y 

ne
xt

 jo
ur

ne
y 

is
su

pp
or

tin
g 

m
y 

so
n 

in
to

 s
ch

oo
l.”

 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
GR

OW
IN

G 
UP

 W
IT

H 
AN

 A
DD

IT
IO

N
AL

 N
EE

D.

69



28

“I
 a

m
 in

 Y
ea

r 
11

. I
 n

ee
d 

he
lp

 w
ith

 m
y 

co
nc

en
tr

at
io

n.
 I 

so
m

et
im

es
 lo

se
 m

y 
te

m
pe

r 
at

 
te

ac
he

rs
 b

ec
au

se
 t

he
y 

gr
ab

 o
r 

sh
ou

t 
at

 m
e.

 I 
lik

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
fr

ie
nd

s 
at

 s
ch

oo
l. 

Th
e 

th
in

g 
th

at
 m

ad
e 

th
e 

bi
gg

es
t 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 w

as
 m

ee
tin

g 
fr

ie
nd

s.
 M

y 
te

ac
he

r 
ha

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

be
ca

us
e 

sh
e 

al
w

ay
s 

te
lls

 
us

 t
o 

tr
y 

ou
r 

ha
rd

es
t.

 I 
ne

ed
 t

o 
be

 f
oc

us
ed

 a
nd

 
tr

y 
m

y 
ha

rd
es

t.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 b
ec

om
e 

a 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
 

bo
xe

r 
or

 f
oo

tb
al

l p
la

ye
r.”

 

“I
 h

av
e 

p
ro

b
le

m
s 

in
 m

at
h

s,
 a

nd
 I 

am
 e

as
ily

 
di

st
ra

ct
ed

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 g

et
 in

to
 a

 lo
t 

of
 fi

gh
ts

. M
y 

su
pp

or
t 

te
ac

he
rs

 a
nd

 s
om

e 
st

ud
en

ts
 h

av
e 

al
so

 
he

lp
ed

 m
e.

 T
he

y 
ha

ve
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
w

ith
 m

y 
w

or
k,

 
an

d 
al

so
 w

ith
 m

y 
di

st
ra

ct
io

ns
. I

 u
se

d 
to

 re
m

em
be

r 
ge

tt
in

g 
in

 t
ro

ub
le

 in
 s

ch
oo

l a
nd

 a
t 

ho
m

e.
 I 

us
ed

 t
o 

fe
el

 a
ng

ry
 a

nd
 d

is
tr

es
se

d 
an

d 
fe

d 
up

. M
y 

fa
m

ily
, 

te
ac

he
rs

, a
nd

 f
rie

nd
s 

he
lp

 m
e 

w
ith

 m
y 

tr
ou

bl
es

. 
M

y 
te

ac
he

rs
 h

el
p 

m
e 

w
ith

 p
riv

at
e 

tu
iti

on
, b

ec
au

se
 

I h
av

e 
pr

ob
le

m
s 

w
ith

 m
y 

w
or

k.
” 

“I
 li

ve
 w

it
h

 m
y 

m
u

m
 a

n
d

 s
is

te
r. 

I g
o 

to
 R

oo
ts

 
an

d 
Sh

oo
ts

 c
ol

le
ge

. I
 le

ar
n 

re
ta

il.
 I 

w
an

t 
to

 
w

or
k 

in
 S

ai
ns

bu
ry

’s.
 I 

go
 

to
 F

as
t 

Fo
rw

ar
d 

Yo
ut

h 
Pr

oj
ec

t.
 O

n 
Th

ur
sd

ay
s 

I d
o 

co
ok

in
g,

 a
rt

, 
ba

sk
et

ba
ll 

an
d 

I g
et

 
to

 s
ee

 m
y 

fr
ie

nd
s.

 I 
al

so
 h

av
e 

a 
ca

re
r 

fr
om

 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

C
ar

er
s.

” 

“M
y 

b
ro

th
er

 w
as

 in
 h

o
sp

it
al

 a
nd

 m
y 

m
um

 h
ad

 
to

 s
ta

y 
w

ith
 h

im
. S

o 
I w

en
t 

to
 s

ta
y 

w
ith

 m
y 

N
an

 
on

 t
he

 Is
le

 o
f 

W
ig

ht
. I

 w
en

t 
to

 s
ch

oo
l t

he
re

 f
or

 a
 

fe
w

 w
ee

ks
. I

 d
id

n’
t 

kn
ow

 a
ny

 o
f 

th
e 

ki
ds

 t
he

re
 a

nd
 

pl
ay

ed
 o

n 
m

y 
ow

n 
m

os
t 

of
 t

he
 t

im
e.

 N
ow

 I’
m

 b
ac

k 
at

 s
ch

oo
l –

 a
nd

 it
’s 

go
od

. M
y 

br
ot

he
r 

ha
d 

to
 g

et
 

hi
s 

le
gs

 c
ut

 o
ff

 –
 s

om
et

im
es

 h
e 

us
es

 a
 w

he
el

ch
ai

r. 
I m

ee
t 

hi
m

 a
t 

a 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r 
ba

sk
et

ba
ll 

cl
ub

, a
nd

 
no

w
 I 

pl
ay

 t
oo

. I
 u

se
d 

to
 n

ee
d 

he
lp

 in
 c

la
ss

 w
ith

 m
y 

M
at

hs
, b

ut
 n

ow
 I’

m
 q

ui
te

 g
oo

d.
 S

om
et

im
es

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
in

d 
m

e 
up

 a
nd

 I 
ge

t 
an

gr
y 

an
d 

pu
sh

 p
eo

pl
e.

 
Te

ac
he

rs
 t

el
l m

e 
of

f.
 I 

w
an

t 
so

m
e 

he
lp

 s
o 

I d
on

’t 
ge

t 
an

gr
y.

 I 
w

an
t 

to
 b

e 
a 

bu
ild

er
 li

ke
 m

y 
da

d.
” 

“T
h

e 
m

ai
n

st
re

am
 s

ch
o

o
l h

as
 n

o
 

u
n

d
er

st
an

d
in

g
 o

f 
m

y 
ch

ild
’s

 s
p

ec
ia

l 
ed

u
ca

ti
o

n
al

 n
ee

d
s.

 I 
ex

pe
ct

ed
 t

o 
ha

ve
 m

y 
so

n 
in

 a
 s

ch
oo

l w
he

re
 h

e’
s 

un
de

rs
to

od
. I

’v
e 

fe
lt 

un
su

pp
or

te
d,

 s
ad

, a
nd

 
al

on
e.

 B
ut

 g
et

tin
g 

m
y 

so
n 

in
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 
pl

ac
e 

ha
s 

be
en

 s
o 

po
si

tiv
e.

 I’
ll 

ne
ed

 
to

 g
et

 a
 s

ta
te

m
en

t 
of

 n
ee

ds
 t

o 
fin

d 
a 

se
co

nd
ar

y 
sc

ho
ol

 t
o 

m
ee

t 
hi

s 
ne

ed
s 

ne
xt

.”
 

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 T
HE

RE
 A

RE
 A

RO
UN

D 
1,5

00
 SO

UT
HW

AR
K 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 A
N

D 
YO

UN
G 

PE
OP

LE
 W

IT
H 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T 

OF
 S

PE
CI

AL
 E

DU
CA

TI
ON

AL
 

N
EE

DS
, A

N
D 

AR
OU

N
D 

15
0 

OF
 T

HE
SE

 
HA

VE
 A

 C
AR

E 
PA

CK
AG

E 
AS

 W
EL

L

 T
HE

 T
HR

EE
 M

OS
T 

CO
M

M
ON

 N
EE

DS
 

FO
R 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T 

AR
E 

AU
TI

SM
, 

EM
OT

IO
N

AL
 A

N
D 

BE
HA

VI
OU

RA
L 

DI
FF

IC
UL

TI
ES

, A
N

D 
LE

AR
N

IN
G 

DI
FF

IC
UL

TI
ES

 A
T 

40
%

 O
F 

AL
L 

ST
AT

EM
EN

TS
 

AU
TI

SM
 IS

 T
HE

 M
OS

T 
CO

M
M

ON
 

PR
IM

AR
Y 

N
EE

D 

 O
VE

R 
50

%
 O

F 
PU

PI
LS

 W
IT

H 
AU

TI
SM

 
AR

E 
BL

AC
K 

OR
 B

LA
CK

 B
RI

TI
SH

 
(5

6%
) 

W
HI

CH
 IS

 2
.5

 T
IM

ES
 H

IG
HE

R 
TH

AN
 T

HE
 N

EX
T 

LA
RG

ES
T 

ET
HN

IC
 

GR
OU

P 
– 

TH
OS

E 
OF

 W
HI

TE
 E

TH
N

IC
 

BA
CK

GR
OU

N
D

70



29

“M
y 

so
n

 w
as

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

 a
t 

12
.

H
e 

ha
d 

ju
st

 s
ta

rt
ed

 a
t 

a 
se

co
nd

ar
y 

ac
ad

em
y.

 H
e 

w
as

 n
ot

 g
iv

en
 a

de
qu

at
e 

su
pp

or
t 

at
 s

ch
oo

l, 
w

hi
ch

 
re

su
lte

d 
in

 c
ha

lle
ng

in
g 

be
ha

vi
ou

rs
 a

nd
 h

e 
w

as
 

pe
rm

an
en

tly
 e

xc
lu

de
d.

 I 
w

ou
ld

’v
e 

pr
ef

er
re

d 
th

at
 

he
 s

ta
y 

at
 t

he
 s

ec
on

da
ry

 s
ch

oo
l, 

w
ith

 s
up

po
rt

 
lik

e 
he

 w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

in
 a

 s
pe

ci
al

 s
ch

oo
l. 

I w
as

 a
ls

o 
an

gr
y 

w
ith

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l –

 h
ow

 d
ar

e 
th

ey
 t

re
at

 m
y 

so
n 

th
is

 w
ay

.”
 

“S
in

ce
 o

u
r 

ch
ild

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 d

ia
g

n
o

se
d

 w
it

h
 

au
ti

sm
,i

t 
ha

s 
be

en
 a

 s
tr

ug
gl

e 
an

d 
ba

tt
le

 t
o 

ge
t 

th
e 

rig
ht

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 a
dv

ic
e.

 W
e 

ha
ve

 h
ad

 
to

 le
ar

n,
 in

ve
st

ig
at

e 
an

d 
fin

d 
th

e 
rig

ht
 p

eo
pl

e 
ou

rs
el

ve
s.

 W
e 

fe
lt 

is
ol

at
ed

 a
nd

 a
lo

ne
 a

ga
in

st
 

so
m

et
hi

ng
 w

e’
d 

ne
ve

r 
ex

pe
rie

nc
ed

 b
ef

or
e.

 
W

e 
pr

iv
at

el
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

ed
 t

ut
or

s.
 If

 w
e 

ha
d 

to
 

w
ai

t 
fo

r 
a 

st
at

em
en

t,
 o

ur
 s

on
 w

ou
ld

 h
av

e 
be

en
 

w
ith

ou
t 

su
pp

or
t 

fo
r 

ne
ar

ly
 t

w
o 

ye
ar

s,
 w

hi
ch

 is
 

un
ac

ce
pt

ab
le

 k
no

w
in

g 
th

at
 t

he
 e

ar
ly

 y
ea

rs
 a

re
 

th
e

m
os

t 
im

po
rt

an
t.

” 

“F
o

r 
p

ar
en

ts
, t

h
e 

ti
m

e 
sp

en
t 

‘o
u

ts
id

e 
th

e 
sy

st
em

’c
op

in
g 

w
ith

 d
iffi

cu
lti

es
 m

ea
ns

 t
ha

t 
w

he
n 

th
ey

 e
nt

er
 t

he
 s

ys
te

m
 t

he
y 

ar
e 

no
t 

in
 t

he
 r

ig
ht

 
fr

am
e 

of
 m

in
d 

to
 w

or
k 

w
ith

 s
er

vi
ce

s;
 in

te
rv

en
tio

ns
 

ne
ed

 t
o 

ha
pp

en
 a

t 
th

e 
ea

rly
 w

ar
ni

ng
 s

ig
ns

.”
 

“W
it

h
 t

h
e 

h
ig

h
 n

u
m

b
er

s 
o

f 
ca

se
s 

n
o

t 
p

ro
ce

ed
in

g
 t

o
 a

n
 a

ss
es

sm
en

t 
fo

r 
a 

st
at

em
en

t,
w

e 
ne

ed
 t

o 
co

ns
id

er
 t

hr
es

ho
ld

s 
an

d 
st

ep
 d

ow
n 

to
 

ea
rly

 h
el

p,
 m

ak
in

g 
su

re
 h

el
p 

is
 a

va
ila

bl
e 

fr
om

 n
on

-
st

at
ut

or
y 

se
rv

ic
es

.”
 

“M
y 

so
n

 b
ec

am
e 

ill
 a

n
d

 d
is

ab
le

d
 1

6 
ye

ar
s 

ag
o

.
I h

av
e 

to
 k

ee
p 

fig
ht

in
g 

to
 o

bt
ai

n 
he

lp
 f

or
 h

im
, d

ay
 

af
te

r 
da

y.
 I 

ex
pe

ct
 m

y 
ch

ild
 t

o 
re

m
ai

n 
at

 s
ch

oo
l 

un
til

 h
e 

is
 1

9 
ye

ar
s 

ol
d.

 I 
ex

pe
ct

 h
im

 t
o 

ge
t 

in
to

 
co

lle
ge

. I
t’s

 b
ee

n 
a 

lo
ng

 jo
ur

ne
y 

so
 f

ar
. I

fe
el

 t
he

 
st

ru
gg

le
 c

on
tin

ue
s;

 I 
ha

ve
 t

o 
ke

ep
 g

oi
ng

. H
os

pi
ta

ls
 

he
lp

ed
 w

ith
 c

ar
e 

an
d 

su
pp

or
t,

 a
lo

ng
 w

ith
 t

he
 

sc
ho

ol
 t

ea
m

, s
oc

ia
l s

er
vi

ce
s.

 I 
ho

pe
 t

ha
t 

m
y 

so
n 

w
ill

 b
e 

ab
le

 t
o 

at
ta

in
 in

de
pe

nd
en

ce
 in

 g
ro

w
in

g 
up

 
to

 b
ec

om
e 

an
 a

du
lt.

” 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 S
EE

KIN
G 

SU
PP

OR
T

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
 F

IN
DI

N
G 

AN
D 

AC
CE

SS
IN

G 
SU

PP
OR

T 
FR

OM
 L

OC
AL

 S
ER

VI
CE

S

71



30

“M
e 

an
d

 m
y 

w
if

e 
ar

e 
ta

ki
n

g
 c

ar
e 

o
f 

m
y 

au
ti

st
ic

 c
h

ild
 w

ith
 b

eh
av

io
ur

 a
nd

 le
ar

ni
ng

 
di

ffi
cu

lti
es

 –
 h

is
 e

pi
le

ps
y 

so
m

et
im

es
 le

ad
s 

to
 

se
iz

ur
es

. M
y 

so
n 

is
 b

ei
ng

 e
du

ca
te

d 
in

 s
ch

oo
l; 

ye
ar

 
11

. H
e 

us
es

 G
Ps

 a
nd

 K
in

g’
s 

H
os

pi
ta

l a
 lo

t;
 a

ls
o 

w
e 

ge
t 

su
pp

or
t 

fr
om

 C
ha

rli
e 

C
ha

pl
in

’s 
(p

la
yg

ro
un

d)
 

– 
to

 im
pr

ov
e 

hi
s 

da
y 

to
 d

ay
 a

ct
iv

iti
es

. W
e 

do
n’

t 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 e

xt
en

de
d 

fa
m

ily
 t

o 
he

lp
, s

o 
m

y 
w

or
k 

is
 

af
fe

ct
ed

. I
 h

op
e 

m
y 

so
n 

ca
n 

su
rv

iv
e 

in
 t

hi
s 

w
or

ld
 o

n 
hi

s 
ow

n,
 in

de
pe

nd
en

tly
 f

un
ct

io
ni

ng
, w

ith
ou

t 
he

lp
. 

Bu
t 

he
 is

 n
on

-v
er

ba
l, 

an
d 

ra
re

ly
 c

om
m

un
ic

at
es

. 
M

y 
w

ife
 a

nd
 d

au
gh

te
r 

ha
ve

 t
o 

be
 in

vo
lv

ed
 a

ll 
th

e 
tim

e.
 I 

th
in

k 
th

e 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 t
he

 c
ou

nc
il 

ar
e 

w
or

ki
ng

 
ha

rd
 t

o 
he

lp
 u

s.
 I 

ho
pe

 f
ur

th
er

 c
ut

s 
on

 p
eo

pl
e 

w
ith

 
di

sa
bi

lit
ie

s 
w

ou
ld

 s
to

p;
 a

nd
 lo

ok
 f

or
 b

et
te

r 
w

ay
s 

in
 

he
lp

in
g 

th
em

 im
pr

ov
e 

th
ei

r 
liv

es
.”

  

“I
’m

 a
 m

u
m

 w
it

h
 2

 c
h

ild
re

n
 a

tt
en

di
ng

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
sc

ho
ol

s.
 O

ne
 c

hi
ld

 is
 b

ei
ng

 a
ss

es
se

d 
by

 
Su

ns
hi

ne
 H

ou
se

, w
hi

ch
 is

 v
er

y 
us

ef
ul

. B
ut

 it
 w

ou
ld

 
he

lp
 if

 t
he

re
 w

as
 m

or
e 

fo
llo

w
 u

p 
in

 t
he

 f
ut

ur
e,

 
an

d 
no

t 
di

sc
ou

ra
gi

ng
 t

he
 c

hi
ld

 w
he

n 
th

ey
 h

av
e 

pr
ob

le
m

s,
 i.

e.
 in

 w
rit

in
g.

 I 
th

in
k 

th
er

e 
sh

ou
ld

 b
e 

a 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

ith
 t

he
 p

ar
en

t 
an

d 
sc

ho
ol

 a
nd

 c
hi

ld
 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
th

e 
ou

tc
om

e 
of

 t
he

 a
ss

es
sm

en
t.

 S
al

m
on

 
Yo

ut
h 

C
en

tr
e 

is
 o

ve
r-

su
bs

cr
ib

ed
 a

nd
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ai

t 
fo

r 
a 

lo
ng

 t
im

e 
to

 a
cc

es
s 

se
rv

ic
es

. I
 t

hi
nk

 t
ha

t 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

sh
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

tu
to

rs
 f

or
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

th
at

 
ar

e 
fa

lli
ng

 b
eh

in
d 

in
 s

ch
oo

l, 
if 

ne
ed

ed
. I

 h
av

e 
th

e 
pr

ob
le

m
 o

f 
ge

tt
in

g 
m

y 
so

n 
in

to
 a

 s
ec

on
da

ry
 

sc
ho

ol
 t

ha
t 

w
ou

ld
 b

e 
go

od
 f

or
 h

is
 n

ee
ds

. I
 h

op
e 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

to
 s

up
po

rt
 m

y 
so

n’
s 

ne
ed

s 
– 

th
er

e 
is

 a
 n

ee
d 

fo
r 

m
or

e 
sc

ho
ol

s 
in

 t
he

 a
re

a.
” 

“T
h

e 
lo

ca
l o

ff
er

 o
f 

se
rv

ic
es

 is
 a

 g
re

at
 

o
p

p
o

rt
u

n
it

y
to

 g
et

 t
hi

ng
s 

rig
ht

 –
 a

ge
nc

ie
s 

ha
ve

 
to

 p
ub

lis
h 

w
ha

t 
th

ey
 d

o 
to

 s
up

po
rt

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 

sp
ec

ia
l e

du
ca

tio
na

l n
ee

ds
.”

SO
UT

HW
AR

K 
FA

ST
-F

AC
TS

:

 A
LL

 S
OU

TH
W

AR
K’

S 
SP

EC
IA

L 
SC

HO
OL

S 
AR

E 
JU

DG
ED

 B
Y 

OF
ST

ED
 T

O 
BE

 G
OO

D 
OR

 O
UT

ST
AN

DI
N

G

 P
UP

ILS
 W

IT
H 

SP
EC

IA
L 

ED
UC

AT
IO

N
AL

 
N

EE
DS

 A
CH

IE
VE

 W
EL

L 
IN

 S
OU

TH
W

AR
K 

SC
HO

OL
S, 

W
IT

H 
AT

TA
IN

M
EN

T 
AC

RO
SS

 
TH

E 
KE

Y 
ST

AG
ES

 H
IG

HE
R 

TH
AN

 T
HE

 
LO

N
DO

N
 A

N
D 

N
AT

IO
N

AL
 A

VE
RA

GE
S

 O
F 

TH
OS

E 
CH

ILD
RE

N
 IN

 T
HE

 B
OT

TO
M

 
20

%
 A

T 
EA

RL
Y 

YE
AR

S 
FO

UN
DA

TI
ON

 
ST

AG
E 

PR
OF

ILE
, 2

5%
 H

AV
E 

AN
 

ID
EN

TI
FI

ED
 S

PE
CI

AL
 E

DU
CA

TI
ON

AL
 

N
EE

DS
, C

OM
PA

RE
D 

TO
 9

.1%
 O

F 
AL

L 
FI

VE
 Y

EA
R 

OL
DS

 O
F 

TH
E 

CH
ILD

RE
N

 E
XC

LU
DE

D 
IN

 
20

10
/1

1, 
HA

LF
 H

AD
 S

CH
OO

L 
AC

TI
ON

 O
R 

SC
HO

OL
 A

CT
IO

N
 P

LU
S 

ST
AT

US
, A

N
D 

9%
 

HA
D 

A 
ST

AT
EM

EN
T

72



31

“I
’m

 a
 lo

n
e 

p
ar

en
t 

to
 a

 c
h

ild
 w

it
h

 c
o

m
p

le
x 

le
ar

n
in

g
 d

if
fi

cu
lt

ie
s.

 H
e 

w
as

 b
or

n 
w

ith
 D

ow
n'

s 
Sy

nd
ro

m
e;

 a
ut

is
tic

; h
yp

er
ac

tiv
ity

 d
is

or
de

r;
 

op
po

si
tio

na
l d

efi
an

t 
di

so
rd

er
. M

y 
so

n’
s 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

at
 s

ch
oo

l i
s 

ve
ry

 p
os

iti
ve

; p
ro

gr
es

s 
be

tt
er

 t
ha

n 
be

fo
re

. O
ur

 p
oo

r 
re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 s

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
– 

co
ns

ta
nt

 le
ga

l b
at

tle
s 

fo
r 

re
sp

ite
. F

os
te

r 
ho

m
e 

– 
I’m

 d
ev

as
ta

te
d.

 I’
ve

 h
ad

 t
o 

ha
ve

 f
ai

th
 in

 m
ys

el
f,

 
an

d 
in

 m
y 

re
la

tio
ns

hi
p 

w
ith

 m
y 

tw
o 

el
de

st
 k

id
s 

(b
ot

h 
ad

ul
ts

). 
I h

op
e 

to
 li

ve
 a

 f
ul

l l
ife

, a
nd

 t
o 

fe
el

 
su

pp
or

te
d 

w
ith

 m
y 

so
n.

” 

“I
 a

m
 a

 s
in

g
le

 m
o

th
er

 o
f 

tw
o

 b
o

ys
; o

n
e 

is
 1

4 
w

it
h

 a
 r

ar
e 

ch
ro

m
o

so
m

e 
d

is
o

rd
er

; t
he

 o
th

er
 is

 
4 

– 
m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
. I

 h
av

e 
al

so
 w

or
ke

d 
w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

fo
r 

18
 y

ea
rs

 –
 m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 a

nd
 s

pe
ci

al
 n

ee
ds

. M
y 

so
n 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 a

t 
on

e 
ye

ar
. A

s 
th

e 
ye

ar
s 

w
en

t 
by

, m
y 

so
n 

w
ou

ld
 re

ce
iv

e 
m

or
e 

di
ag

no
se

s.
 I 

ha
d 

to
 fi

gh
t 

fo
r 

al
l t

he
 h

el
p 

I c
ou

ld
 g

et
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

sp
ee

d 
th

er
ap

y,
 p

hy
si

ot
he

ra
py

, a
nd

 h
om

e 
le

ar
ni

ng
. I

’m
 

st
ru

gg
lin

g 
at

 th
e 

m
om

en
t –

 m
y 

so
n 

is
 d

et
er

io
ra

tin
g.

 
H

e 
ca

nn
ot

 w
al

k,
 a

nd
 u

se
s 

a 
w

he
el

ch
ai

r. 
H

e 
is

 
lo

si
ng

 t
he

 li
tt

le
 b

it 
of

 in
de

pe
nd

en
ce

 h
e 

ha
s,

 a
nd

 it
s 

he
ar

t-
br

ea
ki

ng
. O

n 
a 

po
si

tiv
e 

no
te

, m
y 

so
n 

si
gn

s 
ve

ry
 w

el
l, 

an
d 

ha
s 

a 
fa

nt
as

tic
 re

la
tio

ns
hi

p 
w

ith
 h

is
 

br
ot

he
r. 

M
y 

el
de

st
 w

ou
ld

 n
ev

er
 re

al
ly

 p
la

y 
– 

bu
t 

si
nc

e 
hi

s 
lit

tle
 b

ro
th

er
 h

as
 c

om
e 

al
on

g,
 h

e 
en

jo
ys

 
pl

ay
in

g.
 O

nc
e 

m
y 

so
n’

s 
ro

ut
in

e 
w

as
 e

st
ab

lis
he

d,
 

he
 w

as
 a

 c
ha

ng
ed

 b
oy

 –
 m

or
e 

lik
e 

a 
yo

un
g 

m
an

. 
Th

e 
ne

xt
 p

ar
t 

of
 m

y 
jo

ur
ne

y 
w

ill
 b

e 
so

rt
in

g 
ou

t 
a 

co
lle

ge
 p

la
ce

 f
or

 m
y 

el
de

st
 s

on
, a

nd
 s

ec
ur

in
g 

fu
nd

in
g.

 I’
ll 

ne
ed

 lo
ts

 o
f 

he
lp

 a
nd

 d
et

er
m

in
at

io
n.

” 

“T
h

e 
n

ew
 C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
 B

ill
 h

as
 

p
ar

en
ts

 a
n

d
 f

am
ili

es
 a

t 
th

e 
ce

n
tr

e,
 in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 
w

rit
in

g 
pl

an
s.

 W
ha

t 
is

 t
he

 ro
le

 o
f 

th
e 

vo
lu

nt
ar

y 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r?

 T
ry

in
g 

to
 m

ak
e 

in
di

vi
du

al
is

ed
 

an
d 

pe
rs

on
al

is
ed

 s
up

po
rt

 is
 re

so
ur

ce
 in

te
ns

iv
e.

” 

73



32

“A
t 

se
co

n
d

ar
y 

sc
h

o
o

l, 
it 

is
 h

ar
de

r 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 
an

 in
te

gr
at

ed
, j

oi
ne

d-
up

 s
er

vi
ce

 v
ia

 t
he

 s
ch

oo
l a

s 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
an

d 
m

or
e 

ac
ad

em
ie

s.
” 

“M
y 

so
n

, w
h

o
 is

 4
 y

ea
rs

 o
ld

, h
as

 ju
st

 b
ee

n
 

d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

. I
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

m
y 

el
de

rly
 

m
um

 t
oo

 (a
nd

 s
he

 c
ar

es
 f

or
 u

s 
to

o)
. W

he
n 

m
y 

so
n 

w
as

 o
ne

, h
e 

w
as

 s
pe

ak
in

g 
bu

t 
th

en
 h

e 
st

op
pe

d 
– 

th
at

 g
ot

 m
e 

w
or

rie
d.

 A
t 

3 
ye

ar
s 

th
e 

pr
e-

sc
ho

ol
 w

as
 

al
so

 w
or

rie
d.

 T
he

 s
ch

oo
l o

bs
er

ve
d 

hi
m

 f
or

 a
 w

hi
le

. 
W

e 
w

er
e 

re
fe

rr
ed

 –
 S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
 t

o 
a 

sp
ee

ch
 

th
er

ap
is

t.
 I 

ch
an

ge
d 

fr
om

 a
 n

on
-c

om
m

un
ic

at
iv

e 
G

P 
to

 a
 re

al
ly

 g
oo

d 
on

e.
 T

he
 s

ch
oo

l h
as

 a
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
or

ke
r. 

Th
e 

sc
ho

ol
 s

ee
m

s 
to

 u
nd

er
st

an
d 

hi
m

 

an
d 

hi
s 

ne
ed

s.
 M

y 
G

P,
 S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
, t

he
ir 

su
pp

or
t 

w
or

ke
r 

an
d 

th
e 

A
ut

is
tic

 S
oc

ie
ty

 a
ll 

he
lp

. 
I h

av
e 

ha
d 

to
 b

e 
re

si
lie

nt
 a

nd
 fi

nd
 o

ut
 e

ve
ry

th
in

g 
ab

ou
t 

au
tis

m
. S

un
sh

in
e 

H
ou

se
 a

nd
 t

he
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
or

ke
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
sp

ac
e 

to
 c

ry
 a

nd
 g

et
 s

up
po

rt
. 

M
ix

in
g 

w
ith

 o
th

er
 p

ar
en

ts
 w

ith
 c

hi
ld

re
n 

w
ith

 
au

tis
m

 is
 g

re
at

. ‘
Ea

rly
 B

ird
s’

 –
 le

ar
ni

ng
 n

ew
 t

hi
ng

s.
 

Sp
ee

ch
 t

he
ra

pi
st

s,
 k

ey
 w

or
ke

r 
in

 s
ch

oo
l h

av
e 

al
so

 
he

lp
ed

 m
uc

h.
 K

no
w

in
g 

I h
av

e 
so

m
eo

ne
 t

o 
ca

ll 
m

ak
es

 m
y 

lif
e 

be
tt

er
. I

 w
ou

ld
 h

av
e 

lik
ed

 t
o 

ha
ve

 
ha

d 
m

or
e 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

ea
rli

er
. A

ls
o 

I w
ou

ld
 li

ke
 

m
or

e 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
as

 m
y 

so
n 

ge
ts

 o
ld

er
 –

 I 
ne

ed
 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

fo
r 

ev
er

y 
st

ag
e 

of
 h

is
 e

du
ca

tio
n.

 
Ia

ls
o

ho
pe

 t
o 

ge
t 

ap
pr

ov
al

 o
f 

hi
s 

st
at

em
en

t.
” 

“T
h

e 
le

tt
er

 d
es

cr
ib

es
 (

an
d

 I 
q

u
o

te
):

‘A
is

 s
om

ew
ha

t 
fr

us
tr

at
ed

 b
y 

th
e 

nu
m

be
r 

of
 

cl
in

ic
ia

ns
 in

vo
lv

ed
 a

nd
 t

he
 a

pp
ar

en
t 

di
ffi

cu
lti

es
 

w
ith

 c
om

m
un

ic
at

io
n 

am
on

gs
t 

th
e 

ne
tw

or
k 

pa
rt

ic
ul

ar
ly

 b
et

w
ee

n 
K

in
g’

s 
an

d 
th

e 
Ev

el
in

a.
 T

hi
s 

w
as

 h
ei

gh
te

ne
d 

as
 F

 h
ad

 f
as

te
d 

an
d 

th
en

 w
ok

en
 

up
 e

ar
ly

 t
o 

at
te

nd
 a

n 
M

RI
 a

t 
Ev

el
in

a 
w

hi
ch

 s
he

 
co

ul
d 

no
t 

ha
ve

 a
s 

th
er

e 
w

as
 a

 la
ck

 o
f 

cl
ar

ity
 a

s 
to

 w
he

th
er

 t
he

re
 w

as
 a

ny
 m

et
al

 w
or

k 
pr

es
en

t 
fo

llo
w

in
g 

he
r 

ne
ur

os
ur

ge
ry

 p
er

fo
rm

ed
 a

t 
K

in
g’

s.
 

F 
is

 a
ls

o 
un

cl
ea

r 
as

 t
o 

th
e 

ou
tc

om
e 

of
 F

’s 
m

ed
ic

al
 

ap
po

in
tm

en
ts

 w
ith

 t
he

 d
iff

er
en

t 
cl

in
ic

ia
ns

 w
hi

ch
 

is
ex

ac
er

ba
te

d 
by

 h
er

 li
m

ite
d 

En
gl

is
h.

 

CH
OI

CE
 A

ND
 C

ON
TR

OL
 F

OR
 F

AM
ILI

ES
 R

EC
EI

VI
NG

 S
UP

PO
RT

“M
y 

d
au

g
h

te
r 

w
as

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 f

ro
m

 t
h

e 
ve

ry
 

fi
rs

t 
sc

an
. I

’v
e 

ha
d 

go
od

 s
up

po
rt

 a
nd

 a
ls

o 
ge

t 
4 

ho
ur

s’
 a

 w
ee

k 
re

sp
ite

. I
 w

or
k 

pa
rt

 t
im

e 
w

hi
ch

 
he

lp
s 

m
e 

co
pe

 a
nd

 m
y 

da
ug

ht
er

 a
tt

en
ds

 a
ct

iv
iti

es
 

to
 h

el
p 

he
r 

de
ve

lo
pm

en
t.

 I 
re

ly
 o

n 
fr

ie
nd

s 
w

ho
se

 
ch

ild
re

n 
al

so
 h

av
e 

a 
di

sa
bi

lit
y.

 W
e 

su
pp

or
t 

ea
ch

 
ot

he
r. 

I d
o 

w
on

de
r 

w
hy

 I 
ha

ve
 a

 c
hi

ld
 w

ith
 a

 
di

sa
bi

lit
y 

bu
t 

sh
e 

br
in

gs
 m

e 
gr

ea
t 

jo
y 

an
d 

I d
o 

al
l 

Ic
an

 t
o 

he
lp

 h
er

 le
ar

n 
to

 re
ac

h 
he

r 
fu

ll 
po

te
nt

ia
l.”

 

HE
RE

 IS
 A

 S
EL

EC
TI

ON
 O

F 
JO

UR
N

EY
S 

AB
OU

T 
FA

M
ILI

ES
' E

XP
ER

IE
N

CE
S 

OF
 U

SIN
G 

LO
CA

L 
SE

RV
IC

ES
.

74



3333

“M
y 

jo
u

rn
ey

 b
eg

an
 w

h
en

 I 
h

ad
 m

y 
fi

rs
t 

b
ab

y.
I a

m
 n

ow
 a

 p
ar

en
t 

to
 t

hr
ee

 c
hi

ld
re

n:
 2

 b
oy

s 
an

d 
a 

gi
rl.

 A
ft

er
 f

am
ily

 s
up

po
rt

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
w

er
e 

re
m

ov
ed

, 
so

ci
al

 s
er

vi
ce

s 
he

lp
ed

 m
e 

ge
t 

ch
ild

ca
re

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n.

 
A

t 
fir

st
 h

e 
w

as
 2

 d
ay

s 
a 

w
ee

k,
 b

ut
 w

he
n 

he
 t

ur
ne

d 
th

re
e 

ye
ar

s 
ol

d,
 a

ft
er

 a
 lo

ng
 b

at
tle

 o
f 

re
d 

ta
pe

, 
he

 w
as

 g
ra

nt
ed

 a
 f

ul
l-t

im
e 

pl
ac

em
en

t.
 A

ls
o,

 h
e 

w
as

 d
ia

gn
os

ed
 w

ith
 a

ut
is

m
. A

t 
se

co
nd

ar
y 

sc
ho

ol
, 

it 
is

 h
ar

de
r 

to
 p

ro
vi

de
 a

n 
in

te
gr

at
ed

, j
oi

ne
d-

up
 

se
rv

ic
e 

vi
a 

th
e 

sc
ho

ol
 a

s 
th

er
e 

ar
e 

m
or

e 
an

d 
m

or
e 

ac
ad

em
ie

s.
 I 

w
as

 s
up

po
rt

ed
 b

y 
sp

ec
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s 
(w

ho
 f

un
d 

hi
s 

pl
ac

em
en

t)
, a

 s
pe

ec
h 

an
d 

la
ng

ua
ge

 
th

er
ap

is
t,

 t
he

 n
ur

se
ry

 s
ta

ff
, G

P,
 a

nd
 H

ea
lth

 V
is

ito
r. 

Th
e 

Ea
rly

 In
te

rv
en

tio
n 

O
ffi

ce
r 

fo
r 

au
tis

m
 h

el
pe

d 
m

e 
ge

t 
a 

be
tt

er
 u

nd
er

st
an

di
ng

 o
f 

hi
s 

ne
ed

s,
 a

nd
 

I a
tt

en
de

d 
ea

rly
 b

ird
 t

ra
in

in
g.

 F
am

ily
 s

up
po

rt
 

w
as

 v
ar

ie
d,

 b
ut

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

ls
 w

er
e 

be
tt

er
 a

bl
e 

to
 g

ui
de

 m
e 

on
 a

 b
et

te
r 

pa
th

. T
he

re
 w

er
e 

lo
ts

 o
f 

tim
es

 w
he

n 
ad

vi
ce

 w
as

 s
ca

rc
e,

 a
nd

 re
d 

ta
pe

 in
 

so
ci

al
 s

er
vi

ce
s 

m
ea

nt
 t

he
 h

el
p 

I n
ee

de
d 

w
as

 n
ot

 
fo

rt
hc

om
in

g.
 T

hi
s 

w
as

 h
ar

d 
w

he
n 

fa
m

ily
 li

fe
 w

as
 

to
ug

h 
en

ou
gh

. L
ea

rn
in

g 
th

at
 m

y 
so

n 
ha

s 
au

tis
tic

 
sp

ec
tr

um
 d

is
or

de
r 

w
as

 s
ca

ry
 b

ut
 re

w
ar

di
ng

. 
Lo

ok
in

g 
at

 t
he

 ro
ad

 a
he

ad
 w

as
 d

au
nt

in
g.

 W
ith

 
th

e 
su

pp
or

t 
of

 s
om

e 
pr

of
es

si
on

al
s 

ar
ou

nd
 m

e,
 

If
ou

nd
 m

ys
el

f 
on

 a
 h

el
pf

ul
 ro

ad
 o

f 
in

fo
rm

at
io

n 
an

d 
su

pp
or

t.
 I 

tr
y 

no
t 

to
 t

hi
nk

 n
eg

at
iv

e 
th

ou
gh

ts
, 

an
d 

fe
el

 I 
ha

ve
 a

ch
ie

ve
d 

th
e 

be
st

 s
ce

na
rio

 f
or

 m
y 

so
n 

an
d 

m
e.

 M
y 

ne
xt

 jo
ur

ne
y 

is
 s

up
po

rt
in

g 
m

y 
so

n 
in

 h
is

 t
ra

ns
iti

on
 t

o 
m

ai
ns

tr
ea

m
 s

ch
oo

l. 
I h

op
e 

th
e 

nu
rs

er
y 

w
ill

 c
on

tin
ue

 t
o 

su
pp

or
t 

m
e 

an
d 

po
in

t 
m

e 
in

 t
he

 r
ig

ht
 d

ire
ct

io
n.

” 

“I
 h

av
e 

a 
so

n
, j

u
st

 d
ia

g
n

o
se

d
 w

it
h

 a
u

ti
sm

.
Ih

ad
 t

o 
be

 re
si

lie
nt

 a
nd

 fi
nd

 o
ut

 e
ve

ry
th

in
g 

ab
ou

t 
au

tis
m

 –
 d

id
 a

 lo
t 

of
 re

se
ar

ch
 o

n 
th

e 
in

te
rn

et
. I

ex
pe

ct
 t

o 
ta

ke
 o

ne
 d

ay
 a

t 
a 

tim
e,

 
an

d 
to

 h
av

e 
su

pp
or

t 
fr

om
 s

ch
oo

l f
or

 m
y 

so
n 

to
 

pr
og

re
ss

. I
fo

un
d 

it 
di

ffi
cu

lt 
to

 a
cc

ep
t 

m
y 

so
n’

s 
co

nd
iti

on
 –

C
on

ta
ct

 A
 F

am
ily

 re
al

ly
 h

el
pe

d.
 

M
ee

tin
g 

pe
op

le
, a

nd
 t

he
m

 b
ei

ng
 n

ic
e.

 I’
m

 
gr

ad
ua

lly
 g

et
tin

g 
m

or
e 

co
nfi

de
nt

. S
un

sh
in

e 
H

ou
se

 a
nd

 m
y 

su
pp

or
t 

w
or

ke
r 

ga
ve

 m
e 

a 
sp

ac
e 

to
 c

ry
 a

nd
 g

et
 s

up
po

rt
. K

no
w

in
g 

I h
av

e 
so

m
eo

ne
 t

o 
ca

ll 
m

ak
es

 m
y 

lif
e 

be
tt

er
. T

he
 b

ig
ge

st
 

di
ff

er
en

ce
 w

as
 w

he
n 

pe
op

le
 li

st
en

ed
 –

 s
er

vi
ce

s,
 

fr
ie

nd
s.

 W
he

n 
th

es
e 

th
in

gs
 a

re
 in

 p
la

ce
, I

 c
an

 
pl

an
 a

nd
 t

ha
t 

re
al

ly
 h

el
ps

. I
 w

an
t 

m
y 

so
n 

to
 

be
 s

af
e 

an
d 

in
 a

 g
oo

d 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

t 
– 

fo
r 

hi
m

 
to

 b
e 

co
m

fo
rt

ab
le

 w
he

n 
he

 g
oe

s 
ou

t,
 a

nd
 f

or
 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
to

 p
ro

vi
de

 f
or

 h
im

.”
 

M
um

 fi
nd

s 
it 

di
ffi

cu
lt 

to
 k

no
w

 w
ho

 t
o 

ap
pr

oa
ch

 
ab

ou
t 

di
ff

er
en

t 
co

nc
er

ns
 a

s 
th

e 
G

P 
ju

st
 re

fe
rs

 h
er

 
ba

ck
 t

o 
ho

sp
ita

l s
ta

ff
. T

he
 G

P 
ha

d 
su

gg
es

te
d 

sh
e 

sp
ea

k 
to

 IC
U

 s
ta

ff
 a

bo
ut

 s
om

e 
sy

m
pt

om
s 

w
hi

ch
 

is
 o

bv
io

us
ly

 n
ot

 p
os

si
bl

e 
(IC

U
 s

ta
ff

 d
o 

no
t 

ru
n 

an
 o

ut
pa

tie
nt

 c
lin

ic
). 

Th
e 

le
tt

er
 c

op
ie

s 
8 

he
al

th
 

pr
of

es
si

on
al

s 
in

vo
lv

ed
 in

 F
’s 

ca
re

. I
 d

o 
no

t 
kn

ow
 if

 
ot

he
r 

ag
en

ci
es

 a
re

 in
vo

lv
ed

 b
ut

 s
us

pe
ct

 t
ha

t 
th

ey
 

ar
e.

’ A
s 

a 
he

al
th

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
na

l w
e 

ne
ed

 t
o 

ad
dr

es
s 

th
e 

is
su

e 
of

 c
hi

ld
re

n 
w

ith
 m

ul
tip

le
 d

iffi
cu

lti
es

 a
nd

 
co

or
di

na
te

 c
ar

e 
so

 t
he

y 
do

 n
ot

 e
nd

 u
p 

se
ei

ng
 

nu
m

er
ou

s 
di

ff
er

en
t 

sp
ec

ia
lti

es
 w

ith
 p

oo
r 

lia
is

on
 

an
d 

co
m

m
un

ic
at

io
n.

” 

“D
ir

ec
t 

p
ay

m
en

ts
 a

re
 h

er
e 

to
 s

ta
y 

– 
co

ul
d 

w
e 

ta
ke

 a
 m

or
e 

pr
oa

ct
iv

e 
st

an
ce

? 
D

ire
ct

 p
ay

m
en

ts
 

by
 d

ef
au

lt?
” 

75



34

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

 is
 t

he
 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

of
 lo

ca
l a

ge
nc

ie
s 

w
hi

ch
 s

af
eg

ua
rd

 a
nd

 
pr

om
ot

e 
th

e 
w

el
lb

ei
ng

 o
f 

ch
ild

re
n,

 y
ou

ng
 p

eo
pl

e 
an

d 
fa

m
ili

es
 in

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k.

Th
e 

pa
rt

ne
rs

hi
p 

co
ns

is
ts

 o
f 

re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

es
 f

ro
m

 
ke

y 
ag

en
ci

es
 w

ith
 re

sp
on

si
bi

lit
ie

s 
fo

r 
ch

ild
re

n 
an

d 
yo

un
g 

pe
op

le
 in

cl
ud

in
g:

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

C
ou

nc
il,

 
So

ut
hw

ar
k 

C
lin

ic
al

 C
om

m
is

si
on

in
g 

G
ro

up
, 

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
Po

lic
e,

 a
nd

 re
pr

es
en

ta
tiv

es
 f

ro
m

 
lo

ca
lh

ea
lth

 p
ro

vi
de

rs
, s

ch
oo

ls
, a

nd
 t

he
 v

ol
un

ta
ry

 
an

d 
co

m
m

un
ity

 s
ec

to
r.

Fo
r 

m
o

re
 in

fo
rm

at
io

n
, o

r 
to

 g
et

 a
 c

o
p

y 
o

f 
th

e 
20

13
–2

01
6 

C
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 Y
o

u
n

g
 P

eo
p

le
’s

 P
la

n
,

ca
ll:

02
0 

75
25

 3
67

4,
 e

m
ai

l: 
ch

ild
re

n
an

d
fa

m
ili

es
tr

u
st

@
so

u
th

w
ar

k.
g

o
v.

u
k

vi
si

t:
w

w
w

.s
o

u
th

w
ar

k.
g

o
v.

u
k

W
ri

te
 t

o
 u

s 
at

:

So
ut

hw
ar

k’
s 

C
hi

ld
re

n 
an

d 
Fa

m
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

, C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

an
d 

A
du

lts
' S

er
vi

ce
s,

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

C
ou

nc
il,

 P
O

 B
ox

 6
45

29
, L

on
do

n 
SE

1 
5L

X

If 
yo

u 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 a
 c

op
y 

of
 t

hi
s 

br
oc

hu
re

 in
 la

rg
e 

pr
in

t,
 p

le
as

e 
ca

ll 
02

0 
75

25
 3

67
4

If 
yo

u 
w

ou
ld

 li
ke

 t
hi

s 
br

oc
hu

re
 t

ra
ns

la
te

d,
 p

le
as

e 
ta

ke
 it

 t
o 

yo
ur

 n
ea

re
st

 o
ne

 s
to

p 
sh

op
 a

nd
 a

sk
 f

or
 t

he
 ‘L

an
gu

ag
e 

Li
ne

’:

M
y 

So
u

th
w

ar
k 

cu
st

o
m

er
 s

er
vi

ce
 p

o
in

t,
 1

1 
M

ar
ke

t 
Pl

ac
e,

 S
ou

th
w

ar
k 

Pa
rk

 R
oa

d,
 S

E1
6

Pe
ck

h
am

 o
n

e 
st

o
p

 s
h

o
p

, G
ro

un
d 

Fl
oo

r, 
Li

br
ar

y,
 1

22
 P

ec
kh

am
 H

ill
 S

tr
ee

t 
SE

15

76



77



So
u

th
w

ar
k’

s 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 F

am
ili

es
’ T

ru
st

C
hi

ld
re

n’
s 

an
d 

A
du

lt’
s 

Se
rv

ic
es

So
ut

hw
ar

k 
C

ou
nc

il
PO

 B
ox

 6
45

29
Lo

nd
on

 S
E1

 5
LX

02
0 

75
25

 3
67

4
ch

ild
re

na
nd

fa
m

ili
es

tr
us

t@
so

ut
hw

ar
k.

go
v.

uk
w

w
w

.s
ou

th
w

ar
k.

go
v.

uk
/c

hi
ld

re
na

nd
fa

m
ili

es
tr

us
t

A
ug

us
t 

20
13

78



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT
A summary of our priorities for

children, young people and families

SOUTHWARK’S CHILDREN  
AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S PLAN 

2013-2016

APPENDIX 3

79



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

2

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust developed the Children and 
Young People’s Plan to set out how we will improve services for children 
and families in the borough over the next three years to 2016.

We began developing the plan in June 2012 when we went out into our 
communities and workforce and asked about their stories and journeys. More 
than 1,000 children, young people, parents, carers, staff and practitioners 
responded. These journeys have shaped our plan for local services.

We also looked at the demand and performance of local services and talked 
to senior decision-makers about what services they felt were working well and 
what needed to change. 

We then took all of this information and developed three transformation areas 
in the Children and Young People’s Plan:

Best start

Children, young people 
and families access the 
right services at the 
right time, from early 
years to adolescence

Safety and stability

Support for our most 
vulnerable children, young 
people and families to 
bring safe, positive and 
lasting change

Choice and control

Seamless, personalised 
support for children and 
young people with a 
special educational need 
or disability

OUR VISION FOR SOUTHWARK
“Every child, young person and family in Southwark thrives 
and is empowered to lead a safe and healthy life. We will 
work together to deliver high-quality services that make a 
measurable difference in helping to overcome inequality 
and disadvantage, and strengthen families’ abilities to 
raise their children successfully and independently.”

This leaflet sets out what changes you can expect to see, and each year we will 
publish how well we are doing in achieving these promises.

80



3

We promise to make sure that children, young people 
and families can access the right support at the right 
time – from early years to adolescence – giving them 
the best start on their journeys.

What does this priority mean?

We all need a little help at some point in our life – maybe when we are a new 
parent with a new baby, when we are starting school or when we are recovering 
from a difficult situation in family life. So we are committed to making sure that 
you can access the services you need when and how you need them, to help you 
on to the path to success.

What can you expect to change through this priority?

services, childcare or services in children’s centres

and more having better health and taking up free early education places 

quickly following support from specialist services

81



4

We promise to make sure that our most vulnerable 
children, young people and families receive timely, 
purposeful support that brings safe, lasting and 
positive change – providing safety and stability 
which might be otherwise missing.

What does this priority mean?

Every child and young person should grow up in a safe, loving and stable 
home – and it is everyone’s responsibility to make sure they do. So we are 
committed to working to support families and communities to keep children 
safe, and help them lead happy, healthy and safe lives. 

What you can expect to change through this priority?

82



5

We promise that children and young people with 
a special educational need or disability and their 
families will be able to access a local offer of seamless, 
personalised support from childhood to adulthood.

What does this priority mean?

Every child and young person deserves to live a full, happy and independent 
life – and a special educational need or disability should not prevent this. So 
we are committed to making sure that these children and young people are 
able to choose the services they need – regardless of whether they need health, 
education or social care support – in order to live life to the fullest.

What can you expect to change through this priority?

support spanning health, education and social care services

and to find it easier to find out about them

– which means they have the freedom to buy the services they need

age of 25 – helping them to be independent and successful

83



D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

D
RA

FT

66

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust is the partnership of local 
agencies which safeguard and promote the wellbeing of children, 
young people and families in Southwark.

The partnership consists of representatives from key agencies with responsibilities 
for children and young people including: Southwark Council, Southwark Clinical 
Commissioning Group, Southwark Police, and representatives from local health 
providers, schools and the voluntary and community sector.

For more information, or to get a copy of the plan,
call: 020 7525 3674
email: childrenandfamiliestrust@southwark.gov.uk
visit: www.southwark.gov.uk

Write to us at:

Southwark’s Children and Families’ Trust,
Children’s and Adults’ Services,
Southwark Council,
PO Box 64529,
London SE1 5LX

If you would like a copy of this brochure in large print, please call 020 7525 3674.

If you would like this brochure translated, please take it to your nearest  
one stop shop and ask for the ‘Language Line’:

My Southwark customer service points
11 Market Place, 
Southwark Park Road, SE16

376 Walworth Road, 
SE17

Peckham one stop shop
Ground Floor, Library, 
122 Peckham Hill Street, SE15

84



 

1 
  

Item No.  
8.1 

 

Classification: 
Open  

Date: 
16 October 2013 
 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly 
 

Report title: 
 

Representation to proposed Northern Line Extension  

Ward(s) or groups 
affected: 

Newington 

From: Cabinet 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Council Assembly: 
 
1. Endorse the council's holding objection to the application for the London 

Underground (Northern Line Extension) Order, served upon the council on the 30 
April 2013, by Transport for London (TfL), and submitted by the council to the 
Secretary of State for Transport on 17 June 2013, in accordance with Section 
239 Local Government Act 1972 and Rule 21 of the  Transport and Works 
(Applications and Objections Procedure) (England and Wales) Rules 2000 
(SI2000 No. 2190) (“the Applications Rules”) (Appendix 1); and 

 
2. Agree to the submission of the council's formal objection to the London 

Underground (Northern Line Extension) Order, served upon the council by TfL on 
the 30 April 2013, to the Secretary of State for Transport in accordance with Rule 
21 of the Transport and Works (Applications and Objections Procedure) 
(England and Wales) Rules 2000 (SI2000 No. 2190) (“the Applications Rules”) 
as soon as practicable following the endorsement of paragraph (1) of the 
recommendation. 

 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
3. On 30 April 2013 Transport for London (TfL) submitted an application for a 

Transport and Works Act Order (TWAO) including an application for deemed 
planning permission pursuant to the Transport and Works Act 1992 and s90(2A) 
of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to construct the Northern Line 
Extension (NLE) (London Underground (Northern Line Extension) Order (“the 
Order”) to the Secretary of State for Transport. The proposed Order authorises 
TfL to construct and operate an extension to the Northern line (Charing Cross 
branch) from Kennington to Battersea, diverging from the existing railway line 
south of Kennington station from a section of track used by terminating trains 
(known as the Kennington Loop). The Order also proposes the construction of 
permanent ventilation and intervention shafts and head houses, temporary shafts 
and construction tunnels, a terminus station at Battersea Powers Station, an 
intermediate station in the Nine Elms area, the compulsory purchase and 
temporary use of land, the temporary stopping up of streets, street works and 
ancillary works. The proposed development is located in the London Boroughs of 
Lambeth, Southwark and Wandsworth. 

 
4. Formal representations (for or against) the Order were invited to be made to the 

Secretary of State by 18 June 2013. The Transport & Works Act 1992 specifies 
that a resolution of the full council is required in order for a local authority to 
make a representation. However, guidance published by the Department for 
Transport acknowledges the difficulties this might cause and allows for a holding 

Agenda Item 8.1
85



 

2 
  

representation, to be endorsed by council assembly at a later date. On 17 June 
2013, the council submitted a holding representation to the proposed Order. 

 
5. On 24 July 2013, the Secretary of State for Transport announced that a public 

inquiry will be held to consider the application, commencing on the 19 November 
2013. This is expected to last around four weeks with an independent Inspector 
appointed to conduct the inquiry and make a recommendation to the Secretary of 
State for the approval, or refusal of the application. The preliminary meeting into 
the Inquiry was held on the 13 September 2013. 

 
6. On 27 August 2013, the council submitted a ‘Statement of Case’ in accordance 

with Rule 7 of the Transport and Work (Inquiries Procedure) Rules 2004 (SI2004 
No. 2018) (“the Inquiry Rules”). This is a written statement containing full 
particulars of the case which a person puts forward at the inquiry. Rule 7 
provides that parties who have stated that they wish to provide oral evidence at 
the Inquiry will be required to provide a statement within 6 weeks after the start 
date, being the date of the Secretary of State’s letter advising that an Inquiry will 
be held. On the same date, TfL submitted an Environmental Statement 
Addendum to the Secretary of State for Transport which included some changes 
to the scheme. Both matters will be considered by the Inspector as part of the 
public inquiry. 

 
7. Following the inquiry the Inspector will publish his report and it is anticipated that 

the Secretary of State will reach a decision in autumn 2014. If the Order is 
approved, construction will commence (assuming approval and funding are in 
place) in spring 2015, with the service becoming operational in 2020. 

 
The Northern Line Extension scheme (NLE) 
 
8. The aim of the NLE scheme is to support economic growth in London and 

facilitate the regeneration of the Vauxhall Nine Elms Battersea (VNEB) 
Opportunity Area. These proposals are supported by the London Plan (2011), 
Mayors Transport Strategy and the VNEB Opportunity Area Planning 
Framework.   

 
9. The new branch would run from Kennington station to new stations at Nine Elms 

and Battersea, to support intensive development and regeneration in those areas 
including 16,000 new homes and 20,000 to 25,000 new jobs. 

 
10. Services northbound from Battersea would follow the Charing Cross branch to 

the north of Kennington, running at up to 30 trains per hour (tph). Currently this 
branch runs up to 20tph though the improvement is delivered by separate 
upgrades, not the Extension project. Bank branch trains from Morden, serving 
Elephant & Castle, Borough and London Bridge stations, would see a similar 
increase from 22tph to 33tph again through separate upgrade works. 

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION  
 
11. The new branch line will connect to the existing Kennington Loop (which allows 

terminating trains to turn just south of the station) at a “step plate” junction under 
De Laune Street close to Harmsworth Street. This connection gives rise for 
construction works to be focused at this location and subsequently concerns 
have arisen. The northbound connection to the loop is at Radcot Street in 
Lambeth. 

 

86



 

3 
  

12. TfL have described the works in Southwark as being, “formation of a single bore 
underground railway (part of Work No.1), diverging from the part of the existing 
railway known as the Kennington loop by means of a step-plate junction under 
De Laune Street north of its junction with Harmsworth Street and thence to the 
borough boundary under Kennington Park Place.” 

 
13. Given the proximity of the borough boundary to Lambeth, officers have been 

working closely to ensure the needs of the local community are understood and 
represented. 

 
14. On 17 June 2013 the council made representations to the Secretary of State, 

which reiterated in principle support for the NLE however raised a number of 
concerns with the proposed scheme, of which a copy is provided in Appendix 1.  

 
15. Key concerns raised in the representation include: 
 

• Impact from the Harmsworth Street temporary shaft construction.   
• Impact from the Kennington Park permanent shaft construction.   
• Ground-borne noise from both tunnel construction and operational railway, 

requesting TfL to use rail technology to reduce noise and vibration levels. 
• Congestion at Kennington Station, seeking expedient delivery of the cross-

passages, and assessment of emergency evacuation and implementation 
of any remedial works arising.   

• Control of Streetworks, seeking application of sections 56, 56A, 58A, 73A, 
73B, 73C and 78A and Schedule 3A of the New Road and Street Works 
Act 1991.  

• Employment strategy, requesting the preparation and implementation of an 
Employment strategy. 

• Design considerations for Kennington Park Head House, raising design 
concerns with the proposed Head House and impact on the conservation 
area. 

• Dog walking area and ‘Bee Urban’ facilities and nature garden, requesting 
fencing of the relocated dog walking area and provision for the ‘Bee Urban’ 
facilities. 

 
Current status of the application 
 
16. On 6 August 2013, TfL wrote to stakeholders stating ‘Following further feasibility 

work, a decision has been taken by TfL to remove the temporary shafts proposed 
at Harmsworth Street and Radcot Street on the basis they are no longer 
required. This means that no above ground works will be undertaken at either of 
these locations and construction works will be progressed from the proposed 
worksites at Kennington Park and Kennington Green instead.’ As such no works 
will take place in Harmsworth and Radcot Streets and this representation is no 
longer required. 

 
17. On 22 August 2013 TfL wrote to the council and in this: 
 

• Committed to providing the new cross-passages prior to the NLE 
• Committed to providing an Employment Strategy, of which a draft has now 

been provided 
• Advised that the community building will no longer be provided following 

further discussion with Lambeth Council 

87



 

4 
  

• Stated that the ‘Bee Urban’ facility will be relocated and agreed the 
relocated dog walking area 

 
18. On 27 August 2013, TfL submitted an addendum to the Environmental Statement 

which confirmed the implementation of cross-passages at Kennington Station 
prior to the commencement of the operation of the NLE. This addendum also 
presented a redesigned head house which is reduced in scale and is considered 
to be more fitting with the locality. 

 
19. TfL have now prepared a draft Employment Plan and discussions between TfL 

Southwark, Lambeth and Wandsworth officers are continuing. Southwark are 
seeking a commitment to London Living Wage. 

 
20. TfL have commenced discussions of possible mitigation which may be required 

as a result of the works with parameters established within a Code of 
Construction Practice. However at this stage no commitments have been made. 

 
21. TfL has also recently committed to extensively monitoring the ground borne 

noise at locations suggested by Southwark.  
 
22. Having considered the information provided the council retains a number of 

concerns with the proposal and submitted a Statement of Case on 27 August 
2013.   

 
23. The council has been working with TfL and several points of mitigation have 

been agreed. However the council retains concerns and is seeking further 
specific mitigation in relation to the Bishops House Early Start Centre. BHESC is 
used as a multi-use education facility comprising of a day nursery for 41 children, 
offices, teaching and consulting rooms used by various council departments. The 
site also includes a large outside space, which is utlised all year around by the 
nursery as part of their outdoor learning.  

 
24. Mitigation discussed to date includes works to allow the rear entrance of the 

Nursery to be used as the main entrance during the works, noise insulation 
(double/secondary glazing or barrier treatment) and a condition survey of the 
Grade II Bishops House and the boundary wall.  The council's position is that 
mitigation work should be secured by legal agreement with TfL and carried out 
prior to the commencement of the main construction works. 

 
25. The NLE Public Inquiry is due to commence on 19 November 2013. Officers will 

continue to negotiate with TfL of the outstanding concerns contained within the 
Statement of Case.   

 
26. Should these concerns be addressed to the council’s satisfaction then it will be 

unnecessary to present the council’s case at the Public Inquiry. Ahead of an 
Inquiry, Proofs of Evidence will need to be prepared and submitted by 22 
October 2013. Inquiry commences 19 November 2013. 

 
Policy implications 
 
27. The NLE proposals are supported by the London Plan (2011), Mayors Transport 

Strategy and the VNEB Opportunity Area Planning Framework.   
 
28. The statutory development plan for the borough consists of the Core Strategy 

(2011), saved policies in the Southwark Plan (July 2007), the London Plan (July 

88



 

5 
  

2011) and the Adopted Policies Map 2012.  Whilst the council in principle 
supports the NLE, the proposals as submitted by TfL are being considered 
against these policies.  

 
Financial implications 
 
29. This report recommends that the council assembly endorses the council’s 

holding objection of 17 June 2013 to application by Transport for London for 
Northern Line extension from Kennington to Battersea. 

 
30. There are no immediate financial implications arising from this report. Officer time 

to effect the recommendations will be contained within the existing budgeted 
resources 

 
31. However, it must be noted that if the concerns raised in this report are not 

addressed to council’s satisfaction, it will be necessary to present the council’s 
case at a Public Inquiry. Any financial implications arising from such Public 
Inquiry cannot be quantified at this stage but will be included in subsequent 
report for consideration and approval. 

 
Community impact statement 

 
32. Residents in the areas have formed the Kennington & Walworth Neighbourhood 

Action Group (KWNAG).  Officers have been liaising with the local community 
since April 2013. Key issues raised by KWNAG include: 

 
• Impact of construction noise (four years for the permanent shaft); 
• Potential settlement of their homes leading to a need to redecorate and re-fit 

doors and windows; 
• Increased operational noise/vibration from the operational railway; 
• Increased congestion at Kennington Station which, they fear, could lead to 

morning peak closures; 
• The temporary relocation of the dog walking area; 
• The relocation of the “Bee Urban” hives and visitor facility. 
 

33. In particular the residents have asked whether the connection to the Kennington 
Loop, and the permanent shaft, can be located further from residents.  TfL have 
explained that a connection further along the loop would require trains in service 
(i.e. at a reasonable speed, rather than the very slow speed around the loop 
when trains are empty) to make a very tight turn.  This would lead to discomfort 
to passengers, and higher operational noise and vibration which would lead to 
on-going maintenance problems.  Any relocation of the permanent shaft would 
remove the option to use the gallery tunnels and therefore make the temporary 
shaft necessary. 

 
34. Residents also feel that they have been poorly consulted by TfL, especially in 

regards to the small area consulted and the lack of options presented.  Lambeth 
officers have raised the issue in communications with their residents, and have 
commissioned engineering consultants (Ramboll) to advise on technical matters. 

 
 

89



 

6 
  

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
Director of Legal Services 
 
35. This report recommends that the council assembly endorses the council's 

holding objection, dated 17 June 2013,  in response to the proposed London 
Underground (Northern Line Extension) Order (“the Order”), served upon the 
council on the 30 April 2013 by TfL in accordance with Section 239 Local 
Government Act 1972 and Rule 21 of the Applications Rules (Appendix 1) and 
approves the submission of the council's formal objection to the Secretary of 
State for Transport, in accordance with the respective statutory regulations as 
soon as practicable following the endorsement of paragraph 1 of the 
recommendation. 

 
36. Paragraph 3 of the report advises that an application for the Order was submitted 

to the Department of Transport by TfL on 30 April 2013 pursuant to the Transport 
and Works Act 1992.  Members are advised that the council submitted a holding 
response setting out 8 grounds of objection to the Department of Transport on 17 
June 2013. Following the submission of the holding response the Secretary of 
State for Transport advised the council that a Public Inquiry would be held into 
the matter commencing on the 19 November 2013.     The Pre-Inquiry meeting 
was held on the 13 September 2013.  Paragraph 6 of the report explained that 
the council submitted a Statement of Case in accordance with Rule 7 of the 
Transport and Work (Inquiries Procedure) Rules 2004 (SI2004 No. 2018) (“the 
Inquiry Rules”) on 27 August 2013, which set out the council’s position on the 
Order as of that date. Paragraphs 16-21 of the report further advises that the 
council has been in on-going negotiations with TfL in regards to its objections 
and suitable levels of mitigation required to alleviate the harmful amenity impacts 
of the scheme. 

 
37. Members’ are advised that a TWA Order is a statutory instrument made under 

the Transport and Works Act 1992. TWA Orders are required to authorise the 
construction or operation of railways, tramways, trolley vehicle systems and other 
guided transport; the construction or operation of canals; the carrying out of 
certain works that interfere with rights of navigation in waters in and around 
England and Wales. The main features of a project that requires authorisation 
under a TWA Order are that they may involve the construction and/or use of 
works which affect public rights such a public right of way over a highway and/ or 
the provision of powers of compulsory acquisition of land and/or the 
extinguishment of private rights. 

 
38. A typical TWA Order will authorise: 
 

• The construction and maintenance of the works specified in the Order 
• Compulsory acquisition of Land or rights over land for the works; 
• Compulsory acquisition of any other land required either temporarily or 

permanently  (for construction sites and access or environmental 
mitigation) 

• Closure or diversion of roads or paths or creation of new rights of way; 
• Other matters needed for the scheme, such as powers to use 

watercourses, protect adjoining buildings, move utility apparatus, make by-
laws or transfer an existing undertaking. 

 

90



 

7 
  

39. The process of seeking and obtaining a TWA Order from the Secretary of State 
is permissive as opposed to obligatory and will only grant the powers specified in 
its articles and schedules. The making of a TWA Order does not itself confer 
planning permission for any development provided for in the order. Therefore, 
unless the proposed ancillary works are permitted development under the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995, planning 
permission is likely to be required. The procedures for obtaining planning 
permission have been assimilated into the TWA Order process. Therefore listed 
structures are affected, any necessary listed building, conservation area or 
scheduled monument consents will be required. Applications for listed building 
consent or conservation area consent must be made to the local planning 
authority and is subject to “call-in” by the Secretary of State for his decision. 

 
40. An applicant , when applying for a TWA Order, can request  that the Secretary of 

State deem the grant of planning permission by way of a direction under section 
90(2A) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. Alternatively, planning 
permission may be applied for separately from the respective local planning 
authority. Conditions may be attached to a planning direction. Similarly, if 
planning permission had been sought from the local planning authority, the 
Secretary of State would wish to establish that such permission had been 
granted before making the order. 

 
41. Applications for TW Orders, other than those relating to Wales, are made to and 

determined by, the relevant Secretary of State. This is normally the Secretary of 
State for Transport. There are statutory rules of procedure for making 
applications and for objecting to them. Currently, these are the Transport and 
Works (Applications and Objections Procedure) (England and Wales) Rules 
2000 (SI2000 No. 2190) (“the Applications Rules”). In addition, there are 
separate statutory rules of procedure relating to the holding of public local 
inquiries into TWA applications. These rules – which cover the procedures 
before, during and after an inquiry – are the Transport and Work (Inquiries 
Procedure) Rules 2004 (SI2004 No. 2018) (“the Inquiry Rules”). 

 
42. A TWA Order may contain provisions modifying or excluding any statutory 

provision of general application which relates to any matter for which an order 
could be made. However, guidance issued by the Department of Transport ( A 
TWA Guide to Procedures – Guidance on the procedures for obtaining orders 
under the Transport and Works Act 1992, relating to transport systems, inland 
waterways and works interfering with rights of navigation June 2006 (“DfT 
Guidance”) states that the Secretary of State would be unlikely to accept such 
provisions if the applicant was simply seeking to avoid having to comply with a 
separate, and custom-made, statutory control process approved by Parliament. 
Members’ are advised that Article 3 of the TWA Order seeks to disapply various 
sections of the New Road and street works Act 1991. These sections provide the 
council with powers to control various aspects of street works and assist with the 
performance of its duties under the Traffic Management Act and Highways Act 
1980. This matter forms objection 5 of the council’s initial objection and 
paragraph 8 of the Statement of Case submitted on the 27 August 2013. 

 
43. Members’ will also note from paragraph 23 of the report,  that the council has a 

number of concerns in regards to the amenity impacts the Order will have upon 
the Bishops House Nursery and Early Years Centre and that specific mitigation 
requirements are sought by the council to address this matter. This is has been 
fully addressed in the Statement of Case, submitted to the Secretary of State. 
The council is in continuing negotiations with TfL in regards to this site and will 

91



 

8 
  

require this specific mitigation to be secured by way of a legal agreement in order 
to be acceptable. 

 
44. Rules 21 of the Application Rules sets out a procedure for the handling and 

objections received by the Secretary of State. This provides that objections and 
other representations must be made in writing to, and received, by the Secretary 
of Sate no later than the expiry date for objections, being no less than 42 days 
from the date of the application. However, where an authority, which is subject to 
the provisions of s239 of the Local Government Act 1972 wishes to lodge an 
objection but is unable to comply with the requirement within this period, it may 
forward a holding objection. The Guidance provides that this holding objection 
should set out the initial views of the relevant officers or committee, subject to 
endorsement by a meeting of authority members. 

 
45. Section 239 Local Government Act 1972 provides that a resolution of a local 

authority to promote or oppose a Bill  must be passed by a majority of the whole 
number of the members of the authority at a meeting of the authority held after 
the requisite notice of the meeting and of its purpose has been given by 
advertisement in one or more local newspapers circulating in the area of the 
authority, such notice being given in addition to the ordinary notice required to be 
given for the convening of a meeting of the authority.  

 
46. The Guidance states that where an authority submits a holding objection, it 

should submit its formal objection as soon as reasonably practicable after the 
resolution pursuant to the 1972 Act has been passed. Pending formal 
endorsement, the holding objection will be treated as an effective objection for 
the purposes of the Rules.  

 
47. Part 3A of the Southwark Constitution 2012/2013, paragraph 18 states that the 

‘making, amending, revoking, re-enacting or adopting byelaws and promoting or 
opposing the making of local legislation or personal bills’  is reserved to council 
assembly for decision. Paragraph 22 also reserves ‘all other matters which, by 
law, must be reserved to council assembly’. The endorsement and approval of 
the recommendations are therefore within the decision making remit of council 
assembly. 

 
48. The council must have due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) in 

accordance with s149 Equality Act 2010. This duty requires public authorities to 
consider the aims of the general equality duty to advance equality of opportunity 
between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who 
do not to take prejudice and promote understanding when making decisions and 
setting policies.  The protected characteristics specified under the Equality Act 
are age, disability, gender reassignment; pregnancy and maternity; race; religion 
or belief; sex; sexual orientation. 

 
49. In discharging the PSED duty , the council must have regard, in particular, to the 

need to:  
 

(a) Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;  

(b) Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share 
it;  

92



 

9 
  

(c) Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such 
persons is disproportionately low.  

 
50. The amenity impact of the Order potentially engages certain human rights under 

the Human Rights Act 2008 (“the HRA”). The HRA prohibits unlawful interference 
by public bodies with conventions rights. The term ‘engage’ simply means that 
human rights may be affected or relevant.  In this instance the following rights 
are potentially engaged: 

 
a. Article 1, Protocol 1 (Protection of Property) – this raises the potential 

for interference with individuals’ right to peaceful enjoyment of existing 
homes.  

 
51. It is important to note that not all rights operate in the same way.  There are very 

few rights are absolute and cannot be interfered with under any circumstances. 
Other ‘qualified’ rights, including the aforementioned Article 6, and Protocol 1 
rights, can be interfered with or limited in certain circumstances.  The extent of 
legitimate interference is subject to the principle of proportionality, whereby a 
balance must be struck between the legitimate aims. Public bodies have a wide 
margin of appreciation in striking a fair balance between competing rights in 
making these decisions. However, Members are advised that the council is not 
determining the application for the Order, being a decision which will be made by 
the Secretary of State for Transport in due course and following the closure of 
the Inquiry process.   

 
52. Therefore providing that the council, its members and officers understand human 

rights considerations and throughout the decision making process take them into 
proper account by striving to strike a balance between competing rights, no 
unlawful interference should be caused.   

 
Strategic Director of Finance and Corporate Services 
 
53. It noted that that there are no immediate financial implications arising from this 

report as staffing and any other related costs will be contained within existing 
departmental budgets. 

 
54. It is also noted that the potential financial implications for the council for 

presenting any unresolved concerns at the proposed Public Inquiry, if required, 
cannot be quantified at this stage and this will be subject to a further report for 
approval. 

 
Strategic Director of Environment and Leisure 
 
55. This report recommends that the council assembly endorses the council's 

holding objection dated 17 June 2013 and agrees the council's formal objection 
to the application from Transport for London for a Transport and Works Act Order 
to authorise the construction of the Northern Line Extension. Officers from the 
community safety and enforcement business unit have been involved in the pre - 
application discussions and have contributed to the grounds of objection. Officers 
are currently in the process of informally discussing mitigation with TfL either 
through suitable planning condition or legal commitment to provide such.   

 

93



 

10 
  

56. The Applicant's proposed Code of Construction Practice will provide safeguards 
to the amenity of the area. If required, officers from the community safety and 
enforcement business unit will appear at the Public Inquiry.  

 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 
 
Background Papers Held At Contact 

None   
 
APPENDICES 
 

No. Title 
Appendix 1 Northern Line Extension - plan 
Appendix 2 Northern Line Extension – Holding representation  

AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Eleanor Kelly, Chief Executive 
Report Author Sally Crew, Head of Transport Planning 

Version Final  
Dated 3 October 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included 

Director of Legal Services Yes Yes 
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Corporate Services Yes Yes 

Strategic Director of 
Environment and Leisure Yes Yes 

Cabinet Member  Yes No 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team  3 October 2013 
 
 

94



Appendix 1 - Northern Line Extension 

95



Transport Planning – Chief Executive’s Department,  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX 
Switchboard - 020 7525 5000   Website - www.southwark.gov.uk 

2 January 2013 

Dear Sir/Madam 

Southwark Council’s response to TfL’s consultation on the Northern 
Line extension 

Southwark welcomes the opportunity to comment on the proposed Northern Line 
extension.  We have three key points to make in response. 

Impact on services post-construction  
Our primary concern is the impact of the proposed extension on users of stations 
within Southwark with the completion of the extension. Currently these stations 
experience passenger crowding as well as train crowding, and this is predicted to 
continue, not least to Kennington Station itself. A key question we would like to raise 
is, will users of Elephant & Castle and London Bridge stations, which are both key 
regeneration areas in the borough, be able to get on trains in the peak hours?  

We note that proposal includes plans for the partial separation of the Northern line 
with the Charing Cross and Bank branches being separated at Kennington. This will 
enable an increase in peak hour service frequency. However we would like TfL to 
demonstrate whether this capacity increase will be sufficient to cope with the 
predicted increase in passenger numbers and how this will impact on the rest of the 
line – particular stations in Southwark.  

We note that TfL Railplan modelling is still ongoing, and hope that once complete 
station modelling will be refined to further understand the long term impact at 
Kennington, Elephant & Castle, Borough and London Bridge stations. 

Future improvements to Kennington Station

With the advancement of the Northern Line Extension, with all its impacts locally, 
there is an opportunity to improve the service for local users of Kennington Station. 
This underground station has long suffered from anti-social behaviour and low-level 

TfL Northern line extension 
Floor 10, Windsor House 
42-50 Victoria Street 
London SW1H 0TL 

Transport Planning 

Direct 
Line  

020 7525 5317

Email transport@southwark.gov.uk 
Our ref 20130102_NLE_response
Your ref 

APPENDIX 2
96



Transport Planning – Chief Executive’s Department,  
PO Box 64529, London SE1P 5LX 
Switchboard - 020 7525 5000   Website - www.southwark.gov.uk 

crime. Responding to public calls for longer staffing hours and / or greater use of 
CCTV monitoring would go a long way towards resolving the situation.  

We want to also reiterate to TfL Southwark Council’s longstanding campaign for 
Kennington Station to be re-designated a Zone 1 station. The improvements to and 
expansion of the Northern Line lend further support to this request and we would ask 
TfL to review the zoning of the station alongside the extension. 

Surface disturbance during construction 
We recognise that a significant degree of disruption to local residents is inevitable 
through lorry traffic on residential roads, risk of building settlement, temporary loss of 
parking places, and engineering works leading to noise, dirt and vibration.  We 
appreciate that efforts are being made to minimise this disruption, but would urge that 
the option with least disruption to our residents is pursued as well as fully mitigating 
any inconvenience and risk caused particularly to the users of Bishop’s House 
Children’s Centre, regardless of any cost differentials.  

We also request that serious consideration is given to relocating the junction of the 
existing line to a section of the loop beneath the park. If this is not possible, we are 
seeking assurances that the current plans to site a ventilation shaft in Harmsworth 
Street and tunnelling below will not result in subsidence to any of the properties in the 
area. We also wish to see the galley tunnelling option fully explored. 

Service patterns during construction 
We understand that modelling is still underway to determine the optimum service 
patterns during construction.  Our concerns are primarily related to the operation of 
the station: there is a risk that reduced services, coupled with the proposed split 
between Bank and Charing Cross branches giving rise to an increased demand for 
interchange, will lead to significant congestion at the station. 

Whilst Southwark welcome the chance to respond to this consultation, we feel that 
the deadline is too soon given that we are expecting further information regarding the 
extension in the coming weeks.  If you would like to discuss any of the issues 
contained within this letter please contact Sally Crew on 020 7525 5564. 

Yours faithfully 

Cllr Barrie Hargrove 
Cabinet Member for Transport, Environment and Recycling 

97



Item No. 
8.2 

 

Classification: 
Open 

Date: 
16 October 2013 

Meeting Name: 
Council Assembly 

Report title: 
 

Constitutional Review 2013/14 
 

Ward(s) or groups affected: 
 

All 

From: 
 

Proper Constitutional Officer 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That council assembly consider the recommendations of the constitutional steering 
panel regarding the following changes to the council’s constitution: 
 
PART 4: CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS  

 
1. That the changes to contract standing orders as described in paragraphs 10 - 

13 and as set out in full in Appendix 1 of this report be agreed.  
 
PART 4: FINANCIAL STANDING ORDERS 
 
2. That the changes to financial standing orders as described in paragraphs 14 - 

16 and as set out in full in Appendix 2 of this report be agreed. 
 
PART 3G: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
3. That the changes to the licensing committee’s terms of reference as described 

in paragraphs 17 - 24 and as set out in full in Appendix 3 of this report be 
agreed. 

 
PART 3K: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
4. That the changes to the audit and governance committee’s terms of reference 

as described in paragraphs  25 – 28 and as set out in full in Appendix 4 of this 
report be agreed.  

 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCE SCHEME 
 
5. That the members’ allowance scheme is adopted for 2013-14 (see paragraphs 

29 - 32 and Appendix 5). 
 
CONSEQUENTIAL CHANGES 
 
6. As a result of the changes suggested within this report officers will be required 

to update the constitution. Therefore council assembly is requested to 
authorise officers to undertake any necessary consequential changes. 

Agenda Item 8.2
98



 
BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
7. This report covers constitutional areas and a number of other statutory and 

regulatory changes that had come to officers' attention that are relevant to this 
review of the constitution. 

 
8. The central objective for making changes to the constitution is to ensure that it 

is easily understood and user friendly.  In order to achieve this, council 
assembly should take into account that the constitution should be:  

 
• Accessible to all those who need to use it to understand their rights and 

obligations under it. 
• Efficient: supporting effective decision-making so that the business of the 

council can be delivered in line with best practice on corporate 
governance. 

• Inclusive: so that decision-making is open and transparent and involves 
local communities. 

 
9. All the constitutional changes outlined in this report were considered by the 

constitutional steering panel on 4 September 2013, and stand referred as a 
recommendation to council assembly.  Changes to the constitution are 
generally agreed by council assembly, unless another body or individual is 
authorised to do so – see Article 1.15.   

 
KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 
 
PART 4: CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS  

 
General advice on changes to contract standing orders 

 
10. The contract standing orders (CSOs) are reviewed each year to reflect any 

statutory or procedural changes.  Article 1 of the constitution provides that 
minor changes may be made by the monitoring officer and chief finance officer 
to CSOs, but all other changes must be agreed by council assembly.  It should 
be noted that other changes which may be agreed to the constitution by council 
assembly may have an impact on CSOs which would need to be picked up 
subsequently. 

 
11. A comparison of this council’s contract standing orders with those of other 

London boroughs has commenced, in particular in relation to decision making 
thresholds, and this may lead to further proposals next year for consideration. 

 
Substantive changes 
 
12. Proposed substantive changes are set out below and are included in Appendix 

1: 
 
• CSO 4.3 Supplemental advice from other officers in Gateway and other 

reports – it is proposed to require report authors to include advice from the 
strategic director of housing and community services in relation to all housing- 
related reports, in order to ensure that section 20 leaseholder implications are 
addressed appropriately. 

 

99



Other minor changes 
 
13. A number of other minor changes have been made to CSO 3 Particular types 

of contract to clarify the position in relation to the use of consortia and 
frameworks. These are summarised below and are included in Appendix 1: 

 
• CSO 3.1 Corporate contracts – the title and section have been amended 

for greater clarity, but without changing the requirements 
• CSO 3.2 Consortium contracts – this section and title have been 

reworded for greater clarity, but without changing the requirements 
• CSO 3.3 Framework/schedule of rates contracts – the title and 

subsection CSO 3.3.1 have been reworded for greater clarity and 
subsection CSO 3.3.2 has been moved to a new expanded section 3.4 
on use of third party framework agreements and arrangements. No 
changes have been made to requirements  

• Definitions – updated and new definitions of consortium and framework 
related entries for greater clarity 

• Terminology – updated as required, e.g. post and portfolio titles. 
 
PART 4: FINANCIAL STANDING ORDERS 

 
General advice on changes to financial standing orders 
 
14. The financial standing orders (FSOs) are reviewed each year to reflect any 

statutory or procedural changes.  Article 1 of the constitution provides that 
minor changes may be made by the chief finance officer and monitoring officer 
to FSOs, but all other changes must be agreed by council assembly.  It should 
be noted that other changes which may be agreed to the constitution by council 
assembly may have an impact on FSOs which would need to be picked up 
subsequently. 

 
Substantive changes 
 
15. The proposed substantive changes are summarised below and included in 

Appendix 2: 
 

• FSO 4 Setting the annual budget and the council tax – an amendment is 
proposed to 4a) to include approval and notification of the net rate yield for 
national non domestic rates to reflect the new requirements arising from new 
local government financing arrangements 

 
• FSO 5d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates – a new 

subsection i) is proposed to make explicit the current requirement that 
adjustments affecting the schedule of corporately controlled budgets may only 
be made with the agreement of the chief finance officer. This has previously 
been included in 5c (budget adjustments/virements within directorates) but 
not 5d 

 
• FSO 5d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates – a new 

subsection ii) is proposed to set out reporting requirements for any technical 
adjustments which may be made to budgets after the outturn has been 
reported to cabinet. Examples other than those listed could be the build up 
and release of the waste PFI reserve, movements to and from reserves 
related to rent free periods, or the smoothing of the cost of rent over a number 

100



of years. This section confirms that any such adjustments will be reflected in 
the statement of accounts 

 
• FSO 5d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates – a new 

subsection iii) is proposed to make explicit the current arrangements for 
reporting adjustments up to £250,000 to cabinet 

 
• FSO 5d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates – an 

amendment to subsection iv) is proposed to include adjustments relating to 
reserves within the arrangements for obtaining approval. 

 
Other minor changes 
 
16. Minor changes are summarised below and included in Appendix 2: 
 

• FSO 4 Setting the annual budget and the council tax – switch the order of b) 
Collection fund and d) Support for council tax so that FSO 4 flows more 
logically 

• FSO 5c) Budget adjustments/virements within a directorate – removal of 
reference to ‘cost centre groups’ as these are no longer shown within the 
budget book 

• FSO 5c)ii) Budget adjustments/ virements within a directorate – rewording for 
greater clarity but no change to requirements 

• FSO 5c)iii) Budget adjustments/virements within a directorate – rewording to 
reflect current arrangements – in practice, cabinet already approves these 
adjustments and, in the event that an adjustment had been actioned which 
was not subsequently approved, it would be reversed 

• FSO 11a) Prudential framework – reporting of indicators made explicit 
• Terminology – updated as required, e.g. post and portfolio titles. 

 
PART 3G: LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
17. The Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 came into effect on 1 October 2013.  
 
18. Under the Act the Council has the ability to consider whether applicants for 

scrap metal dealers site and collectors licences are suitable to hold a licence. If 
the council is minded to refuse an application then the applicant is able to make 
representations to the council and have these heard. Guidance issued by the 
LGA proposes that for purposes of consistency of approach and human rights, 
all representations should be heard by the licensing sub-committee. 

 
19. However there is a minor problem, the Act allows in Schedule 1: If A informs 

the authority that A wishes to make oral representations, the authority must 
give A the opportunity of appearing before, and being heard by, a person 
appointed by the authority. 

 
20. Clearly the decision maker should hear and take into account any 

representation before making any decision.  However, there is no reason why 
the oral representation cannot be made before a committee or sub-committee.  
There is a very small risk of challenge but given the need for the decision 
maker to hear any representation and the right of appeal this is acceptable     

 
21. In reality the hearings required are likely to be few. However, current operators 

will need to apply under the new licensing regime under transitional 

101



arrangements and guidance suggests that all applications made during the 
transition should be determined by 1 December 2013 (the date when offences 
under the Act may become enforceable) and it is possible that current 
registered operators may require a hearing. 

 
22. The requirement on councils to allow an applicant to make oral representations 

means that it will be appropriate to refer any contested applications to a 
licensing committee.  Therefore the constitution will need to be amended to 
ensure that applications for the grant, renewal or variation of a scrap metal 
licence which involves the applicant making representations are matters 
reserved to the licensing committee and its sub-committee. 

 
23. Those applications which are uncontested or where there are no questions 

about the suitability of the applicant can be delegated to officers to make the 
decision. 

 
24. The constitutional steering panel therefore recommends that Part 3G be 

amended as follows: 
 

Add as part of Other reserved decisions: 
 

29. Any application for the grant, renewal or variation of any scrap metal 
licence which involves the applicant making representations. 

 
30. Revocation of any scrap metal licence. 

 
PART 3K: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 

 
25. On 1 April 2013 the UK Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) came in 

to force.  The PSIAS apply to all public sector internal audit service providers 
and compliance (or otherwise) with them must be reported by 30 March 2014.  
In order to review the internal audit service’s compliance with the new code, the 
head of anti-fraud and internal audit undertook a self-assessment review which 
identified that some updates to the audit and governance committee’s terms of 
reference in relation to its audit activity (Appendix 4) would need to be 
considered by council assembly. 

26. Overall, the self assessment confirmed that the council is already largely 
compliant with the standards and the committee’s terms of reference are fit for 
purpose.  There are, however, some new requirements introduced by the code 
as set out in new points in the draft revised terms of reference: these are 
changes around terminology and confirmation of activity undertaken. 

27. At their meeting on 17 July 2013 the audit and governance committee reviewed 
the draft revised terms of reference and confirmed that it proposed no 
amendments before consideration by the constitutional steering panel.   

28. The proposed changes are summarised below and are shown in detail in 
Appendix 4: 

 
• Point 5 has been deleted and replaced by new points 5-9 to reflect new 

requirements of the PSIAS 
• Points 10 and 11 have been amended to more closely reflect the PSIAS 
• Point 16 has been amended to reflect changes in external audit provision 
• Point 21 has been amended to reflect recent changes to terminology. 

102



 
MEMBERS ALLOWANCE SCHEME 
 
29. The current scheme was agreed by council assembly on 23 May 2012. The Local 

Government & Housing Act 1989 and the Local Authorities (Members’ 
Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require authorities to make a scheme for 
payment of allowances to councillors. The regulations do not set the amounts that 
can be paid. 

 
30. Before making, amending or reworking its allowance scheme, the council is 

required, by the regulations, to have regard to any recommendations of an 
independent remuneration panel. The council is not, however, bound to adopt all 
or any of the panel’s recommendations provided it has given them due 
consideration and is satisfied that it has justifiable reasons for not doing so. The 
London Councils Independent remuneration panel last reported in 2010 and it is 
on these recommendations which the current scheme is based. 

 
Basic Allowance 
 
31. No change is required to the basic allowance. The figure will remain at £10,599 

unless members specifically agree to change it. 
 
Allowances 
 
32. The Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 

provides, under section 5.1i, for an SRA to be paid for carrying out “such other 
activities in relation to the discharge of the authority’s functions as require the 
member an amount of time and effort equal to or greater than would be 
required for any other specified activity” (these include chairing committees, 
representing the council and acting as a spokesperson). There are no 
amendments proposed to the level of SRA to be paid. 

 
OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Resource implications 
 
33. There are some resource implications associated with the changes outlined 

above but these can be dealt with within existing budgets.   
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS 
 
34. Any legal issues are outlined in the body of the report. 
 
 
BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS 

 
Background Papers Held At Contact 
Southwark Constitution 
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/info/
10058/about_southwark_council/
375/councils_constitution 

160 Tooley Street, 
London SE1 2QH 
 

Constitutional Team 
constitutional.team@southwark.
gov.uk 
020 7525 7228 

 
 
 

103



APPENDICES 
 
Appendix Title 
Appendix 1 Contract Standing Orders – Proposed Amendments 
Appendix 2 Financial Standing Orders – Proposed Amendments 
Appendix 3 Part 3G: Licensing Committee – Proposed Amendments 
Appendix 4 Part 3K: Audit and Governance Committee – Proposed role and 

functions 
Appendix 5 Members Allowance Scheme 
 
AUDIT TRAIL 
 

Lead Officer Alexa Coates, Principal Constitutional Officer 
Report Author Lesley John, Constitutional Officer  

Version Final 
Dated 25 September 2013 

Key Decision? No 
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments sought Comments included 
Director of Legal Services Yes Incorporated in the 

report 
Strategic Director of Finance and 
Corporate Services 

No No 

Cabinet Member No No 
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 25 September 2013 
 

104



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

179

CONTRACT STANDING ORDERS 20123/134

Introduction

1. When do Contract Standing Orders apply? 

2. General principles 

2.1 Compliance with relevant statutory and corporate requirements 
2.2 Consequences of non-compliance 
2.3 General principle of contract decision making 
2.4 Contracts in writing 
2.5 Record keeping 
2.6 Lead contract officer 
2.7 Authority to act in line with scheme of management 
2.8 Declarations of interest 
2.9 Changes to CSOs 

3. Particular types of contract 

3.1 Corporate contracts and corporate framework agreements/arrangements
3.2 Consortium contracts Contracts secured through purchasing consortia
3.3 Framework/schedule of rates contracts Demand led contracts (framework 

contracts)
3.4 Use of third party framework agreements/arrangements
3.45 Health and social care and education Spot contracts 
3.56 Leasing contracts 

4. Approvals processes 

4.1 Overview of procurement process 
4.2 Gateway and other reports 
4.3 Supplemental advice from other officers in Gateway and other reports 
4.4 Decision on procurement strategy – Gateway 1 
4.5 Decision on contract award – Gateway 2 
4.6 Decision to allow variations during contract term – Gateway 3 
4.7 Retrospective approvals 
4.8 Exemptions 
4.9 Emergencies 

5. Requirements to obtain tenders or quotes depending on type of contract 
and levels of contract value 

5.1 Contracts less than £5,000 
5.2 Contracts from £5,000 to £75,000 
5.3 Works contracts and works-related services above £75,000 but below EU 

threshold
5.4 All other contracts not falling within 5.1 to 5.3 above 

6. Tender procedure 

7. Contract management and monitoring 

APPENDIX 1105



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

180

8. Contract termination 

9. Contractor insolvency 

Glossary 

106



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

181

Introduction

The council seeks to achieve value for money and best value when obtaining 
supplies of goods, services and works.  

The Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) set out minimum requirements to be followed. 
CSOs are governed by section 135 of the Local Government Act 1972 and are the 
council’s rules for contracts. They must always be followed unless the law (European 
or UK) requires something different. 

Further information can be found in the Procurement Guidelines. Officers must 
always seek advice from corporate procurement and/or legal services for all 
contracts where European law applies or which are Strategic Procurements and for 
other contracts if they have any queries.   

CSOs do not override other parts of the council’s constitution. For example, if a 
decision about a contract is also a “key decision”, then the requirements set out in 
the constitution in relation to CSOs and to key decisions will have to be met.  

There is a definitions section at the end of these orders which provides explanations 
of important words or phrases (e.g. Estimated Contract Value). 

1. When do Contract Standing Orders apply? 

1.1 CSOs apply: 

 to any procurement or tendering process or contract entered into by the 
council for the provision of goods, services and works and to the operation 
of any concession 

 where the council is involved in joint working funded partly or entirely by 
external funding to the extent that the money passes through the council’s 
accounts

 to all schools maintained by the London Borough of Southwark but subject 
to the current Southwark Scheme for Financing Schools and the Schools’ 
Contract Standing Orders. 

unless an exemption to CSOs is approved (see 4.8 below). 

1.2 CSOs do not apply: 

 to contracts of employment 
 to land transactions 
 to grants given by the council. 

2. General principles 

2.1 Compliance with relevant statutory and corporate requirements 

There must be compliance with the requirements of: 

a) propriety, including obtaining all necessary approvals 
b) value for money and best value, through the consideration of all 

procurement options 

107



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

182

c) all parts of the council’s constitution such as these CSOs, the 
Financial Standing Orders and the protocol on Key Decisions 

d) EU and domestic legislation, including the “Standstill” Period 
e) the council’s procurement strategy, the Procurement Guidelines and 

other council policies and procedures 
f) the employee code of conduct (for officers) 
g) the council plan 
h) the council’s policy commitment to the London Living Wage as 

confirmed by council assembly on 29 February 2012. 

2.2 Consequences of non-compliance 

It is a disciplinary offence to: 

 fail to comply with CSOs  
 fail to have regard to the Procurement Guidelines when letting contracts. 

Employees have a duty to report breaches of CSOs to an appropriate senior 
manager, who will advise the monitoring officer and the strategic director of 
finance and corporate services.  

The monitoring officer will report to the audit and governance committee any 
serious breach of contract standing orders or of the Procurement Guidelines.  

2.3 General principle of contract decision making 

The aim of the procurement process is to ensure that each contract is 
awarded to the most economically advantageous tenderer, who may or may 
not have submitted the lowest sum offered, and that any decision on a 
Variation is made on a similar basis so as to ensure that value for money, 
quality considerations and the need to implement the council’s sustainable 
communities strategy are taken into account. Contracts may only be awarded 
or a Variation decision made if the expenditure has been included in 
approved revenue or capital estimates or has been otherwise approved by, or 
on behalf of, the council. 

2.4 Contracts in writing 

2.4.1 Every contract awarded must be in writing and, wherever practicable, on 
terms agreed by the council and consistent with any council terms of trading 
and contain full details of the contract documents and contract terms. All 
Strategic Procurement contracts and those works contracts whose contract 
value is in excess of the EU threshold for services/supplies must be executed 
on behalf of the council under seal as a deed. 

2.4.2 All other contracts must be signed by at least two authorised officers of the 
lead contract officer’s department. 

2.4.3 All contracts must wherever practicable be signed or sealed before contract 
commencement and in accordance with the procedures set out in the 
Procurement Guidelines. 

2.5 Record keeping 

2.5.1 Chief officers must ensure that the following records are kept: 

108



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

183

 a detailed contract file for each contract, including the Estimated Contract 
Value and, for all contracts with an Estimated Contract Value of over 
£75,000, all tender opening records 

 all decisions made, reasons for them and actions taken in relation to 
contracts

 all reports relating to contracts. 

2.5.2 Chief officers must ensure that all contracts, including those with an 
Estimated Contract value below £75,000, are recorded on a departmental 
contract register.

2.5.3 Details of all contracts with an Estimated Contract value of £75.000 £75,000
of more will be recorded on the council’s central contract register.  

2.6 Lead contract officer 

A lead contract officer (LCO) must be identified for each contract. Where no 
LCO is identified, the LCO will be deemed to be the budget holder of the 
section from which the contract is funded.  

2.7 Authority to act in line with scheme of management 

Each officer will act only within the limits of their delegated authority, as set 
out in their department’s scheme of management. The hierarchy of decision 
makers for procurement decisions is as follows: 

 cabinet/cabinet committee (highest) 
 individual decision maker (IDM) 
 strategic director of finance and corporate services, as advised after 

consideration by CCRB of the report
 chief officer, or as delegated through departmental schemes of 

management. 

2.8 Declarations of interest 

2.8.1 The following will declare any interests which may affect the procurement 
process:

a) all staff, whether directly employed by the council or otherwise, who 
play a role in any aspect of the tendering process 

b) all staff listed on a scheme of management or delegation in relation to 
a contract or procurement issue 

c) external consultants and representatives of bodies other than the 
council (including community representatives) who play a role or 
whose work gives them influence over or information about any aspect 
of the contract process 

d) joint negotiating committee (JNC) officers 
e) any other officers who regularly give advice to members including 

report authors. 

2.8.2 Chief officers will ensure that staff, consultants and representatives of bodies 
other than the council (including community representatives) appointed or 
agreed by them make declarations on appointment, or on any change in 

109



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

184

circumstances (and annually in the case of staff); and will either certify them 
as acceptable or take any necessary action in respect of potential conflicts of 
interest.

2.8.3 Chief officers will keep completed staff declarations on the individual's 
personnel file; and also maintain a departmental register of declarations 
indicating the names and grades of all those declaring, and the nature of their 
declaration; LCOs will keep any consultants' or other bodies’ representatives' 
declarations on the contract file. 

2.9 Changes to CSOs 

As set out in article 1, the monitoring officer may make minor changes to the 
Contract Standing Orders, after consultation with the chief finance officer.  

Minor changes are defined as: 
 typographical/presentational/explanatory changes 
 changes in statutory framework, i.e. references to new or updated 

legislation 
 changes in titles, names or terminology 
 changes consequential to other constitutional changes already made. 

3. Particular types of contract 

3.1 Corporate contracts and corporate framework agreements/ 
arrangements

Where there is a Corporate contract or Ccorporate framework for a service, 
supply or for works, it must be used to make the relevant purchase.  If a lead 
contract officer believes that the Corporate contract or corporate framework
does not meet their requirements they must obtain an exemption (see 4.8) 
through a Gateway report regardless of the value of the purchase.  

3.2 Consortium contracts Contracts secured through purchasing consortia

 The requirements in these Contract Standing Orders for obtaining tenders or 
quotes shall not apply where the council intends to purchase under a 
Consortium contract so long as approval for the use of that Consortium 
contract has been given via a Gateway 1 report which should identify the 
procedure and route for approvals for future orders/works being placed under 
the consortium agreement.

 Approval to create or join a purchasing consortium must be obtained in a 
Gateway 1 report which must identify the procedure for award of individual 
contracts or orders placed by the consortium. Once approval has been 
obtained, contracts or orders placed through the purchasing consortium will 
not be subject to the tendering or quotation requirements in these Contract 
Standing Orders, but the usual Gateway 2 procedures (see 4.5) must be 
followed

3.3 Framework/schedule of rates contracts Demand led contracts 
(framework contracts)

3.3.1 When a Framework contract or similar type of contract (such as a schedule of 
rates contract) is entered into, no Demand led contracts will not be subject to 

110



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

185

the tendering or quotation requirements of these Contract Standing Orders, 
but the usual Gateway 1 and 2 procedures (see 4.4 and 4.5) must be followed 
in order to demonstrate value for money and proper process. No individual 
order may be placed under a demand led contract which will exceed the EU 
threshold for services/supplies unless this has been approved by the relevant 
decision maker appropriate to that contract, whether . Such approval can be 
given at the time of the approval of the procurement strategy (Gateway 1 
report) or in the approval of the award of the contract (Gateway 2 report) or 
before the individual order is placed. 

3.3.2 Any procurement involving the use of a third party’s Framework contract is 
subject to usual Gateway 1 and 2 procedures (see 4.4 below).

3.4 Use of third party framework agreements/arrangements

Any procurement involving the use of a third party’s Framework arrangement 
will not be subject to the tendering or quotation requirements of these 
Contract Standing Orders. The Gateway 1 and 2 procedures (see 4.4 and 
4.5), however, must be followed to demonstrate value for money and proper 
process. Some framework arrangements require buying authorities to formally 
join the framework in order to use it. Some may require an access charge to 
be paid, e.g. Improvement and Efficiency South East (IESE). Where it is 
necessary to join a framework or to pay an access charge, this should be 
made clear in the Gateway 1 report. 

3.4 3.5 Health and social care and education Spot contracts 

Personal, social or educational services are sometimes provided by the 
purchasing of these services under Spot contracts.  The relevant chief officers 
will seek to minimise the use of Spot contracts, but where they are to be used 
for such services: 

a) the requirements in these Contract Standing Orders for obtaining tenders 
or quotes shall not apply 

b) the relevant chief officer may award all such Spot contracts, and 
c) the relevant chief officer must provide an annual report to the Corporate 

Contract Review Board (CCRB) detailing the nature, extent and value of 
Spot contracts entered into in the previous financial year. 

3.5 3.6 Leasing contracts 

Where approval is being sought to enter into a contract for the lease of an 
asset, written permission is also required from the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services in most cases, as set out in the Financial Standing 
Orders.  Confirmation that this has been obtained should be included in 
Gateway reports.   

4. Approvals processes 

4.1 Overview of procurement process 

4.1.1 Having identified a need to purchase goods, services or works which are not 
covered by an existing contract and having confirmed that they are subject to 

111



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

186

CSOs (see section 1 above), the main stages of all non-emergency 
procurements are – in summary: 

a) to identify who is the lead contract officer (LCO) – see 2.6 above 
b) to obtain approval of procurement strategy (Gateway 1 report). This will 

depend on the Estimated Contract Value and other factors and may 
require advice from consideration of the report by the Departmental and 
Corporate Contract Review Boards (DCRB and CCRB) – see 4.4 below 

c) to follow appropriate quote/tender route. This will depend on the 
Estimated Contract Value and other factors – see 5 below 

d) to obtain approval to award contract (Gateway 2 report). This will depend 
on Estimated Contract Value and other factors and may require advice 
from consideration of the report by the DCRBs and CCRB – see 4.5 below 

e) to ensure that a written contract has been signed (and sealed if 
necessary) on behalf of the chief officer of the LCO’s department in line 
with constitutional requirements. 

For an emergency procurement, see 4.9 below. 

4.1.2 Where there is a need to vary an existing contract, the process to be followed 
is set out in 4.6 below. 

4.1.3 Where it is proposed to bring a service which was previously externalised 
back in-house, it is necessary to follow 4.1.1 a) and b) above.  

4.2 Gateway and other reports 

The procurement process requires approvals via written reports at the 
following stages: 

a) approval of procurement strategy – Gateway 1 report 
b) approval of award of the contract – Gateway 2 report 
c) approval of Variation or Extension to contract – Gateway 3 report. 

More information can be found in 4.4 to 4.6 and the definitions below.  

4.3 Supplemental advice from other officers in Gateway and other reports 

Where the Estimated Contract Value or, in relation to a Variation, the Contract 
Value is over the relevant EU threshold or where required elsewhere in the 
CSOs, any Gateway report or other report containing a contract matter (such 
as a Variation report) must include legal advice from the monitoring officer,
and financial and procurement advice from the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services and, for all housing-related reports, advice from the 
strategic director of housing and community services or delegated officer(s).

112



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

187

4.4 Decision on procurement strategy – Gateway 1 

4.4.1 A decision on the procurement strategy to be used on any contract with an 
Estimated Contract Value of over £75,000 must only be made after 
consideration of a Gateway 1 report. It is recommended that such a report is 
also used for contracts with an estimated value of £75,000 or below.  

4.4.2 The decision on the approval of the procurement strategy is to be taken by 
the relevant chief officer or under his/her delegated authority in line with the 
department’s scheme of management, except where: 

a) the contract is a Strategic Procurement, the decision must be taken by the 
cabinet or cabinet committee, after consideration by the CCRB of the 
report

b) the Estimated Contract Value is above £2 million but below £4 million for 
services and supplies or above £10 million but below £15 million for works 
but the contract does not fall into a) above, the decision must be taken by 
the relevant individual decision maker, after consideration by the CCRB of 
the report 

c) the contract is a Corporate contract, but does not fall into a) or b) above, 
the decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance and 
corporate services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report 

d) the contract will affect the budget of more than one directorate and the 
Estimated Contract Value is £500,000 or more, but does not fall into a), b) 
or c) above, the decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report 

e) the Estimated Contract Value is above the relevant EU threshold but the 
contract does not fall into a), b), c) or d) above and the LCO is requesting 
approval to proceed with a single tenderer or to negotiate with a single 
provider (and this is permitted by EU legislation), the decision must be 
taken by the strategic director of finance and corporate services, after 
consideration by the CCRB of the report 

f) the contract will affect the budget of more than one directorate and the 
Estimated Contract Value is less than £500,000, the chief officers of all 
the directorates concerned must agree the decision, after consideration by 
the relevant DCRBs of the report 

g) the Estimated Contract Value is above the relevant EU threshold but the 
contract does not fall into a), b), c), d), e) or f) above, the decision must be 
taken by the chief officer or under his/her delegated authority, after 
consideration by his/her DCRB of the report 

h) a different requirement must be met as specified elsewhere in the 
constitution or these CSOs: 
i) for the decision to be made by someone else (e.g. pensions, 

treasury management and insurance where decisions are to be 
made by the strategic director of finance and corporate services), or 

ii) about the decision (e.g. in emergencies where no prior written report 
is needed – see 4.9 below). 

4.4.3  Gateway 1 reports should also include any details of procurement proposals 
that are different from the normal routes, including requests for exemptions to 
all or some of these CSOs and requests to delegate powers to award the 
contract.

4.5 Decision on contract award – Gateway 2 

113



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

188

4.5.1 A decision to award any contract with an Estimated Contract Value of over 
£75,000 must only be made after consideration of a Gateway 2 report. It is 
recommended that such a report is also used for contracts with an estimated 
value of £75,000 or below. As a minimum, the LCO must keep a written 
record of decisions and action taken. 

4.5.2 The decision on the award of a contract is to be taken on the basis of a 
written report by the relevant chief officer or under his/her delegated authority 
in line with the department’s scheme of management, except where: 

a) the contract is a Strategic Procurement, the decision must be taken by the 
cabinet or cabinet committee, after consideration by the CCRB of the 
report

b) the Estimated Contract Value is above £2 million but below £4 million for 
supplies and services or above £10 million but below £15 million for works 
but the contract does not fall into a) above, the decision must be taken by 
the relevant individual decision maker, after consideration by the CCRB of 
the report 

c) the contract is a Corporate contract, but does not fall into a) or b) above, 
the decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance and 
corporate services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report 

d) the contract will affect the budget of more than one directorate, and the 
Estimated Contract Value is £500,000 or more but does not fall into a), b) 
or c) above, the decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report 

e) the contract will affect the budget of more than one directorate and the 
Estimated Contract Value is less than £500,000, the chief officers of all 
the directorates concerned must agree the decision, after consideration by 
the relevant DCRBs of the report 

f) if; 
i) the Estimated Contract Value is £500,000 or above (for services and 

supplies contracts) or above the relevant EU threshold (for works 
contracts), and  

ii)  the contract is to be awarded to a contractor whose bid was more 
than 15% above the Lowest Bid,

but does not fall into a), b), c) or d) above, the decision must be taken by 
the strategic director of finance and corporate services, after consideration 
by the CCRB of the report 

g) the proposed contract includes pension arrangements terms which are 
different from those set out in the council’s Admitted Bodies policy, the 
decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance and corporate 
services, after consideration of the report by the CCRB and taking advice 
from the Pensions Advisory Panel 

h) the Estimated Contract Value is above the relevant EU threshold but the 
contract does not fall into a), b), c), d), e), f) or g) above, the decision must 
be taken by the relevant chief officer or under his/her delegated authority, 
after consideration by the relevant DCRB of the report 

i) a different requirement must be met as specified elsewhere in the 
constitution or these CSOs: 
i) for the decision to be made by someone else (e.g. pensions, 

treasury management and insurance where decisions are to be 
made by the strategic director of finance and corporate services) 

ii) about the decision (e.g. in emergencies where no prior written report 
is needed – see 4.9 below) 

114



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

189

j) approval has been obtained in line with 4.4.3 above to a different decision 
process.

4.5.3 Requests to delegate the decision on the award of a contract should be 
included within the Gateway 1 report. 

4.5.4 Report authors should include, as part of the proposed recommendations 
contained within the Gateway 2 report, details of any possible options to 
extend the contract. Where such a recommendation is not included, even 
where the contract was awarded prior to the commencement of these CSOs, 
any decision to exercise an option to extend the contract will be subject to the 
requirements of 4.6 below. 

4.6 Decision to allow Variations during contract term – Gateway 3 

4.6.1 A decision to allow a contract Variation of more than £75,000 must only be 
made after consideration of a Gateway 3 report.  It is recommended that such 
a report is also used for contract Variations with an estimated value of 
£75,000 or below.  As a minimum, the LCO must keep a written record of 
decisions and action taken.   

4.6.2 Any decision to allow a Variation of a contract is to be taken on the basis of a 
written report by the relevant chief officer or under his/her delegated authority 
in line with the department’s scheme of management, except where: 

a) the Contract Value plus the amount of the proposed Variation and any 
previous Variations is £250,000 or above (for services and supplies 
contracts) or £1 million or above (for works contracts) and the amount of 
the proposed Variation is more than 10% of the Contract value, the 
decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance and corporate 
services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report; all such decisions 
will be advised in writing by the strategic director of finance and corporate 
services to members of the cabinet 

b) the contract is a Corporate contract, but does not fall into a) above, the 
decision must be taken by the strategic director of finance and corporate 
services, after consideration by the CCRB of the report; all such decisions 
will be advised in writing by the strategic director of finance and corporate 
services to members of the cabinet 

c) the contract affects the budget of more than one directorate, but does not 
fall into a) or b) above, the decision must be taken by the relevant chief 
officer, after obtaining agreement in writing from the other relevant chief 
officer(s), and after consideration by the relevant DCRBs of the report. 

d) an additional amount is to be paid in respect of an outstanding sum for 
works, services or supplies already provided or where an Urgent Payment 
is required, written confirmation from the monitoring officer that the sums 
are legally payable must be obtained and the decision to make the 
payment must be reported in writing to the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services within five clear working days 

e) a different requirement must be met as specified elsewhere in the 
constitution or these CSOs: 
i) for the decision to be made by someone else (e.g. pensions, 

treasury management and insurance where decisions are to be 
made by the strategic director of finance and corporate services), or 

ii) about the decision (e.g. in emergencies where no prior written report 
is needed – see 4.9 below) 

115



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

190

f) approval has been obtained in line with 4.4.3 above to a different decision 
process.

4.6.3 Where a decision on a Variation is made in relation to a contract for works, 
there will also be a deemed variation of the contract of any consultant 
engaged in relation to that works contract. This only applies where the 
consultant is engaged on a fixed percentage of the works contract value. The 
deemed variation of the consultant’s contract will be by the same percentage 
as that applied to the works contract.  

4.7 Retrospective approvals 

In the event of a contract having been entered into other than in compliance 
with these CSOs, it may be necessary to seek approvals retrospectively. In 
such cases, the procedures relating to Gateway 1, Gateway 2 and Gateway 3 
reports should be followed. Where the decision makers for the Gateway 1 and 
2 reports are different, both decisions can be taken by the higher decision 
maker (see 2.7 above), after consulting with the other decision maker. In 
addition, a report should be submitted to the relevant departmental contract 
review board for information and, where a decision relates to a procurement 
strategy, a contract award or a contract Variation with an estimated value of 
over £100,000, also to the audit and governance committee, setting out the 
circumstances and manner in which the decision was taken, for the purpose 
of obtaining guidance to inform future decision making. 

4.8 Exemptions 

In the event that there appear to be exceptional circumstances which mean 
that the usual procedures set out in the CSOs cannot be followed, written 
approval must be obtained in advance through a Gateway report. The report 
should set out the exceptional circumstances and explain why usual 
procedures cannot be followed. Proposed alternative courses of action must 
still comply with remaining relevant statutory and corporate requirements as 
set out in 2.1 above. 

Examples of circumstances which might amount to an exceptional reason for 
not following the usual procedures are: 

a) the nature of the market has been investigated and is such that a 
departure from the CSO requirements is justified 

b) the contract is one required because of circumstances of extreme urgency 
which could not reasonably have been foreseen 

c) the circumstances of the proposed contract are covered by legislative 
exemptions (whether under EU or domestic law). 

The above is not an exclusive list. 

4.9 Emergencies 

An emergency is a situation where action is needed to prevent a risk of injury 
or loss of life, or to the security or structural/operating viability of a property or 
other tangible or intangible asset. In the case of an emergency, action 
necessary can be approved by a chief officer without a prior written Gateway 
report. Such action shall be limited to dealing with the emergency and it shall 
be subsequently recorded in a written report to the CCRB. 

116



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

191

5. Requirements to obtain tenders or quotes depending on type of contract 
and levels of contract value 

When estimating the value of a contract, reference should be made to the 
Estimated Contract Value paragraph set out in the Definitions section.  

5.1 Contracts less than £5,000 

 For all contracts where the Estimated Contract Value is less than £5,000, 
there is no requirement to obtain competitive quotes; the requirement is to 
ensure value for money and best value and to keep a record of what action 
has been taken and why. In addition, if the contract is for works or for works-
related services, the provider must be obtained from the council’s Works 
Approved List, unless permission is obtained to do otherwise through a 
Gateway 1 report; such a report must include supplementary procurement 
advice from the strategic director of finance and corporate services or his 
delegated officers, without which the approval cannot be granted. 

5.2 Contracts from £5,000 to £75,000 

For all contracts where the Estimated Contract Value is from £5,000 to 
£75,000, there is a requirement to take all reasonable steps to obtain at least 
three written quotes, including one from a local supplier where this is possible, 
unless the LCO decides that this will not secure value for money. In such 
cases, a Gateway 1 report must be completed to explain what alternative 
action is being taken and why. In addition, if the contract is for works or 
works-related services, those invited to submit quotes must be selected from 
the council’s Works Approved List unless permission is obtained to do 
otherwise through a Gateway 1 report; such a report must include 
supplementary procurement advice from the strategic director of finance and 
corporate services or his delegated officers, without which the approval 
cannot be granted. 

5.3 Works contracts and works-related services above £75,000 but below 
EU threshold 

 For all such contracts where the Estimated Contract Value is above £75,000 
but below the relevant EU threshold, there is a requirement to take all 
reasonable steps to obtain at least five tenders. Those invited to submit 
tenders must be selected from the council’s Works Approved List unless 
permission is obtained to do otherwise through a Gateway 1 report; such a 
report must include supplementary procurement advice from the strategic 
director of finance and corporate services or his delegated officers, without 
which the approval cannot be granted. 

5.4 All other contracts not falling within 5.1 to 5.3 above 

For all contracts not covered by 5.1 to 5.3 above, there is a requirement to 
take all reasonable steps to obtain at least five tenders following a publicly 
advertised competitive tendering process, as set out in these CSOs and in 
line with the Procurement Guidelines. 

6. Tender procedure 

117



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

192

6.1 Officers must seek advice from corporate procurement before using any e-
procurement processes in order to ensure compliance with relevant legislative 
requirements. All other tender processes must comply with the following 
requirements.

6.2 Tenderers must be told that their tenders may only be considered if they 
follow the requirements below: 

a) the tender must be returned in a plain envelope or parcel which is marked 
clearly “Tender” followed by the subject of the contract 

b) the envelope or parcel must not show the identity of the tenderer in any 
way, and 

c) the envelope or parcel must be delivered to the place and by the time 
stated in the tender invitation. 

6.3 All tenders will be opened at the same time and place, after the closing date 
and time for receipt stated in the tender documents.   

6.4 A tender received by the council after the time and date specified in the 
invitation shall not be accepted or considered. 

6.5 Tenders where the Estimated Contract Value is £500,000 or more must be 
returned to the monitoring officer and shall be opened by his/her authorised 
representative.  Where the Estimated Contract Value is less than £500,000, 
tenders may be returned to the chief officer or their authorised representative 
who will arrange for tender opening in the presence of at least two officers, 
one of whom will be the witness and will not have been directly involved in 
that particular contract.  

6.6 Exceptions to the requirements set out in 6.1 to 6.4 above will only be made 
in exceptional circumstances and must be authorised by the relevant chief 
officer in writing following consultation with the strategic director of finance 
and corporate services, CCRB or DCRB as appropriate to the contract. 

7. Contract management and monitoring 

7.1 The lead contract officer must ensure that systems are in place to manage 
and monitor contracts in respect of: 

a) compliance with specification and contract 
b) performance 
c) cost 
d) user satisfaction 
e) risk management.  

7.2 Where the estimated contract value exceeds the relevant EU threshold, the 
lead contract officer should prepare a six-monthly monitoring report to the 
relevant DCRB.  

7.3 Where the contract relates to a strategic procurement or is corporate in nature 
or has an estimated contract value of £500,000 or more and affects the 
budgets of more than one department, the lead contract officer should 
prepare an annual monitoring report to the CCRB. 

118



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

193

8. Contract termination 

8.1 A contract may only be terminated early or suspended by a chief officer, and 
only after obtaining approval from the monitoring officer and strategic director 
of finance and corporate services; all such decisions will be advised in writing 
by the chief officer to the relevant member of the cabinet and cabinet member 
for finance, and resources and community safety.

9. Contractor insolvency 

9.1 Where it appears that a contractor is at risk of becoming insolvent, or the 
council is notified that insolvency proceedings have been brought, the chief 
officer must inform the monitoring officer and strategic director of finance and 
corporate services as early as possible, in order to enable appropriate advice 
to be given.

119



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

194

Glossary 

CCRB    Corporate Contract Review Board – panel of officers 
operating under terms of reference of CCRB. Its role 
includes considering reports from DCRBs and advising for
the cabinet, individual decision makers and the strategic 
director of finance and corporate services on contract 
decisions. 

Consortium agreement A consortium agreement is a single formal legal document, 
agreed and signed by all the parties to a project, and which 
imposes a set of standard conditions on those signatories. 
These conditions include, amongst other things, 
agreements as to ownership and exploitation of intellectual 
property rights, and a set of warranties and disclaimers 
allocating risk between the parties. A consortium 
agreement is needed when joining a purchasing 
consortium.

Consortium contract A contract procured, usually following a competitive 
process, by a public sector agency other than the council 
under which the council is permitted to purchase, such as 
those provided by Buying Solutions or the London 
Contracts and Supplies Group.

Contract Value The total value of a contract as awarded (which may be 
different from the Estimated Contract Value), net of VAT, 
or if there is no fixed figure, the LCO’s best estimate of the 
likely amount to be spent over the period of the contract, 
taking into account the prices accepted. 

Corporate contract A contract arranged by corporate procurement or another 
department that should be used by the whole council for all 
goods, works or services specified in it.  

Council’s central  A register of contracts, held by corporate procurement. 
contract register 

DCRB    Departmental Contract Review Board – panel of officers 
operating under terms of reference of DCRB. Its role 
includes agreeing reviewing reports for consideration by 
the CCRB and advising the chief officer on contract 
decisions.  

Departmental contract A register of contracts, maintained by each department. 
register

Estimated Contract Value The total value of a proposed contract including options to 
extend it (as estimated by the LCO on the basis of all 
relevant factors) net of VAT calculated for the proposed 
contract period, or, if for an undetermined period, in 
accordance with the valuation rules contained in European 
Regulations, whether or not the Regulations apply to the 
particular contract. This may be different from the lifetime 
cost of the contract, which may need to be considered for 

120



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

195

other purposes (see Procurement Guidelines). Note that a 
contract may not be artificially packaged into two or more 
separate contracts, nor a valuation method selected, with 
the intention of avoiding the application of these CSOs. 
Chief officers are responsible for considering aggregation 
within their department to ensure delivery of best value 
within CSO requirements.  The Estimated Contract Value 
should be based on the best available estimates, or on 
actual costs if known.  

EU Regulations The Public Contracts Regulations 2006 or any 
amendment to or successor to those Regulations. 

EU threshold The current contract value at which the requirements of the 
EU Regulations apply. 

Framework agreements/ A framework agreement is similar to a framework contract 
arrangements   but without rates. The agreement is to provide an 

unspecified volume of work at an unspecified rate. These 
agreements are often used when a number of providers 
are secured to appear on a category list. Setting up 
framework arrangements is subject to EU regulations and 
they generally can exist for no more than four years.

 Under EU regulations a framework arrangement should 
involve at least three providers. These providers will have 
been through a procurement process to appear on the 
framework list. During this process the providers must 
demonstrate that they can deliver the scope of works 
covered by the framework. There should be clear rules 
supporting the use of the framework as these will need to 
be followed to ensure the framework remains EU 
compliant. Some frameworks require a further competition 
process to be undertaken involving all providers appearing 
in the list. The council may set up its own corporate 
framework  arrangements for a particular service or decide 
to use a framework set up by a third party, e.g. 
Government Procurement Services (GPS).

Framework contract A framework contract is an agreement between the council 
and one or more contractors, the purpose of which is to 
establish the terms governing jobs to be awarded during 
the period of the framework agreement, in particular with 
regard to price. Usually, the council is under no obligation 
to offer work but the provider is obliged to perform work if 
the council asks between two parties which commits one to 
buying from another over a period of time. The rates to be 
charged through the contract are set whilst the volumes of 
work to be delivered through the contract are not defined 
or guaranteed. Individual orders are issued priced against 
the agreed rates. This is sometimes referred to a demand 
led contract and is often based on a schedule of rates.

121



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

196

Gateway report A written report in substantially the same terms as those 
contained in the relevant template which can be found on 
the Source at 
http://thesource/SectionLandingPage.asp?id=22344&cat=1
234.

Key Decision Definitions of Key Decisions are contained in the Protocol 
on Key Decisions in appendix 1 of the Access to 
information procedure rules section of the constitution. 
Examples of Key Decisions for procurement purposes are: 
 those which are subject to a general financial threshold 

(£500,000 or more – note that in relation to awarding 
contracts, this is a per annum value not a contract term 
value)

 those which have a significant impact on communities 
 Gateway 1 approvals in respect of a Strategic 

Procurement. 

Lead contract officer (LCO) The LCO for each contract is the officer who has a duty to 
ensure that the obligations set out in these CSOs are 
complied with. 

Lowest Bid The lowest price offered by tender or quotation which 
meets the specification and other requirements of the 
contract.

Procurement Guidelines A document issued and maintained by corporate 
procurement containing best practice information on 
procurement matters.

Purchasing consortium A purchasing consortium is a group of organisations that 
have come together with the primary objective to buy 
collectively, thereby increasing their buying power and 
minimising procurement activity. To join a purchasing 
consortium it is necessary to sign a consortium agreement. 
An example of a purchasing consortium is the London 
Contracts Supply Group (LCSG).

Spot contract A one-off contract under which services are provided to 
meet an individual service user’s needs for personal, social 
or educational provision. 

“Standstill” Period The period required by EU regulations between notification 
of an award decision and when the contract comes into 
existence, in order to allow unsuccessful parties time to 
challenge the award decision. Most contracts are covered 
by this requirement; a few are not (Part B services – such 
as some personal services in relation to education, social 
care and health). Seek advice on whether your contract is 
about a Part B service and if you are unclear about the 
application of the Standstill Period. 

Strategic Procurement Procurement where one or more of the following apply: 

122



Contract standing orders  Published: July 2012  

197

1) Estimated Contract Value of £4 million or more for 
non-works and of £15 million or more for works 

2) a significant change to previous service 
3) possible externalisation or change in manner of 

delivery
4) significant transfer of assets or staff 
5) political sensitivity 
6) contract carrying a high level of risk.

Tender value   The value of a contract at the time of the award of the 
contract or, if there is no fixed value, the LCO’s best 
estimate of the likely spend on the contract during the 
contract period. 

Urgent Payment A payment where delay would lead to significant 
demonstrable financial loss to the council (and where no 
breach of EU or domestic requirements would be 
occasioned). 

Variation A decision to extend the length or cost or amend the scope 
of a contract where the contract is capable of this. This 
might be a change in duration, i.e. an increase in the 
duration of the contract; or a change in volume, i.e. an 
increase in the volume usage of the contract.

Works Approved List  A list of providers of works and works-related consultancy 
services which have all been appraised to meet minimum 
criteria in respect of their financial standing, level of 
insurance held, health and safety policies and procedures, 
and equal opportunities policies and procedures, 
maintained by corporate procurement.  For further 
information about the use of Approved Lists, see the 
Procurement Guidelines or seek advice from corporate 
procurement.

123



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

196

FINANCIAL STANDING ORDERS 20123/134

Introduction

1. Financial administration 

a) Chief finance officer  
b) Strategic directors 
c) Financial advice to the cabinet 
d) Financial regulations 
e) Partnerships 
f) Treasury management 
g) Pensions 
h) Insurance 
i) Cap and trading schemes 
j) Companies in which the council has an interest 
k) Guarantees 
l) Internal audit 
m) Risk management 
n) Fraud 

2. Financial planning 

a) Planning process 

3. Preparation of the revenue budget 

a) cChief finance officer’s responsibilities 
b) Strategic directors’ responsibilities 
c) Budget working papers and revenue estimates 
d) Budget timetable and cash limits 

4. Setting the annual budget and the council tax 

a) Precepting authorities, and the tax base, and net rate yield
b) Collection fund Support for council tax
c) Decision by members 
d) Support for council tax Collection fund

5. Monitoring and control of the revenue budget 

a) Budget spending 
b) Monitoring 
c) Budget adjustments/virements within a directorate 
d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates 
e) Treatment of overspends and underspends 
f) Accuracy of accounts 

6. Annual statement of accounts 

a) cChief finance officer  
b) Strategic directors  

APPENDIX 2124



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

197

7. Preparation of the capital programme 

a) Capital strategy and programme 
b) Financing of schemes 
c) Capital schemes 

8. Monitoring and control of the capital programme 

a) Control 
b) Reporting requirements 
c) Variations to the capital programme 
d) Major overspends 
e) Accuracy of accounts 

9. Leases 

a) Capital accounting considerations 
b) Consent 

10. Schools financial framework 

a) Application of standing orders 
b) Financial regulations 
c) Scheme for financing schools 

11. Treasury management 

a) Prudential framework 
b) Borrowing and treasury management strategy and decisions  
c) Departure from ODPM guidance or the CIPFA code 

Glossary 

125



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

198

Introduction

The council allocates resources for both capital and revenue purposes.  The council 
has systems to monitor expenditure and income on an accruals basis and to monitor 
accounting commitments on both revenue and capital budgets.  All references to 
income and expenditure in the financial standing orders and financial regulations 
include accrued income and expenditure in addition to cash receipts and payments.  
A short glossary of other terms is appended to the financial standing orders for ease 
of reference. 

References in these standing orders to “the cabinet” should be taken to include 
decisions taken by the whole cabinet, decisions by any committee of the cabinet and 
decisions by individual members of the cabinet. Delegations to the cabinet are set 
out elsewhere in the constitution. 

As set out in article 1, the chief finance officer may make minor changes (see 
Glossary) to the financial standing orders, after consultation with the monitoring 
officer.

1. Financial administration 

a) Chief finance officer 

i) The strategic director of finance and corporate services is the officer 
appointed by the council in accordance with section 151 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, section 114 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1988, the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011, and 
section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003.  The postholder must 
ensure that the council’s financial affairs are administered in a proper 
manner, in compliance with all relevant professional codes of practice, 
and all statutory obligations. 

ii) All matters connected with the financial administration of the council’s 
affairs are the delegated responsibility of the strategic director of 
finance and corporate services, except any matters which are 
delegated to other officers or reserved to committees of council 
members, the cabinet, or to the council itself.  The strategic director of 
finance and corporate services may authorise other officers to carry 
out matters delegated to him/her except the section 151 
responsibilities.

b) Strategic directors 

Strategic directors are responsible for ensuring that there is proper financial 
management within their department. Specific responsibilities are set out in 
the scheme of delegation for financial authority and accountability.  Strategic 
directors must maintain adequate systems of internal control over financial 
operations and processes and secure the accuracy and integrity of financial 
information and systems operating within their departments.  Strategic 
directors must ensure compliance with procedural instructions on financial 
administration issued by the chief finance officer. Strategic directors must set 
and maintain a departmental scheme of management setting out the levels of 
authorisation and standards for the department. 

126



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

199

c) Financial advice to the cabinet 

i) Corporate and strategic matters.  The chief finance officer will provide 
financial advice to the council, its committees, sub-committees, and 
similar bodies of members including the cabinet on all matters of a 
corporate or strategic financial nature or of an interdepartmental 
nature.

ii) Departmental matters.  Strategic directors are responsible for financial 
advice to committees, sub-committees and similar service bodies of 
members including the cabinet on all financial matters of a 
departmental nature. 

d) Financial regulations 

The chief finance officer will issue financial regulations applicable to all or 
specified categories of council staff.  Strategic directors will ensure that all 
relevant staff in their departments fully comply with them.  Individual council 
officers must familiarise themselves with financial regulations, or similar, 
relevant to their work, and fully comply with them. 

e) Partnerships 

Financial governance arrangements in respect of partnerships must meet the 
requirements of the chief finance officer and his written approval must be 
obtained before any partnership arrangements are entered into. 

f) Treasury management 

All treasury management decisions are the responsibility of the chief finance 
officer, as set out in paragraph 11 below. 

g) Pensions 

All pension scheme decisions are the responsibility of the chief finance 
officer, acting on the advice of the pensions advisory panel, as set out in part 
3 of the constitution. 

h) Insurance 

All insurance decisions are the responsibility of the chief finance officer.  

i) Cap and trading schemes 

The chief finance officer must be consulted on all decisions relating to the 
landfill allowance trading scheme (LATS) and any similar cap and trading 
schemes.

j) Companies in which the council has an interest 

The chief finance officer and monitoring officer must be consulted on all 
proposals relating to the establishment of companies in which the council is to 
have an interest. 

j) Guarantees 

127



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

200

 Any proposal for giving a financial guarantee on behalf of a party external to 
the council must have prior written approval of the chief finance officer. 

k) Internal audit 

i) The chief finance officer is responsible for: 

 safeguarding the independence of internal audit 
 determining the overall audit arrangements and the annual internal 

audit plan 
 the content and distribution of internal audit reports 
 the form and frequency of reports which may be made to the audit 

and governance committee arising from internal audit activity. 

ii) It is the responsibility of all council officers to implement agreed 
recommendations and to provide, upon the request of the chief 
finance officer or a person nominated by him or her for this purpose, 
any information, explanation or document under the control of the 
officer concerned which is required for the purposes of or in 
connection with an internal audit inquiry, project, or investigation. 

iii) The chief finance officer will report to the audit and governance 
committee any serious breach of financial standing orders or of the 
financial regulations or procedural instructions issued in accordance 
with them. 

l) Risk management 

The chief finance officer will be responsible for ensuring awareness of and 
compliance across the council with risk management responsibilities and 
protocols as they impact upon day-to-day operations and major project 
activities and for reporting on risk management as appropriate. 

m) Fraud 

The chief finance officer is responsible for management of the investigation 
process for all suspected cases of fraud, corruption, financial loss or 
malpractice. 

2. Financial planning 

a) Planning process 

The council’s financial planning processes and planning horizons, for the 
revenue budgets (including the housing revenue account), the capital 
programme and the medium term resources strategy, will be determined by 
the chief finance officer, subject to approval by the cabinet.  This will have 
regard to the council plan.  

3. Preparation of the revenue budget 

a) Chief finance officer’s responsibilities 

128



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

201

The chief finance officer is responsible for the overall coordination of the 
budget process. Under section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003, he/she 
also has specific responsibilities for reporting on:  

 the robustness of the estimates 
 the adequacy of the proposed financial reserves. 

The chief finance officer also has specific responsibility for confirming the 
deployment of the dedicated schools grant in support of the schools budget, 
as required by section 16 of the Education Act 2002 and the Accounts and 
Audit (England) Regulations 2011. 

b) Strategic director’s responsibilities 

i) Preparing the revenue budget for the services in his/her departments 
in consultation with the relevant member of the cabinet, which will 
have regard to the community strategy, corporate plan, corporate 
priorities and business plans.   

ii) Ensuring that corporate deadlines are met. 

iii) Ensuring that resources are allocated through a detailed budget on 
SAP by the deadline set by the chief finance officer. 

iv) Ensuring that reports are submitted to the relevant cabinet member(s), 
seeking approval of fees and charges in relation to their areas of 
responsibility. 

c) Budget working papers and revenue estimates 

i) All working papers and revenue estimates must be prepared in 
accordance with issued procedural instructions.  The instructions will 
include information in respect of inflation, capital financing costs and 
other variables outside the control of service departments. 

ii) The revenue estimates must include forecast expenditure and income 
for the year. 

d) Budget timetable and cash limits 

As part of the council’s arrangements for medium term financial planning and 
budget preparation, the cabinet will give guidance on the budget timetable to 
be adopted and the resource constraints (cash limits) within which business 
plans and budget estimates must be prepared.  The cabinet may also, as part 
of a strategy to integrate strategic planning with four-year budgeting, issue 
indicative cash limits for up to four years ahead.   

4. Setting the annual budget and the council tax 

a) Precepting authorities, and the tax base, and net rate yield

i) The council must before 31 January each year approve the council tax 
base for the following financial year.   

ii) Following the council decision, the chief finance officer will inform 
precepting and levying bodies of the approved council tax base. 

129



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

202

iii) The council must before 31 January each year approve the estimated 
net rate yield for national non domestic rates for the following financial 
year.

iv) Following the council decision, the chief finance officer will inform the 
government and the Greater London Authority (GLA) of the approved 
estimated net rate yield, so that the appropriate payments can be 
made to the government and GLA.

b) Collection fund Support for council tax

The chief finance officer will determine the probable collection fund surplus or 
deficit for the year, notify precepting bodies, and report to the cabinet.
The council must before 31 January each year approve any changes to its 
scheme for council tax support for the following financial year.

c) Decision by members 

i) The cabinet will make recommendations to the council regarding the 
annual budget for the following financial year and the council tax 
required to finance it. 

ii) At a meeting on or before 1 March each year, the council will set the 
overall council tax (including the impact of the Greater London 
Authority (GLA) precept) for the following financial year. 

All members must ensure that any outstanding debts relating to council tax or 
national non-domestic rates payable by them to the council have been settled 
at least one clear working day before the council assembly meeting at which 
the overall council tax is set. 

d) Support for council tax Collection fund

The council must before 31 January each year approve any changes to its 
scheme for council tax support for the following financial year. 
The chief finance officer will determine the probable collection fund surplus or 
deficit for the year, notify precepting bodies, and report to the cabinet.

5. Monitoring and control of the revenue budget 

a) Budget spending 

Following approval by the council of the annual revenue estimates, strategic 
directors may spend within the agreed budget for their departments.  They 
must ensure that the net expenditure for their departments does not exceed 
the approved budget.  They must also ensure that they do not incur 
expenditure on budgets outside their departmental budget without first getting 
approval from the relevant strategic director. 

b) Monitoring 

i) Strategic directors must: 

 ensure that there are adequate systems to monitor and audit the 
resources allocated to services. 

130



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

203

 monitor at least monthly the accurately projected income and 
expenditure outturn for the financial year under each budget 
heading, having regard to any contingent or other liabilities for 
which financial provision may be required. 

 present reports containing up to date summary projections to the 
relevant cabinet member each month. 

ii) The chief finance officer must report on the overall financial position of 
the council to the cabinet on a quarterly basis.  This report will include 
any concerns he/she may have about the outturns projected by 
strategic directors or about financial controls within departments.  

c) Budget adjustments/virements within a directorate 

Strategic directors may vire budget provision between services as set out in 
the budget book (cost centre groups) within their department, subject to the 
following:

i) The authority for all virements must comply with each department’s 
scheme of management. 

ii) Provisions included within departmental budgets on the instructions of 
the chief finance officer as per the schedule of corporately controlled 
budgets maintained by the chief finance officer, (e.g. insurance, 
capital charges, leasing costs, service level agreements, FRS 17, 
planned maintenance etc) may not be vired for other purposes without 
the written consent of the chief finance officer. Budget 
adjustments/virements may not alter the aggregate sum of any one of 
the budgets listed in the schedule of corporately controlled budgets 
(e.g. insurance, national insurance, pensions and capital charges), 
unless previously agreed in writing by the chief finance officer, who is 
responsible for maintaining the schedule.

iii) If the budget adjustment/virement is in excess of £250,000, it cannot 
be actioned until the strategic director has notified must notify it to the 
chief finance officer who will report it to obtain the approval of the 
cabinet at the earliest opportunity.  This rule applies where there is 
movement of an approved budget from one service to another and to 
adjustments between subjective categories of income and expenditure 
such as to reflect additional grant or other income and associated 
expenditure.

d) Budget adjustments/virements between directorates 

i) Budget adjustments/virements may not alter the aggregate sum of any 
one of the budgets listed in the schedule of corporately controlled 
budgets (e.g. insurance, national insurance, pensions and capital 
charges), unless previously agreed in writing by the chief finance 
officer, who is responsible for maintaining the schedule.

ii) Technical adjustments relating to closing the accounts, including those 
to corporately controlled budgets, will be reflected in the statement of 
accounts signed by the chief finance officer. Examples of technical 
adjustments include those in relation to capital charges such as 

131



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

204

depreciation and international accounting standard (IAS) 19 –
accounting for employee benefits.

iii) Inter-departmental and reserves adjustments/virements of £250,000 
or less may be actioned with the agreement of the relevant strategic 
director(s), in line with each department’s scheme of management, 
and must be reported to the cabinet.

iv) Where responsibility for a service is transferred from one department 
to another and the annual cost transferred an inter-departmental or 
reserve adjustments/virement exceeds £250,000, the relevant 
strategic director(s) must obtain written consent from the chief finance 
officer who will obtain the approval of the cabinet. 

v) Subject to paragraph 13 of Part 3A of the Constitution “matters 
reserved to council assembly”, the cabinet may at any time during a 
financial year, having considered a report of the chief finance officer, 
vary the departmental approved budget either: 

 to require mid-year savings to compensate for a projected 
corporate overspend

 to allocate to departments sums included within corporate 
provisions or budgets, excluding those which form part of the 
schedule of corporately controlled budgets maintained by the chief 
finance officer. 

e)  Treatment of overspends and underspends 

The chief finance officer may, on consideration of the overall financial position 
of the council at the end of a financial year, recommend to the cabinet 
whether overspends by departments should be set off against budgets in the 
subsequent financial year and whether underspends by departments can be 
made available for specific projects or carried forward to the subsequent 
financial year, or otherwise accounted for, in line with the medium term 
resources strategy. 

f) Accuracy of accounts 

It is the responsibility of strategic directors, having regard to any guidance 
which may be issued by the chief finance officer, to ensure that all items are 
correctly accounted for, and that all expenditure and income is charged to a 
revenue account in the first instance, in accordance with proper accounting 
practices.  The only exceptions under the provisos of the Local Government 
Act 2003 are: 

 expenditure under finance leases 
 expenditure permitted to be charged to capital 
 the repayment of sums borrowed 
 expenditure on approved instruments (treasury loans) 
 payments from the superannuation funds 
 the use of trust funds 
 transactions within the collection fund. 

132



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

205

6. Annual statement of accounts 

a) Chief finance officer 

The chief finance officer is responsible for the preparation and certification of 
the annual statement of accounts in accordance with current legislation and in 
particular with the Accounts and Audit (England) Regulations 2011. The chief 
finance officer will make arrangements for the coordination of the council’s 
closing of accounts programme to ensure compliance with national 
guidelines.

b) Strategic directors 

Strategic directors are responsible for ensuring: 

i) the accuracy of their departmental accounts and compliance with all 
current legislation and applicable accounting codes of practice 

ii) the prompt production of adequate working papers to justify all items 
attributable to them in the statement of accounts 

iii) the achievement of their departmental closing of accounts programme 
in line with the chief finance officer’s timetable for the closure of 
accounts and production of the annual statement of accounts 

iv) the completion of all grant claims accurately, within deadlines and with 
adequate supporting working papers, ensuring that income due to the 
council is maximised 

v) that their staff cooperate fully with the council’s external auditors 
during their audit of the accounts and grant claims. 

7. Preparation of the capital programme 

a) Capital strategy and programme 

Council assembly will, on consideration of reports at least every four years 
and as necessary in the event of a significant change in circumstances from 
the chief finance officer, agree the capital strategy and programme. The 
reports from the chief finance officer will consider the compliance of proposed 
schemes in the programme with the medium term resources strategy, the 
capital resources available to the council, the revenue implications of the 
proposed capital expenditure, and any other relevant information. 

b) Financing of schemes 

Within the overall approved capital programme, the chief finance officer will 
decide the method by which any particular scheme will be financed in 
consultation with the cabinet member for finance, and resources and
community safety.

c) Capital schemes 

Approval to spend on individual capital schemes will only be given once 
issued procedural instructions have been complied with and cash flow 

133



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

206

implications have been determined and assessed to the satisfaction of the 
chief finance officer. 

8. Monitoring and control of the capital programme

a) Control 

Strategic directors must ensure that their total departmental capital spending 
in any financial year does not exceed the relevant provision within the capital 
programme, except where approved by the cabinet. 

b) Reporting requirements 

i) The chief finance officer will report on the actual capital expenditure 
incurred in the first six months by the council as a whole to the cabinet 
by December. This report will include details of variations to the capital 
programme (see (c) below), the projected outturn for the financial year 
and the total capital resources available to the council with which to 
finance such expenditure. 

ii) The chief finance officer will report to the cabinet on the outturn 
position for capital expenditure for each financial year. 

c) Variations to the capital programme 

i) Virements 
Virements between capital projects or programme headings as set out in the 
overall programme approved by council assembly must be notified by the 
relevant strategic director to the chief finance officer and cannot be actioned 
until they have been approved as follows: 

 up to £100,000 – chief finance officer 
 over £100,000 and up to £1,000,000 – the cabinet member for 

finance, resources and community safety, after consultation with the 
relevant cabinet member(s) 

 over £1,000,000 and up to £10,000,000 – the cabinet 
 over £10,000,000 – council assembly.  

ii) Changes to profiles of expenditure and resources 
Changes to profiles for capital projects or programme headings as set out in 
the overall programme approved by council assembly must be notified by the 
strategic director to the chief finance officer and cannot be actioned until they 
have been approved as follows: 

 up to £250,000 – strategic director 
 over £250,000 – cabinet member for finance, resources and 

community safety, after consultation with the relevant cabinet 
member.

d) Major overspends and underspends 

Strategic directors must report to the chief finance officer who will report to 
the cabinet on any schemes in progress, which are forecast to overspend or 
underspend by 10% or more compared to the approved budget unless the 
overspending or underspending amounts to less than £250,000.  The report 
must give the reasons for the overspending or underspending. 

134



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

207

e) Accuracy of accounts 

It is the responsibility of strategic directors, having regard to any guidance 
which may be issued by the chief finance officer, to ensure that all items are 
correctly coded and only expenditure classified as capital expenditure in 
accordance with proper accounting practices or as defined as such under the 
Local Government Act 2003 (and subsequent regulations) is charged to 
capital.

9. Leases 

a) Capital accounting considerations 

The taking or granting of a lease on any asset may form part of the council’s 
capital expenditure or receipts, and must, therefore, be provided for. 

b) Consent 

Strategic directors are required to consult with the chief finance officer as 
early as possible in order to obtain advice on the correct assessment of a 
lease (as ‘finance’ or ‘operating’) and to obtain written permission from him 
before taking or granting a lease on any asset.   The exceptions to this are: 

i) the granting of short term leases on property within the commercial 
property portfolio managed by the head of property services director of 
regeneration

ii) the granting of leases on housing revenue account dwellings under 
the right to buy provisions of the Housing Act 1985. 

10. Schools financial framework 

a) Application of standing orders 

Delegated budgets of schools, in accordance with the Schools Standards and 
Framework Act 1998, remain part of the authority.  The statutory 
responsibilities of the chief finance officer apply to schools in the same way 
as any other part of the council. 

b) Financial regulations 

Financial regulations applying to schools which differ from those issued to 
strategic directors and departments will be issued by the strategic director of 
children’s and adults services after agreeing them with the chief finance 
officer.

c) Scheme for financing schools 

The chief finance officer and strategic director of children’s and adults
services will consult on and issue a scheme for financing schools annually. 

11. Treasury management 

a) Prudential framework 

135



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

208

i) Prudential indicators 
The chief finance officer shall set out prudential indicators for capital finance 
and treasury management under the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2003 for consideration and decision by council assembly alongside 
consideration of the budget and council tax each year.  

ii) Reporting 
The chief finance officer shall monitor and report at least twice a year to 
council assembly on performance against the indicators. 

b) Borrowing and treasury management strategy and decisions  

i) Strategy 
The chief finance officer shall set out the borrowing and treasury 
management strategy (including prudential borrowing arrangements) for 
consideration and decision by the council assembly each year, in accordance 
with ODPM guidance on local government investments and the CIPFA code 
of practice on treasury management in the public sector. 

ii) Decisions 
All cabinet and operational decisions on borrowing, credit finance and 
investments are delegated to the chief finance officer. 

iii) Reporting 
The chief finance officer shall monitor and report on operational activity in 
relation to the strategy on a quarterly basis to the cabinet and at mid year and 
year end to council assembly.   

c) Departure from ODPM guidance or the CIPFA code  

If the chief finance officer should wish to depart materially from the main 
principles of the guidance or code, the reasons should be reported to the 
council assembly. 

136



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

209

Glossary 

Budget adjustments/virements A budget adjustment or virement is a movement 
of an approved budget from one budget 
heading or service to another. It will be self-
balancing and will be in response to either a 
change in the level of service (increased or 
decreased) or additional net costs or benefits 
within a service. It includes changes to 
expenditure and income budgets to take 
account of new grants or other income and 
associated expenditure including movements 
between subjective categories of income and 
expenditure and also corrections to budgets 
which were set on the basis of incomplete 
information. It may recognise movements to and 
from reserves and balances, which may only be 
actioned by the chief finance officer. 

Capital programme The capital programme is a medium term 
statement of the council’s proposals for capital 
expenditure, including leasing, having regard to 
the likely level of resources. 

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA) is the body with 
responsibility for issuing guidance on how 
accounting standards are to apply to local 
authorities.

Financial regulations Financial regulations are such procedures that 
the chief finance officer shall issue from time to 
time as part of the financial standing orders.  
They are available on the Source. 

Minor changes  Minor changes are defined as: 
 typographical/presentational/explanatory 

changes
 changes in statutory framework, i.e. 

references to new or updated legislation 
 changes in titles, names or terminology 
 changes consequential to other 

constitutional changes already made. 

ODPM The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister 
(ODPM) is a former government department, 
which became part of the Communities and 
Local Government (CLG) department in May 
2006.

Partnership  A partnership is an agreement between the 
council and one or more parties to work 
together to enable the service provider to give 

137



Financial standing orders  Published: July 2012  

210

the client the best possible service. The council 
may not always be the lead provider and the 
agreement may take a number of forms: it may 
be contractual, but involve a more integrated, 
consultative and interactive working relationship 
or there may be no contract, no formal 
specification and no competitive process. As a 
minimum, there should be a service level 
agreement. Partnerships include joint 
arrangements, joint committees, joint venture 
companies and any other special purpose 
vehicles.

Profiles of expenditure/resources  Profiles of expenditure and resources are 
estimated patterns of expenditure and income 
through the year. For capital projects, these will 
often span more than one financial year. The 
construction of profiles enables the accurate 
monitoring of actuals and commitments each 
month which is essential to ensure that 
resources are used effectively.  

Prudential indicators  Prudential indicators are indicators set by each 
local authority under CIPFA’s prudential code 
for capital finance to help demonstrate that 
capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable and that treasury management 
(see below) decisions are taken in accordance 
with good practice. Examples of indicators are 
ratios of financing costs to net revenue streams; 
estimates of the incremental impact of capital 
investment decisions on council tax and levels 
of external debt. 

Treasury management  Treasury management is the management of 
the council's long term borrowing and short term 
cash surpluses and deficits in line with its debt 
and investment strategies. 

138



 
APPENDIX 3 

 
 
PART 3G: LICENSING COMMITTEE AND SUB-COMMITTEES, THE HEAD OF 
SERVICE AND OFFICER PANEL EXERCISING LICENSING FUNCTIONS 
 
 
Role and functions 
 
1. To approve the council’s policies in respect of all licensing and registration 

matters except the licensing and gambling statements of policy. 
 
2. To consider the future process by which the decisions with respect to licensing 

applications are to be taken. 
 
3. To establish policies and procedures for considering and determining additional 

licensing functions conferred on the authority by statute. 
 
4. To consider and determine the following applications:  
 

• the grant, renewal, variation or transfer of any general safety certificate in 
respect of a sports stadium or regulated stands 

• street trading and markets 
• film classification 
• any other licensing responsibilities of the authority created by statute and 

delegated to the committee. 
 

5. Where appropriate to hear and consider the case for the applicant either by way 
of written or oral representation and consider objections and representations to 
the application from authorised persons and interested parties or their 
designated representatives. 

 
6. To consider and determine the revocation of licences and registrations reserved 

to the licensing committee. 
 
7. To consider the designation of new sites for street trading and markets. 
 
8. To establish sub-committees under the relevant statutory provisions 

empowered to discharge any and all of the authority’s licensing functions. 
 
Matters reserved for decision by the licensing committee 
 
1. Approve the council’s policies in respect of all licensing and registration 

matters, except the statement of licensing policy and the statement of gambling 
policy.1 

 
2. To establish policies and procedures for considering and determining additional 

licensing functions conferred on the authority by statute. 

                                                 
1 The approval of the licensing and gambling statements of policy is a matter reserved to 
council assembly. 

139



Matters reserved for decision by the licensing committee and its sub-
committees 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
3. Any application for a personal licence which is the subject of a police objection. 
 
4. Any application for a personal licence by a person with unspent criminal 

convictions. 
 
5. Any application for a premises licence or a club premises certificate which is the 

subject of a relevant representation. 
 
6. Any application for a provisional statement which is the subject of a relevant 

representation. 
 
7. Any application to vary a premises licence or club premises certificate which is 

the subject of a relevant representation, except a minor variation. 
 
8. Any application to vary a premises licence or club premises certificate which is 

the subject of a relevant representation. 
 
9. Any application to vary a designated premises supervisor which is the subject 

of a police objection. 
 
10. Any application for a transfer of a premises licence which is the subject of a 

police objection. 
 
11. Any applications for interim authorities which are the subject of a police 

objection. 
 
12. Any application to review a premises licence or club premises certificate. 
 
13. Any decision to object when the local authority is a consultee and not the 

relevant authority considering the application. 
 
14. Any determination of a police objection to a temporary event notice. 
 
Gambling Act 2005 
 
15. Any application for a premises licence where representations have been 

received and not withdrawn. 
 
16. Any application for a variation to a licence where representations have been 

received and not withdrawn. 
 
17. Any application for a transfer of a licence where representations have been 

received from the Gambling Commission. 
 
18. Any application for a provisional statement where representations have been 

received and not withdrawn. 
 
19. Any application to review a premises licence. 
 

140



20. Any application for a club gaming/club machine permits where representations 
have been received and not withdrawn. 

 
21. Cancellations of club gaming/club machine permits. 
 
22. Decision to give a counter notice to a temporary use notice. 
 
Other reserved decisions 
 
23. Any application for the grant, renewal, variation or transfer of any sex 

establishment licence. 
 
24. New designations for sites for street trading and markets. 
 
25. Revocation of street trading licences and markets. 
 
26. To determine the revocation of any licence following successful prosecution of 

the holder for breach of licence terms, conditions and restriction. 
 
27. Any application for consent to provide hypnotism or like entertainment. 
 
28. Any application for the grant, renewal, variation or transfer of any general safety 

certificate in respect of a sports stadium or regulated stands. 
 
29. Any application for the grant, renewal or variation of any scrap metal licence 

which involves the applicant making representations. 
 
30. Revocation of any scrap metal licence. 
 
Matters delegated to the head of service and considered by the licensing 
officer panel 
 
The panel to make recommendations to the head of service on the following matters: 
 
1. All films submitted for local classification under the Cinemas Act 1985. 
 
2. Any opposed application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a special 

treatments licence. 
 
Matters delegated to the head of service 
 
1. Any minor variation to a premises licence or club premises certificate where 

such variations will not impact adversely on the licensing objectives, falling into 
the following categories: 

 
• Minor change to the structure or layout of a premises 
• Small adjustments to licensing hours 
• The removal of out of date, irrelevant or unenforceable conditions or 

addition of volunteered conditions 
• The addition of certain licensable activities such as the addition of live 

music unless there is likely to be an adverse impact on the licensing 
objectives. 

141



 
Notes 
 
a) All matters not reserved as above are delegated to the appropriate chief officer, 

head of service or business unit manager. All matters reserved to the licensing 
officer panel can always be decided by the licensing committee or its sub-
committees. 

 
b) Each chief officer and/or head of service in making decisions under the above 

scheme is required to do so within the internal scheme of management for their 
own department.  This will include appropriate monitoring arrangements, and 
dissemination of information both internally and externally to the council. 

 
c) Minor variations now fall under delegated authority following an amendment to the 

guidance to section 41 of the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended) to be determined 
at officer level (as set out in the relevant departmental scheme of management).  

142



APPENDIX 4 
 
PART 3K: AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 
Role and functions 
 
Introduction 
 
The purpose of the audit and governance committee is to provide: 
 
1. Independent assurance of the adequacy of the council’s governance 

arrangements, including the risk management framework and the associated 
control environment. 
 

2. Independent scrutiny of the authority’s financial and non-financial performance to 
the extent that it affects the authority’s exposure to risk and weakens the control 
environment. 

 
3. Oversight of the financial reporting process. 
 
4. Scrutiny of the treasury management strategy and policies. 
 
Audit activity 
 
5. To consider the internal audit annual report and opinion, and a summary of internal 
audit activity (actual and proposed) and the level of assurance it can give over the 
council’s corporate governance arrangements. 

5. To approve the internal audit charter 

6. To approve the risk based internal audit plan, including resource requirements.  

7. To approve any significant proposed advisory services, additional to those 
included in the audit plan. 

8. To receive information on the appointment, departure, resignation or change in 
chief audit executive. 

9. To receive in-year summaries of internal audit and anti-fraud activity and the 
internal audit annual report and opinion and to consider the level of assurance it can 
give over the council’s corporate governance arrangements.   

6. 10. To consider receive reports dealing with the management and performance of 
internal audit services, including the performance of the chief audit executive. 

7 11. To consider receive reports from internal audit on agreed recommendations not 
implemented within a reasonable timescale. 

8 12. To consider the external auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the report 
to those charged with governance. 

9 13. To consider specific reports as agreed with the external auditor. 

10 14. To comment on the scope and depth of external audit work and to ensure it 
gives value for money. 

12 15. To commission work from internal and external audit. 

11 16.  To liaise with the Audit Commission over the appointment of the Counci’s 
external auditor.  To have oversight of the appointment of the external auditor. 

 
Regulatory framework 
 

143



13 17. To review any issue referred to it by the chief executive or a strategic director, 
or any council body. 
 
14 18. To monitor the effective development and operation of risk management in the 
council. 
 
15 19. To monitor the effective development and operation of corporate governance 
in the council and to agree actions necessary to ensure compliance with best 
practice. 
 
16 20. To monitor council policies on ‘whistle-blowing’, the ‘corporate anti-fraud 
strategy’ and the council’s complaints processes. 
 
17 21. To oversee the production of and agree the council’s annual governance 
statement, incorporating the statement on internal control. 
 
18 22. To review the council’s compliance with its own and other published standards 
and controls. 
 
19 23. To receive reports on retrospective contract related decisions as set out in 
contract standing orders. 

 
20. 24. To receive reports from the monitoring officer on any serious breach of the 
contract standing orders or procurement guidelines. 
 
Accounts 
 
21. 25.To review and approve the annual statement of accounts and specifically to 
consider compliance with appropriate accounting policies and whether there are any 
concerns arising from the financial statements or from the audit that need to be 
brought to the attention of the council. 
 
22. 26. To consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on 
issues arising from the audit of the accounts. 
 
Treasury management 
 
23. 27. To review and scrutinise the treasury management strategy and policies. 
 
Annual report 
 
24. 28. To report annually to council assembly on its work and performance during 
the year. 
 
Matters reserved for decision 
 
The matters reserved for decision to the committee are as set out in the roles and 
functions. 

144



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

240

MEMBER ALLOWANCES SCHEME

Introduction

1. The Local Government & Housing Act 1989 and the Local Authorities 
(Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require authorities to make 
a scheme for payment of allowances to councillors. The regulations do not limit 
the amount that can be paid. 

2. Before making, amending or reworking its allowance scheme, the council is 
required to have regard to the recommendations of an independent 
remuneration panel. The council is not, however, bound to adopt all or any of 
the panel’s recommendations provided it has given them due consideration and 
is satisfied that it has justifiable reasons for not doing so.  For this authority the 
relevant independent panel is the London Councils Panel. 

3. In May 2011 the council agreed a new member allowances scheme having 
considered the recommendations of the constitutional steering panel and 
having taken into account the London Councils Independent Remuneration 
Panel’s report. 

Basic allowance 

4. Each member of the council is entitled to receive the annual basic allowance of 
£10,599. This is paid on a monthly basis rather than as a lump sum. 

Special responsibility allowance 

5. The council has decided to pay special responsibility allowances (SRAs) to 
those members whom it considers to have special responsibilities for the 
discharge of the council’s functions. This allowance is in addition to the basic 
allowance. No member may receive more than one SRA. 

The list of SRAs payable is set out below:

Band 1a SRA
Chair audit & governance committee  £2,771 
Deputy leader majority opposition  £2,771 
Leader minority opposition  £2,771 
Opposition whip  £2,771 
Vice-chair overview & scrutiny committee  £2,771 
Deputy cabinet member  £2,771 

Band 1b SRA
Deputy Mayor  £8,357  
Chair community council  £8,357  
Scrutiny sub-committee chair  £8,357  
Planning sub-committee chair  £8,357 

APPENDIX 5145



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

241

Band 2a SRA
Chair planning committee  £14,451  
Chair licensing committee  £14,451  
Chief whip  £14,451  
Leader majority opposition   £14,451  

Band 2b SRA
Mayor  £22,631  
Chair overview & scrutiny committee  £22,631  

Band 3 SRA
Cabinet member  £33,604  
Deputy leader  £33,604  

Band 4 SRA
Leader  £50,065  

6. The level of allowance paid to a band 3 or band 4 member is dependent on the 
average number of hours per week the member is employed elsewhere, as set 
out below: 

 less than 11 hours elsewhere, full SRA 
 11 to 24 hours elsewhere, two thirds SRA 
 more than 24 hours elsewhere, one third SRA. 

Licensing committee 

7. Ordinary members of a licensing sub-committee will receive a payment of £117 
per meeting attended. 

Members will be selected to attend the sub-committee in accordance with a 
system of rotation agreed by members of the licensing committee which 
ensures all members have an equal opportunity to attend. 

Where a sub-committee is cancelled, ordinary members summonsed to sub-
committee meetings will be eligible for the attendance payment unless a 
cancellation notice is sent by 10.00am on the second working day prior to the 
date of the meeting, thereby giving one clear working day’s notice. 

Ordinary members attending the licensing committee will not be eligible for the 
attendance payment. 

Travel allowance 

8. Councillors (and co-optees receiving a special responsibility allowance) may 
only claim travel expenses necessarily incurred in carrying out their approved 
duties outside the borough, subject to the following exceptions: 

 Members with mobility difficulties are able to claim the cost of travel when 
on council business 

 Members are able to claim for taxis home after council meetings ending 
after 9.00pm in summer (BST) and 7.00pm in winter (GMT) 

 Non statutory co-optees (who do not receive an allowance) can claim their 
travel expenses. 

146



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

242

A full list of approved duties is set out in paragraph 26 below. 

9. Members cannot reclaim expenses they have incurred due to: 

a) congestion charges, including fines or penalties 
b) parking/clamping fines. 

10. For public transport, receipts must be produced in respect of all claims. 
Members using their own transport may submit mileage claims. The maximum 
rates per mile are set out below. 

11. The following is a summary of the conditions, and has been excerpted and 
adapted from those which apply to officers. 

Car users 
12. Casual car users allowances – general conditions: 

 Public transport must be used on all appropriate occasions, e.g. where 
more economic, timely etc 

 Members should not use their own cars when there is room in one of the 
local authority’s cars or in the car of another member making the same 
journey on the same business. As far as possible journeys over the same 
route should be arranged so as to synchronise 

 All official mileage has to be recorded 
 Members shall have included and maintain in their insurance policy a 

clause indemnifying the local authority against all third party claims 
(including those concerning passengers) arising out of the use of the 
vehicle on official business 

 Members must ensure that the car they are travelling in has current 
insurance and MOT certificates and are encouraged to ensure that their 
car has passed emission checks: 
o For cars less than three years old, annually 
o For cars three years and above, twice yearly. 

13. The national joint council reviews the rates payable to staff on an annual basis. 
The current rates are set out below. There are three bands of allowance 
according to the cubic capacity of the car: 451-999 cc; 1000-1199 cc; 1200 cc 
and above. 

Casual Users 451-999 cc 1000-1199 cc 1200 cc and above 
Per mile-first 8,500 miles 46.9 pence 52.2 pence 65.0 pence
Per mile-after 8,500 miles 13.7 pence 14.4 pence 16.4 pence 

Motorcycles and mopeds
There are five bands of allowance according to the engine size of the 
motorcycle: the rates are set out below: 

Engine Size (cc) 
Up to 150 9 pence per mile
151 – 244 14 pence per mile
245 – 500 17 pence per mile 
501 – 999 23 pence per mile 
1000+ 27 pence per mile 

147



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

243

Pedal cycles
A monthly cycle allowance is payable to councillors, independent and co-opted 
members who use their own cycles in connection with their official duties.  The 
rate is currently £20 per month.  Members must notify the proper constitutional 
officer of their intention to claim this allowance as unlike other travel allowances 
it is not paid as an expense.  Except in circumstances agreed by the proper 
constitutional officer members in receipt of the cycle allowance may not claim 
other travel allowances.  Except in circumstances agreed by the proper 
constitutional officer members who have taken advantage of the Bikes4Work 
scheme are required to use their cycle for normal council business whether 
they claim the cycle allowance or not and will not be eligible to claim other 
travel allowances.

Subsistence allowance 

14. Subsistence allowance may be claimed in respect of approved duties, except 
where food is provided, if they involve an absence from the normal place of 
residence exceeding four hours in total which includes one hour travelling time. 

15. Claims are subject to the following maximum, which are the same for members 
as they are for officers: 

Breakfast   £5.93 
Lunch    £8.18 
Evening Meal £10.10 

16. The amount to be reimbursed in respect of approved duties is the actual 
amount spent subject to the maximum figures quoted above. Receipts must be 
produced in respect of all claims. 

Child-care and dependant carers allowance scheme 

17. Members may claim this allowance as reimbursement of costs they incur in 
arranging carers to look after dependants who cannot be left by themselves by 
reason of age or other special needs. The allowance may only be claimed in 
respect of approved duties. 

18. The maximum rate claimable is £6.00 per hour (and may be increased from 
time to time by the chief executive on the advice of the strategic directors of 
health & community services and children’s services taking into account local 
conditions). The following criteria also apply: 

 payment is claimable in respect of children aged 15 or under or in respect of 
other dependants where there is medical or social work evidence that care 
is required 

 the allowance will be paid as a reimbursement of incurred expenditure 
against receipts 

 the allowance is not payable to a member of the claimant’s own household 
 the carer must be 18 or over (and not a spouse or partner/co-habitee of the 

member or a relative living at the same address) 
 any dispute as to entitlement and any allegation of abuse will be referred to 

the standards committee for adjudication. 

148



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

244

Co-opted members 

19. The following allowances are payable to co-opted members: 

a) All statutory co-optees (i.e. statutory co-optees to the education 
committee) should receive an annual allowance; for 2012/13 this is 
£1,061

b) No statutory co-optees may receive more than one allowance under (a) 
above

c) That statutory co-optees should be subject to the same travel and 
subsistence claim regime as councillors, i.e. not able to claim for intra 
borough travel and subsistence except where one of the exceptions 
applies

d) Non-statutory co-optees should be able to claim re-imbursement of 
travelling and subsistence expenses. 

20. Co-optees may, in writing to the proper constitutional officer, elect not to receive 
allowances. 

21. The allowance to education co-optees should be payable from the date of 
appointment.

22. Co-optees allowances are subject to the same index linking as members’ 
allowances generally. 

23. Co-optees do not receive the basic allowance. 

24. If a co-opted member does not serve for the whole of the 12 month period, or 
become disqualified, they will only be entitled to pro-rata payments for the 
period(s) during which they were actually a serving co-opted member. 

25. Both statutory and non-statutory co-opted members are entitled to claim 
dependant carer’s allowance as set out in paragraphs 17 and 18. 

Approved duties 

26. For a member, an approved duty for the purpose of travel, subsistence and 
childcare and dependant carers allowances means: 

a) attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or sub-
committee of the council 

b) attendance at a meeting of a body to which the member has been 
nominated by the council or of any committee or sub-committee of such a 
body, provided they are a member of the body concerned 

c) attendance at any other meeting, the holding of which is authorised by the 
council, or a committee or sub-committee of the council or a joint 
committee of the council, or a sub committee of such a joint committee, 
provided that it is a meeting to which members of at least two political 
groups have been invited 

d) attendance at a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
council is a member 

e) attendance at a meeting of the cabinet or of any of its committees 
f) performance of any duty in connection with the discharge of a function of 

the authority empowering or requiring the inspection of premises 

149



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

245

g) performance of any duty in connection with arrangements made by the 
authority for the attendance of pupils at special schools 

h) any other duty approved by the council for the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the discharge of the functions of the council, or any of its 
committees or sub-committees 

i) any duty for the purpose of or in connection with the discharge of the 
functions of the cabinet 

j) attendance at neighbourhood forums that fall within the member’s ward 
k) attendance at tenants’ council and leaseholders’ council 
l) attendance at licensing or planning committees as a ward representative. 

27. No allowances can be claimed in respect of political group meetings, members’ 
surgeries or attendance at college or school governing bodies. 

Entitlement to allowances 

28. Allowances are paid automatically in equal monthly instalments. If a member of 
the council does not serve for the whole of the year, becomes disqualified or 
ceases to be entitled to a special responsibility allowance (SRA), they will only 
be entitled to payments for the proportion of the number of days served in that 
year. Overpayment of SRAs for continuing members will be automatically 
deducted from the basic allowance. Other overpayments must be repaid to the 
authority. If the scheme is amended so as to affect entitlement any variation will 
be paid from an agreed date only. Retrospective payments will not be made to 
members who are no longer serving. 

Waiving right to receive allowances 

29. Members do not have to take their allowance(s) – if a member wishes to waive 
their right to receive a basic allowance, SRA, any other allowance, or part 
thereof, they must notify the proper constitutional officer in writing. 

Claiming allowances 

30. Claims for travel, subsistence, child-care and independent carers allowances 
must be submitted within two months of the duty undertaken and accompanied 
by relevant receipts. Claims submitted outside of the two month period may be 
put forward to the standards committee for consideration. 

Taxation and allowances 

31. Allowances are not salaries but are subject to tax and national insurance as any 
allowance is considered as income. Any such deductions are subject to 
personal circumstances. Members should note that the council is unable to deal 
with personal tax enquiries on their behalf and should inform their tax office of 
any change in circumstances. 

Publication of allowances 

32. In accordance with the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003, the council is required to publish details of any basic and 
special responsibility allowances paid to councillors for the previous financial 
year, along with details of the allowances scheme which applied at that time.  
This statutory notice also includes details of subsistence, travel and carer’s 

150



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

246

allowance. In addition the council publishes further information regarding 
members’ expenses. 

Withholding allowances 

33. The standards committee may withdraw allowances from individual members 
(including independent members of standards committee and co-opted 
members) in whole or in part as part of any sanction in relation to a breach of 
conduct, for non-attendance at meetings, or, for elected members only, for 
failure to attend required training. Withheld allowances are not 
repayable/recoverable.

34. Standards committee may also consider the withdrawal of allowances for a 
member given approval by council assembly for a failure to attend, subject to a 
referral being made by council assembly. 

Amendments to the allowances scheme 

35. Basic allowance and travel, subsistence and carers allowances are adjusted in 
accordance with the national local government pay settlement and allowances 
for officers1. SRA levels are set by council assembly and are not subject to 
inflationary adjustments. 

36. Travel and subsistence allowances will be amended in line with changes to 
allowances for officers. 

37. Dependant carer’s allowance may be increased from time to time by the chief 
executive, in consultation with the strategic directors of health & community 
services and children’s services, to reflect local conditions, and amounts 
payable by the health and community services department for the level of care 
required.

Special leave arrangements 

38. The special leave arrangement for members applies to all recipients of special 
responsibility allowances. Where SRAs are paid at a reduced level that level 
will apply during any special leave absence. Where members have elected not 
to receive their allowance no special leave payment will be made. 

39. Where a period of special leave includes the annual meeting of council 
assembly and the member is not reappointed to a post attracting an SRA the 
special leave allowance will cease on the day following council assembly. 

Maternity leave 
40. The maternity leave arrangement will be for up to three months on full 

allowance. No additional allowance will be paid for absence beyond three 
months. Antenatal care is part of the normal arrangements for short term 
absence and is not affected by special leave arrangements. 

41. Members are not eligible for Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP) if they are not 
employed elsewhere. The council cannot pay SMP. 

1 Index linking is to the general settlement rather than any special provision for particular 
groups of staff such as the low paid. 

151



Member allowances scheme   Published: July 2012  

247

Adoption leave 
42. The adoption leave arrangement will be for up to three months on full 

allowance. No additional allowance will be paid for absence beyond three 
months.

Paternity leave 
43. The paternity leave arrangement will be for ten days paid absence and parental 

support absence of up to 13 weeks with no allowance. 

Sick leave 
44. The sick leave arrangement will be for up to six months full allowance in any 12 

months.

Other special leave  
45. Normal leave arrangements and emergency situations do not affect SRAs. 

Extended absence e.g. service abroad in the Territorial Army or jury service to 
be in line with officer guidelines. 

Other arrangements 
46. During any period for which special leave arrangements are in place any 

member who is appointed to deputise for the absent member who is not a 
member of the cabinet will be eligible for the full SRA payments due in the 
same period. 

47. During any period for which special leave arrangements are in place any 
member who is appointed to deputise for an absent cabinet member will be 
eligible for a proportion of the SRA payments due in the same period, not 
exceeding nine tenths of the full SRA payment. 

152



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally blank. 



Last Updated: 
May 2013 

 
 

COUNCIL ASSEMBLY AGENDA DISTRIBUTION LIST (OPEN) (FULL LIST) 
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2013/14 

 
NOTE:  Original held by Constitutional Team; all amendments/queries to  
  Lesley John Tel: 020 7525 7228 
 
ONE COPY TO ALL UNLESS OTHERWISE 
STATED 

Copies To Copies 

 
All Councillors   
 
Group Offices 
 
Labour Group Office 
William Summers, Liberal Democrat Group 
Office 
 
Press  
 
Southwark News 
South London Press 
 
 
Corporate Management Team 
Eleanor Kelly 
Deborah Collins 
Romi Bowen  
Duncan Whitfield  
Gerri Scott 
 

 
1 each 
 
2 
 
1 
1 
 
 
2 
 
1  
1 
 
 
5 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Officers 
 
Doreen Forrester-Brown 
Robin Campbell 
Ian Millichap 
Sonia Sutton 
 
 
Constitutional Team 
 
(Copies to Lesley John, 2nd Floor, Hub 
4, Tooley Street) 
 
Trade Unions  
 
Roy Fielding, GMB 
Mick Young, Unite 
Chris Cooper, Unison 
Tony O’Brien, UCATT 
Michael Davern, NUT 
James Lewis, NASUWT 
Pat Reeves, ATL 
Miss Sylvia Morris, NAHT 
Irene Bishop, ASCL 
 
Local M.P.  
 
Simon Hughes M.P. 
 
Others  
 
Ann-Marie Connolly 
Elizabeth Olive, Audit Commission,  
Ground Floor, Tooley Street 
 

 

 
4 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
 
25 
 
 
 
 
 
9 
 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
1 
 
1 
 
 
 
2 
 
1 
1 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Total:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

113 

 


	Agenda
	Part A - Open Business
	3.1 Report on the theme
	3.4 MEMBERS' MOTIONS ON THE THEME
	5.1 Members' question time
	5.2 MEMBERS' MOTIONS
	6.1 Report back on motions referred from Council to the Cabinet
	7.1 Children and Young People's Plan 2013-2016
	Appendix 1 - CYPP
	Appendix 2 - Children's Plan
	Appendix 3 - CYPPA Summary

	8.1 Representation to proposed Northern Line Extension
	Northern Line Extension Inquiry - Appendix one
	Northern Line Extension Inquiry - Appendix two

	8.2 Constitutional Review 2013/14
	Appendix 1 - CSO
	Appendix 2 - FSO
	Appendix 3 - Licensing Committee Role and Functions
	Appendix 4 - Audit and Governance Role and Functions
	Appendix 5 - Members Allowance Scheme

	
	Full distribution list May 2013-14


